
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
City Council Chambers, 33 East Broadway Avenue Meridian, Idaho 

Thursday, February 15, 2024 at 6:00 PM 

All materials presented at public meetings become property of the City of Meridian. Anyone desiring accommodation 
for disabilities should contact the City Clerk's Office at 208-888-4433 at least 48 hours prior to the public meeting. 

Agenda 
Scan the QR Code to 

sign up in advance to 
provide testimony. 

Public Hearing process: Land use development applications begin with 
presentation of the project and analysis of the application by Planning Staff. 
The applicant is then allowed up to 15 minutes to present the project. Then, 
members of the public are allowed up to 3 minutes each to address 
Commissioners regarding the application. Any citizen acting as a 
representative of a Homeowner’s Association may be allowed up to 10 
minutes to speak on behalf of represented homeowners consenting to yield 
their time to speak. After all public testimony, the applicant is allowed up 
to 10 minutes to respond to questions and comments. Commissioners may 
ask questions throughout the public hearing process. The public hearing is 
then closed, and no further public comment is heard. 

 

VIRTUAL MEETING OPTIONS 

Planning and Zoning meetings can also be attended online or by phone. 

https://bit.ly/meridianzoommeeting 

or dial: 1-253-215-8782, Webinar ID: 810 9527 6712 

ROLL-CALL ATTENDANCE 

____ Brian Garrett                ____ Maria Lorcher                ____ Enrique Rivera 

____ Patrick Grace                ____ Matthew Sandoval        ____ Jared Smith 

____ Andrew Seal, Chairperson 

ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 

1. Approve Minutes of the February 1, 2024 Planning and Zoning Meeting 

2. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for WaFed (H-2023-0068) by WP5 Meridian, 
LLC, located at 3423 E Ustick Rd.  

ITEMS MOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 

1



ACTION ITEMS 

3. Election of 2024 Commission Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson 

4. Public Hearing continued from December 7, 2023 for Blayden Subdivision (H-
2023-0043) by Bailey Engineering, located at the South side of W. Chinden Blvd. 
and west side of N. Black Cat Rd. 

Applicant Requests Continuance 

A. Request: Annexation of 27.36 acres of land with R-15 (4.32 acres), R-40 
(16.71 acres) and C-G (6.33 acres) zoning districts. 
B. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a multi-family development consisting 
of 312 dwelling units on 14.92 acres of land in the R-40 zoning district. 
C. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 26 building lots and 11 common lots 
on 24.98 acres of land in the R-15, R-40 and C-G zoning districts. 

5. Public Hearing for Kilgore (H-2023-0063) by Alexi Kilgore, Located at 1105 N. 
Meridian Rd. 

Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0063 

A. Request:  Rezone 0.16 acres of land from the R-4 zoning district to the O-T 
zoning district for the purpose of coverting the existing home into a hair salon. 

6. Public Hearing continued from February 01, 2024 for Farmstone Crossing 
Subdivision (H-2023-0045) by Bailey Engineering, located at 820 S. Black Cat Rd. 

Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0045 

A. Request: Annexation of 33.893 acres of land from RUT to the M-E (Mixed 
Employment) zoning district.              
B. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 6 buildable lots on 27.59 acres of 
land in the proposed M-E (Mixed Employment) zoning district. 

7. Public Hearing for Reveille Ridge Subdivision (H-2023-0050) by Bailey 
Engineering, generally located on the west side of S. Eagle Rd., approximately 1/2 
mile south of E. Lake Hazel Rd. 

Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0050  
 

A. Request: Annexation of 59.97 acres of land with an R-8 (34.69 acres) and R-15 
(25.28 acres) zoning districts. 

B. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 247 building lots and 37 common lots on 
59.77 acres of land in the R-8 and R-15 zoning districts. 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

8. Overview of Planning and Zoning Commission Best Practices 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

2



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
To view upcoming Public Hearing Notices, visit https://apps.meridiancity.org/phnotices 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

3



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Approve Minutes of the February 1, 2024 Planning and Zoning Meeting

4



Meridian Planning and Zoning Meeting                                 February 1, 2024.   
   
Meeting of the Meridian Planning and Zoning Commission of February 1, 2024, was 
called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Chairman Andrew Seal.   
 
Members Present:  Commissioner Andrew Seal, Commissioner Maria Lorcher, 
Commissioner Jared Smith and Commissioner Enrique Rivera. 
 
Members Absent:  Commissioner Patrick Grace.   
 
Others Present:  Tina Lomeli, Kurt Starman, Bill Parsons, Sonya Allen and Stacy Hersh.   
 
ROLL-CALL ATTENDANCE  
  

 ______     ___X___ Maria Lorcher  
 ______       ___X___ Patrick Grace  
 __X___ Enrique Rivera   ___X___ Jared Smith   
     ___X___ Andrew Seal - Chairman 

 
Seal:  Good evening.  Welcome to the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting for 
February 1st, 2024.  At this time I would like to call the meeting to order.  
Commissioners who are present for this evening -- evening's meeting are at City Hall 
and on Zoom.  We also have staff from the city attorney and clerk's offices, as well as 
the City Planning Department.  If you are joining us on Zoom this evening we can see 
that you are here.  You may observe the meeting, however, your ability to be seen on 
screen and talk will be muted until the public testimony portion of the meeting and, then, 
you will be unmuted and, then, be able to comment.  Please note that we cannot take 
questions until the public testimony portion.  If you have process questions during the 
meeting, please, e-mail cityclerk@meridiancity.org and they will reply as quickly as 
possible.  With that we will begin with roll -- roll call.  Madam Clerk.  
 
ADOPTION OF AGENDA  
 
Seal:  All right.  First item on the agenda is the adoption of the agenda.  We have 
Farmstone Crossing Subdivision, File No. H-2023-0045, will be opened for the sole 
purpose of continuing to a regularly scheduled meeting.  Be open for only that purpose,  
so if there is anybody here tonight for -- to testify for that application, we will not be 
taking public testimony on it this evening.  Can I get a motion to adopt the agenda as 
presented?   
 
Lorcher:  So moved.   
 
Rivera:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to adopt the agenda as presented.  All in favor, 
please, say aye.  Opposed nay.  The agenda is adopted.   

5



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 2 of 41 

 

MOTION CARRIED: FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item]  
 
 1. Approve Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Meeting of the Planning  
  and Zoning Commission Meeting 
 
 2. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Daily Fit Body (H-2023- 
  0060) by Joseph Daily, located at 1600 N Linder Rd. 
 
 3. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Sulamita Church (MCU- 
  2023-0008) by MMGC Sulamita, located at 4973 W. Cherry Ln. 
 
Seal:  Next item on the agenda is the Consent Agenda and we have three items on the 
Consent Agenda.  Approval of the minutes of the January 18th, 2024, meeting of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission.  Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Daily Fit 
Body, H-2023-0060.  Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for Sulamita Church, MCU- 
2023-0008.  Can I get a motion to accept the Consent Agenda as presented?   
 
Smith:  So moved.   
 
Lorcher:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to adopt the Consent Agenda.  All in favor say 
aye.  Opposed nay?   
  
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
ITEMS MOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA [Action Item] 
 
Seal:  All right.  At this time I would like to briefly explain the public hearing process.  We 
will open each item individually and begin with the staff report.  Staff will report their 
findings on how the item adheres to the Comprehensive Plan and Unified Development 
Code.  After staff has made their presentation the applicant will come forward to present 
their case and respond to staff comments.  They will have 15 minutes to do so.  After 
the applicant is finished we will open the floor to public testimony.  Each person will be 
called on only once during the public testimony portion.  The clerk will call the names 
individually of those who have signed up in advance to testify.  You will need to state 
your name and address for the record and you will have three minutes to address the 
Commission.  If you have previously sent pictures or a presentation for the meeting it 
will be displayed on the screen and you can run the presentation.  If you have 
established that you are speaking on behalf of a larger group, like an HOA, where 
others from that group will allow you to speak on their behalf, you will have up to ten 
minutes.  After those -- all those -- all of those who have signed up in advance have 
spoken we will invite any others who may wish to testify.  When you are finished if the 
Commission does not have questions for you, you will return to your seat in Chambers 

6



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 3 of 41 

 

or be muted on Zoom and no longer have the ability to speak and, please, remember 
we generally do not call people back up.  After all testimony has been heard the 
applicant will be given another ten minutes to come back and respond.  When the 
applicant has finished responding to questions and concerns, we will close the public 
hearing and the Commissioners will have the opportunity to discuss and hopefully be 
able to make a final decision and recommendation to City Council as needed.   
 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
 4. Public Hearing continued from January 4, 2024 for Farmstone   
  Crossing Subdivision (H-2023-0045) by Bailey Engineering, located  
  at 820 S. Black Cat Rd.  
 
  A. Request: Annexation of 33.893 acres of land from RUT to the M-E  
   (Mixed Employment) zoning district. B. Request: Preliminary Plat  
   consisting of 6 buildable lots on 27.59 acres of land in the proposed 
   M-E (Mixed Employment) zoning district. 
 
Seal:  So, with that I would like to open file number -- or open the public hearing for File 
No. H-2023-0045, Farmstone Crossing Subdivision, for a continuation to the date of 
February 15th, 2024.   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Lorcher, go ahead.   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair, I move that we continue Farmstone Crossing Subdivision for 
February 15th to allow additional time to revise their plans.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to continue File No. H-2023-0045 for Farmstone 
Crossing Subdivision to the date of February 15th, 2024.  All in favor, please, say aye.  
Opposed nay?  The file is continued.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
 5. Public Hearing continued from January 18, 2024 for Pathways (H- 
  2023-0061) by Mussell Construction, Inc., located at 965 E. Ustick Rd.  
 
  A. Request: Annexation of 1.11 acres of land with an L-O zoning  
   district. 
 
  B. Request: Conditional Use Permit for an education institution that  
   takes access from an arterial street without a safe, separate   

7



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 4 of 41 

 

   pedestrian and bikeway access between the neighborhood and the  
   school site. 
 
Seal:  I would like to open File No. H-2023-0061, Pathways, and we will begin with the 
staff report.   
 
Allen:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission.  A little recap from the last 
hearing.  This application was continued from the previous hearing on January 18th in 
order to obtain the ACHD report for consideration in a motion to consider the impacts of 
a one-way driveway along the eastern boundary of the site on the buffer to residential 
use to the east and the internal site circulation.  Since that time the applicant has 
submitted a revised site plan, as shown there on the right, that shows two accesses via 
Ustick Road, with a one-way driveway through the site, which provides better traffic flow 
through the site, with queuing for up to 18 vehicles and a safe drop-off area for 
students.  With the revisions to the site plan the buffer to residential uses along the west 
boundary now meets the minimum width standard of 20 feet.  A reduced buffer width of 
six foot eight inches to eight feet, approximately, is now requested from Council for the 
buffer along the eastern boundary.  The traffic study associated with the public school 
checklist is in the process of being updated and should be submitted to ACHD for 
review first of next week.  ACHD did provide an update for their review of the school site 
checklist as follows:  The new site plan with the enter and exit only driveways, on-site 
vehicle queuing storage and a dedicated student drop off and pick up area is a 
significant improvement.  ACHD is still waiting for the applicant's engineer to provide an 
updated school site checklist, which includes an on-site cueing analysis, but does feel 
that they are making progress in a positive manner.  The applicant is here to speak 
tonight and that's all staff has, unless you have any questions.   
 
Seal:  None so far.  Would the applicant like to come forward?   
 
Mussell:  Good evening.   
 
Seal:  Good evening.   
 
Mussell:  I will state my name and address again.   
 
Seal:  Thank you.   
 
Mussell:  It's Kent Mussell.  I'm with Mussell Construction and my address is 3516 
South Bartlett Way here in Meridian.  When I was here two weeks ago I presented a 
different version of the site plan for this project.  Emphasize the importance of the work 
that Pathways in Education is doing and expressed why we think their campus is a good 
fit for the area.  I explained Pathways operating model and how it involves assisted 
homeschooling and that the students come to the campus for testing and tutoring, which 
makes it a very different operation from other schools.  We listened carefully to your 
feedback, as well as the feedback from the neighbors, and we have returned with what I 
think is a greatly improved plan.  We have addressed the suggestion that we improve 

8



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 5 of 41 

 

on-site circulation and the impact that would have on the area's traffic.  Our efforts since 
then have targeted those concerns and we are very pleased with the result.  You can 
see the differences between the two plans on the screen.  In our original design we had 
a single access to the site.  Vehicles were to enter along the west drive aisle, park for 
drop offs, then, leave via a three point turn.  Our new design improves this in a number 
of ways.  We now have -- we are now proposing two accesses from Ustick Road, with 
one way circulation through the site.  Vehicles enter on the east and circle clockwise 
through the property, exiting on the west.  This provides 31 parking spaces and enough 
queuing space for at least 15 vehicles, plus loading space for four vehicles.  For the 
safety of students and efficiency of drop offs, signage is proposed to require vehicles to 
complete drop offs along the west sidewalk.  I realized that part of the reason for 
continuing this vote was to wait for ACHD's report.  After our last hearing we revised our 
traffic study and submitted it to them.  They requested additional information from us 
and, accordingly, we still do not have a report from them.  However, we have made 
significant progress with ACHD.  The report that Sonya just listed from them was at my 
request, because I wanted to get a sense of their feeling for the project in advance of 
this meeting.  I'm going to read it again with the highlights.  It says:  I just wanted to give 
you an update on where ACHD is with the review of the application for Pathways 
Charter School.  The new site plan with the enter and exit driveways is a significant 
improvement.  We are still waiting for the applicant's engineer to provide on-site queuing 
analysis, but we are making progress in a positive manner.  Working with ACHD's 
requests for additional information has taken time, but it has resulted in a much stronger 
traffic study and has led to improvements to our plans.  Their e-mail to our planner 
identified their core consideration and alludes to how it is being resolved.  Their core 
question is this.  How do we know that drop-offs -- that the drop-off queue won't extend 
into Ustick Road and they want a specific kind of answer to that question.  They want 
statistical modeling predicting the length of the drop-off queues during peak hours.  We 
now have that information, but we have not had time to submit it to ACHD and I think 
you will find the information that we obtained reassuring.  ACHD is aware of the 
approach that we have taken, which is why they were willing to write the positive 
message that we just reviewed.  I would like to review our queueing analysis now and 
explain why it is likely to satisfy ACHD.  We hired a second traffic engineer to complete 
the queueing analysis, Kittelson and Associates.  We hired them to complete this 
analysis, because they have worked with ACHD on a number of local school projects  
and ACHD has found Kittelson's modeling methods to be helpful and accurate.  I 
believe ACHD's positivity regarding our progress is largely because we hired Kittelson, 
whose work they appear to trust and be familiar with.  Let's review what these graphs 
show.  The red line represents our site's processing ability.  This is how many cars can 
drop students off without the need for a queue.  The dotted green line predicts that -- 
the cars that will be arriving to the site.  If you look at our 8:00 a.m. sight drop offs, you 
can see that the cars are processed as they arrive and no queuing is expected to occur.  
How is that reflected in the graph?  The dotted green line remains below the red one  
and the blue line, which represents the drop-off queue stays zero throughout the peak 
hour of 8:00 a.m.  Now, let's look at the other two graphs.  As you can see, our peak 
activity happens at 9:40 a.m.  That's because this period involves some late student 
pickups, at the same time that students are being dropped off for the second session.  

9



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 6 of 41 

 

So, what happens at this peak time?  For a brief ten minute interval, a queue will form 
behind the loading zone.  At that time Kittelson predicts that at worst there will be four 
cars loading while five cars queue.  This graph also shows why that won't be a problem.  
We have capacity for 15 cars to queue.  This graphic shows our worst case queue.  At 
9:40 a.m. we predict at maximum there will be four vehicles loading and unloading, 
while five cars are queuing as shown.  Kittelson's calculations are conservative and 
represent the worst case.  It assumes the school is at max capacity with 120 students 
per day.  This will not occur for several years.  It assumes students will abruptly be 
dismissed at 9:45.  In fact, they will end their sessions at various times between 8:45 
and 9:45.  I would now like to switch modes before I end.  I think it's helpful to put the 
traffic load of this project into perspective.  Yes, this project might in several years help 
120 students per day.  That produces about 170 vehicle trips per day.  But we can 
understand that number in more helpful ways and I would like to illustrate that through a 
couple of comparisons.  Here is a recently approved project in Meridian in 2021.  It has 
a very similar -- similar footprint to ours at 7,900 square feet.  It has two office spaces.  
One for a dentist's office and another shell space intended to be used as office space.  I 
pulled ACHD's report on this project and there they estimated 177 vehicle trips per day.  
Recall our project creates about 170 trips.  Here is another project I was able to find 
some data for.  This has a smaller footprint and occupies only one half of an acre.  The 
building is occupied by a Foot and Ankle Clinic, a dentist's office and an insurance 
company.  In ACHD's report on this project they estimated traffic generation at 170 trips 
per day per acre.  While this project is only half an acre.  This gives us an indication that 
light office use on a typical day produces about 170 vehicle trips per acre.  About the 
size of our project.  That brings me to my final point.  Compared to other uses, this 
project has some significant advantages.  The project has no evening or weekend 
activity.  It has no impact on the evening rush hour.  More than two-thirds of the 
students arrive or leave at non-peak traffic hours and all student activities are indoors 
and for short durations.  Thank you for allowing us the opportunity to make these 
improvements to our plans.  I hope the information we presented has built confidence in 
our on-site circulation and that it's clear that we have adequately addressed ACHD's 
input on the project.  It's important to us to be eager partners with the community and I 
hope that the progress we have made over the last couple of weeks shows that.  
Because this project is anticipated to be operational for fall 2024, I would like to request 
that the Commission vote on our application today.  Although ACHD has yet to produce 
a final letter, my hope is that the information we presented just now will give you enough 
confidence to make a recommendation to Council.  And I will take any questions that 
the Commissioners might have.   
 
Seal:  Thank you very much.  Commissioners?   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Go ahead.   
 
Smith:  Thank you.  One quick question.  So, there are -- question and a follow up.  
There are three sessions throughout the day; is that correct?   

10



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 7 of 41 

 

Mussell:  Yeah.  That's correct.   
 
Smith:  So, follow up to that.  I know we saw the pickup and drop off for session one and 
the pickup -- or drop off for session two.  Is there analysis on -- I think -- I believe pickup 
for a session two, pick up and drop off per session three, specifically with the intention 
of are those -- or can we assume that there will be, you know, a lower impact?  Is 
everything better off in those -- those timelines?   
 
Mussell:  Sure.  So, yeah, I think to help explain that particular issue, the engineer 
focused their analysis on the worst case time.  So, the first question is what happens 
during 8:00 a.m. where we have, you know, peak traffic, and, then, we have the kind of 
highest site activity where we have a slight overlap.  We are staggering the sessions.  
So, the students are asked to finish their on-site session by 9:45.  That gives a 15 
minute delay before session two begins, but some students are going to get picked up 
late and some students are going to arrive early and so that's how you get a little bit of 
overlap.  These graphs take that into consideration.  So, that's why we -- while we have 
an identical drop off load at 10:00 a.m., we expect to have a queue at that time, 
because of the late students leaving at that time.  But to answer whether we would have 
maybe potentially a worse issue between sessions two and three, there is a lunch hour 
in between those two, so the -- the 10:00 a.m. session will end around lunchtime and, 
then, the next session would not begin until 1:00 o'clock and so we would expect it to be 
very similar to the 8:00 a.m. drop off period.   
 
Smith:  I do have --  
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith.   
 
Smith:  While we obviously don't have ACHD written back or anything else, I don't want 
to lean too much on kind of my own -- some of the way that -- let's get to this kind of as 
maybe a middle ground.  Does this kind of align with what you have seen from similar 
projects of -- with footprints with this kind of model.  Obviously, nothing is the one to 
one, but does this -- I guess it's a sanity check, does this kind of check out.   
 
Allen:  Mr. Chair, Commissioner Smith, Commissioners, you know, this is kind of a 
unique project.  I don't know that there is any really similar ones that we have reviewed, 
to be honest with you.  I feel pretty good with the revised site plan.  I feel it -- you know, 
it's probably the best design that this site can get.  One thing to keep in mind is Council 
cannot and will not approve this project unless it meets the requirements of state code 
as -- as determined by ACHD.   
 
Mussell:  Can I chime in on that?   
 
Seal:  Go ahead.   
 
Mussell:  Perfect.  If -- if the question is about like confidence in Kittelson's analysis, I 
think it might help to kind of say how we got here.  So, we were working with a different 

11



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 8 of 41 

 

traffic engineer and we had done a few rounds with ACHD.  ACHD sent me an example 
of a traffic study for INCA.  That's another charter school.  And I read that traffic study 
and I found Kittelson's analysis in there and I saw that there was coordination between 
ACHD and Kittelson in the creation of that analysis and that's why we ended up hiring 
them to do this for our project.   
 
Seal:  Commissioners, any other questions?  Madam Clerk, do we have anybody 
signed up to testify?   
 
Lomeli:  Yes.  Thank you, Chairperson Seal.  We have Nancy Wilson signed in.   
 
Seal:  Good evening, ma'am.  Need your name -- oh.   
 
Wilson:  Nancy Wilson and I live at 3299 North Boulder Creek Avenue in Meridian.  I 
listened last time to the testimony and, then, went back and listened again.  So, the -- 
what was testified to at that point in time is how I got my figures and at one point in time 
I remember there was a lady that testified and she said that their goal was to have 250 
students and it kind of sounded to me like maybe that wasn't correct.  I do believe in 
charter schools and I think they are important in the right situation.  According to their 
numbers 50 percent of the students will be dropped off -- dropped off by parents.  I don't 
know if you have ever been over when Compass Charter School was over off of Cherry 
Lane.  The stacking of traffic was a block long and, granted, they have more students.  
So, then, what starts happening is the parents get impatient in waiting and they start 
picking them off and dropping them -- picking them -- picking them up and dropping 
them off on the side of the road.  It happens -- if you drive by any of the schools around 
here that happens.  So, the stacking -- and especially concerned about the left-hand 
turns across the two lanes of traffic.  It would be nice to have statistics about how many 
accidents are in Meridian anymore.  It sure seems like there is a lot where there is 
turning -- left-hand turns across two lanes of traffic.  It says that they said that ten 
percent of their students will be walking or biking to school.  There is no crosswalk 
there.  It's a ways down the street to the crosswalk and there is a light there.  I don't 
know if you remember that there was a student from Meridian Middle School that was 
hit and killed by a car, because the kids were running across the street.  I was by there 
just the other day and they have two crosswalks and the kids are still running across the 
street and that -- that scares me.  The speed limit on Ustick Road is 40 miles an hour.  
Rarely does anybody go 40 miles an hour.  There is a lot of drag racing up and down 
that road.  We call it the Ustick International Speedway, because it is just the -- traffic is 
just out of control.  So, with all of this I total -- I totaled that this -- these are from what I 
had statistically from their testimony last time and I figured that there would be 276 trips 
a day.  That's with the parents going in and out to pick up and in and out to drop off and, 
then, if they went to 250 students that would be close to 600.  There has been no talk -- 
and I don't know if there is plans for a 20 mile an hour speed limit through there, since it 
is a school.  I'm not sure.  And, then, my other concern was emergency vehicles.  Is 
there room to get emergency vehicles in and out of there in case there is a fire or 
medical emergency.  Thank you.   
 

12



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 9 of 41 

 

Seal:  Thank you very much.  Appreciate that.   
 
Parsons:  Mr. Chair, before we go on with public testimony, I just want to remind the 
Commission that we actually continued this item to just to discuss revisions to the site 
plan and get ACHD's comments.  So, if we can just keep that testimony to those two 
topics tonight I appreciate that.  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you, Bill.  I appreciate the reminder on that.  Madam Clerk, do we 
have anybody else signed up?   
 
Lomeli:  No one else.   
 
Seal:  Does anybody else in Chambers want to come up and testify?  We will call you 
back up.  We will get you back up here and -- actually, if you want to come back up.  
Any closing comments that would be great.   
 
Mussell:  So, I just thought it would be helpful to address a couple things on that.  So, to 
clarify the difference between the 200 and -- it's actually 240 students is -- is the 
maximum capacity of the school, but that is assuming that they are split into two groups 
that are Monday, Wednesday and Tuesday, Thursday.  So, on a given day, the traffic 
load is 120 students.  So, I just wanted to clarify that point.  And -- and, then, to address 
the emergency vehicles, I did talk to fire consultants, that's Meridian's contractor for 
reviewing our fire plans, and what we have designed here is emergency vehicle access 
on both ends of the drive aisle.  The requirement is just that we get -- that a 150 foot fire 
hose can reach any part of the building measured around the perimeter and we have -- 
we have actually got that displayed on the site plans here for you guys to review, so --  
 
Seal:  Commissioners, any other questions for the applicant?  Commissioner Smith, you 
look like you were going to go for it there.   
 
Smith:  I was.   
 
Seal:  Go ahead.   
 
Smith:  But I guess I can ask regarding -- regarding the purpose of the continuance 
being about ACHD -- including ACHD's study.  Is there a requirement that we have that 
study for moving forward with this given that?   
 
Starman:  Mr. Chairman, Commissioner Smith, so the short answer is no.  So, it was the 
-- the hearing was continued for two weeks to allow for additional information from 
ACHD.  You do have some additional information.  Not their complete response, but a 
partial response and, of course, you have the update from the applicant here today as 
well.  So, it's really the -- it's the Commission's prerogative -- if you feel the need to wait 
for the ACHD report I think that's within your purview.  If you choose to vote on this 
issue tonight and make a recommendation to Council you are able to do that as well.  

13



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 10 of 41 

 

So, you are not precluded from making a recommendation for Council tonight if you 
choose to.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.  Go ahead.   
 
Smith:  I apologize, I did think of a question for the applicant.  On my mind regarding -- I 
don't know how to phrase this as more of a layman, but the stacking that naturally 
occurs -- in cross-traffic, is there any study that's done actually -- or best practice, 
general estimate how long that process can take on a road like Ustick and what the 
stacking effect might be, even if -- even if the queue has plenty of capacity post entry, 
just do the waiting for approximately --  
 
Mussell:  I see.  So -- I mean I have to qualify this with the -- I'm not a traffic engineer,  
but the -- sorry.  I think the question involves like what happens if maybe the processing 
ability of the site is restricted, because Ustick Road is too busy to be able to make a 
turn.  Is that --  
 
Smith:  More or less, yeah.  There is oncoming traffic.   
 
Mussell:  So, Kittelson's analysis should, as a professional in this industry, should take 
into consideration those factors.  I assume that it has.  But it's important to remember 
that our 8:00 a.m. drop off profile looks really good.  It has no queuing at all.  And so our 
issue is really at a non-peak time.  It's at 9:40 a.m. when we are passed the rush hour, 
and, then, at the evening rush hour, we have no -- well, the site is closed completely.   
 
Smith:  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  Thank you, sir.  Appreciate it.  I do have a quick question for staff and it was 
actually brought up by the financing.  On -- as far as -- if this were to be -- to be 
determined a school zone and the lights and everything were put up for that, who 
makes that determination?   
 
Allen:  Mr. Chair, I believe ACHD does.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  So, that might be part of what may be coming in the report.  Okay.  That 
was a -- that was a good question.  Okay.  And if there are no further questions, no -- no 
one else wants to testify that's in the audience?  So, only one person online and I don't 
see him raising their hand.  So, I will take a motion to close the public hearing for File 
No. H-2023-0061 for Pathways.   
 
Smith:  So moved.   
 
Lorcher:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to close the public hearing for File No. H-2023- 
0061.  All in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay.  Public hearing is closed.   

14



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 11 of 41 

 

MOTION CARRIED: FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
Seal:  Who wants to go first?   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Lorcher, go ahead.   
 
Lorcher:  I know that the full ACHD report is not available as requested by this 
committee, but the changes that they have made for the in and out have been a good -- 
a good improvement and as long as ACHD proves both approaches I think you will be 
fine.  I think there is an overestimated impact that -- this is an alternative school for high 
school students.  It's a testing center with tutoring.  It's not like they are in from 8:00 
o'clock in the morning until 4:00 o'clock in the afternoon.  It's not a traditional school.  
That's the whole point of having a small building for these students, because they are 
not acclimated towards the social requirements of other high schools; right?  So, they 
need a quiet place to be able to take their tests, be able to graduate, be able to come 
into this building in a safe space, take their test, get instructions and move on.  Having 
more than four in a queue I would be highly surprised even at full capacity.  So, I think 
your site design is great and thank you for making those improvements.  I would 
approve that -- I am going to motion that this gets approved based on your design and 
even though we don't have the ACHD report.   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith?  Commissioner Rivera, go ahead. 
 
Rivera:  Just -- 
 
Seal:  Hold on just a second.   
 
Starman:  Mr. Chairman, a point of clarification.  So, the way you worded that. 
Commissioner Lorcher, was -- was that intended to be a motion or you intend to make a 
motion later?   
 
Lorcher:  Later. 
 
Starman:  Thank you.   
 
Rivera:  Just -- I’m in full agreement with Commissioner Lorcher.  I appreciate the 
improvements that were made in the presentation today to the queue.  I think it just 
makes it that much better.  Like I stated before, I'm familiar with this impact that the 
school brings in an existing school in Nampa and it's great for -- you know, for the 
community, but I think they have addressed -- done a good job of addressing the queue 
and the cars coming in to avoid traffic on -- off of Ustick.  Again, Ustick it's -- it's a wide 
road, so that it helps with this as well.  So, I am in agreement with Commissioner 
Lorcher to make the recommendation to go to City Council.   
 

15



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 12 of 41 

 

Seal:  Okay.  Commissioner, Mr. Smith, go ahead.   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair.  I'm generally the same agreement and I have no illusions that this is, 
you know, the perfect plan or the end all be all, zero things wrong, or zero things that 
my, you know, perfect location for this charters school, but I think this is -- this is 
probably -- especially when he is stating this is essentially an in-fill project.  This is 
honestly probably one of the best pieces I think for both this location and for this charter 
school, just given a timeline, given the other -- the rest of how Meridian is developing 
and the problems that are going to be inherent really anywhere trying to fit this kind of 
parcel.  Yeah, I think I would have probably liked to have seen the other session data 
just -- again, it -- that's especially in lieu of ACHD report -- the ACHD report, but I -- I 
imagine that that won't be as much of a problem for Council, just kind of -- as I do intend 
to vote for this, but just some -- some feedback around things that could potentially 
make this a little bit -- just more of a -- you know, more of theory.  Yes, but I think this is 
a net good for the community, for the students.  I think they have done a great job at 
taking the feedback from the previous hearing and incorporating a lot of the -- a lot 
really solid improvements to the site design.  Yeah.  And I think -- I think my only real 
like outline concern is a little bit of that cross-lane stacking that just kind of -- stacking 
that happens when you are able to cross the lane, but that's not relying on the site plan 
itself, that's just based off of where Ustick and how traffic on Ustick flows.  So, all in all I 
think this is net positive and I fully intend on supporting this.  Just for some feedback for 
-- if I try to put my City Council hat on.   
 
Seal:  Okay, 
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?  
 
Seal:  Go ahead.   
 
Lorcher:  After considering all staff, applicant and public testimony, I move to 
recommend approval to City Council of File No. H-2023-0061 as presented in the staff 
report for the hearing date of February 1st, 2024, with no modifications.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  It's been moved and seconded to approve file -- or recommend approval 
of File No. H-2023-0061 for Pathways.  All in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay?  
Motion passes.  Thank you very much.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
 6. Public Hearing for WaFed (H-2023-0068) by WP5 Meridian, LLC.,  
  located at 3423 E. Ustick Rd. 
 

16



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 13 of 41 

 

  A. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through establishment  
   within 300-feet of another drive through facility and a residential use 
   on 0.76 acre of land in the C-G zoning district. 
 
Seal:  All right.  With that, I would like to open File No. H-2023-0068 for WaFed and we 
will begin the staff report.   
 
Allen:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission.  The next application before 
you is a request for a conditional use permit.  Oops.  Let me get on the right slide here.  
This site consists of .76 of an acre of land.  It's zoned C-G and is located at 3423 East 
Ustick Road.  This property was annexed back in 2003 with the requirement of a 
development agreement, which was later amended in 2007.  The Comprehensive Plan 
future land use map designation is mixed use regional.  A conditional use permit is 
requested for a drive-through establishment for a financial institution within 300 feet of 
two other drive-through facilities, ICCU bank to the west and Culver's Restaurant to the 
east and existing residential uses to the southeast.  The existing development 
agreement also requires conditional use approval of all uses on this site in the overall 
development area.  Compliance with the specific use standards for drive-through 
establishments listed in UDC-11-4-3-11 is required.  Staff has reviewed the proposed 
site plan for compliance with these standards.  The stacking lane appears to have 
sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways, drive aisles and the public right 
of way by patrons.  There is a separate stacking lane from the circulation lanes needed 
for access and parking.  The stacking lane is not located within ten feet of any 
residential district or existing residence.  An escape lane is provided and the drive 
through is located on the west side of the building visible from Ustick Road.  
Compliance with the specific use standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-17 for financial 
institution is also required.  One ATM is located on the west side of the building visible 
from Ustick Road and two other ATMs are located on the south side of the building, 
visible from the adjacent north-south driveway via Ustick Road along the east boundary 
and from the residential uses to the southeast.  These areas are required to be well lit 
and should have security cameras.  The police department has reviewed and approved 
the proposed site plan.  Access to the site is proposed via the north-south driveway 
along the east boundary the site from Ustick Road and other existing internal driveways 
within the subdivision.  A cross-access easement exists between all lots in the 
subdivision.  Off-street parking is required in accord with UDC standards.  Based on the 
square footage of the building at 3,100 square feet, a minimum of six spaces are 
required.  A total of 16 spaces are proposed exceeding the minimum standards by ten 
spaces.  A bicycle rack capable of holding at least one bicycle should be provided.  
Street buffer and sidewalk along Ustick Road was installed with development of the 
subdivision.  Parking lot landscaping in accord with UD stand -- UDC standards is 
required with development.  Conceptual building elevations were submitted as shown 
for the proposed structure.  A single story building is proposed that incorporates a mix of 
materials consisting of stucco with stone veneer accents and metal awnings and 
canopies.  The final design shall be consistent with the design standards listed in the 
Architectural Standards Manual.  Written testimony has been received from Andy Neff, 

17



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 14 of 41 

 

the applicant's representative, in agreement with the staff report.  Staff is recommending 
approval with the conditions in the report.  Staff will stand for any questions.   
 
Seal:  Thank you very much.  Would the applicant like to come forward.  Good evening.  
We will need your name and address for the record, please.   
 
Neff:  Andy Neff.  Representative for WP5 Meridian, 14 Corporate Plaza, Suite 120, 
Newport Beach.  92660.  Chair and Commissioners, thank you for doing this project that 
staff has presented.  It's taken us a while to get to this point, but appreciate staff's input.  
It is the last remaining portion of Gateway Marketplace that we need to develop, laid out 
to help with the entire development.  So, it was important to us.  We agree with the staff 
report and any questions?   
 
Seal:  Commissioners, do we have any questions for the applicant?  None?  Madam 
Clerk, do we have anybody signed up for -- to testify?   
 
Lomeli:  No one has signed up.   
 
Seal:  Anybody in Chambers want to come up?  Might make this short for you.  And he 
is not raising his hand, so -- okay.  If we don't have any -- anymore questions, nobody 
wants to come up and testifying, is there anything else you want to add?  No?  All right.  
Thank you very much.  Appreciate it.  With that I will take a motion to close the public 
hearing for file H-2023-0068 for WaFed.   
 
Smith:  So moved.   
 
Rivera:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to close the public hearing for File No. H-2023- 
0068 for WaFed.  All in favor say aye.  Opposed nay?  The public hearing is closed.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
Seal:  I can go first on this one.  I mean it's pretty straightforward.  The only interesting 
thing I find about it is right next door to another bank, but --  
 
Lorcher:  They know that.   
 
Seal:  They know that.  Yeah.  I was going to say everybody knows that.  I am happy to 
see that there is extra parking, because I go to Le Peep for breakfast there, so good to 
know that there is going to be more -- more parking around there.  But it's pretty 
straightforward.  I mean it's -- I think it's a good location for all of this.  A lot of activity in 
that area.  So, the more buildings that we have that are a lot of commercial uses the 
better.   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?   

18



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 15 of 41 

 

Seal:  Go ahead. 
 
Lorcher:  After considering all staff, applicant and public testimony, I move to approve 
File No. H-2023-0068 as presented in the staff report for hearing date of February 1st, 
2024, with no modifications.   
 
Rivera:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to approve File No. H-2023-0068 for WaFed.  All 
in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay?  Motion passes.  Thank you very much.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
 7. Public Hearing for Stonehill Church (H-2023-0041) by Stonehill   
  Church, located at 799 W. Amity Rd.  
 
  A. Request: Development Agreement Modification to the exiting  
   Development Agreement (H-2015-0019, Inst. #2016-007090) to  
   allow for the development of a church on a portion of the property  
   and removal of that property from the original agreement for   
   inclusion in a new agreement. 
 
  B. Request: Rezone of 13.49 acres of land from R-4 to R-8 zoning  
   district. 
 
  C. Request: Conditional Use Permit for a church on 13.21 acres of  
   land in an R-8 zoning district. 
 
  D. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 4 building lots on 65.43  
   acres of land in the R-4 and R-8 zoning district. 
 
Seal:  And with that we will open File No. H-2023-0042 for Stonehill Church and we will 
begin with the staff report.   
 
Allen:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission, the next application before you is a 
request for a rezone, preliminary plat, conditional use permit and development 
agreement modification.  The DA modification only requires action from Council, so a 
recommendation from the Commission is not needed tonight.  This site consists of 
65.43 acres of land.  It's zoned R-4, located at 799 West Amity Road on the south side 
of Amity midway between Meridian and Linder Roads.  This property was part of the 
area included in the south Meridian annexation area in 2015.  A development 
agreement exists for this property that requires an amendment to the agreement prior to 
any future development on the site.  The Comprehensive Plan future land use map 
designation is low density residential.  The applicant is requesting a modification to the 
existing development agreement to allow for the development of a church on the 
northeast portion of the property and removal of that property from the original 

19



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 16 of 41 

 

agreement for inclusion in a new agreement just for the church property.  The remainder 
of the property will continue to be governed by the existing development agreement.  A 
rezone of 13.36 acres of land is proposed from the R-4 to the R-8 zoning district for the 
development of a church as shown on the exhibit there on the left.  Church uses do 
require conditional use approval in the R-8 zoning district.  A preliminary plat is 
proposed consisting of four building lots on 65.43 acres of land in the R-4 and R-8 
zoning districts for Stonehill Crossing Subdivision.  The preliminary plat is proposed to 
develop in one phase.  The main reason the property is proposed to be subdivided at 
this time is to create a lot for the church to develop.  The remainder of this site, except 
for the lot where the existing home is located to the south of their proposed church, is 
proposed to be resubdivided in the future prior to redevelopment.  So, I will just point out 
here this is -- again, this is the large lot here where the church is proposed.  This lot 
here is for the existing home.  There is another existing home proximately in this 
location right here.  Transportation improvements proposed with this subdivision consist 
of construction of the collector street from Amity Road to the southern boundary of the 
site and a roundabout at the Amity collector street intersection in accord with the master 
street map and the widening of Amity Road.  The church is proposed to develop on Lot 
1, Block 1.  The existing home on the east side of the proposed collector street is 
proposed to remain on Lot 2, Block 1.  Lot 3, Block 1, which is this lot right here, and Lot 
1, Block 2, which is all of this area on the west side of the collector street, are proposed 
as mega lots to be further resubdivided in the future prior to development.  As I 
mentioned, there is an another existing home on the west side of the collector street 
that's proposed to remain for the time being on Lot 1, Block 2.  Access is proposed for 
Lot 1, Block 1, the church, via two driveway accesses from the collector street and an 
emergency only access driveway from Amity Road.  The existing home on the east side 
of the collector is proposed to be accessed temporarily through the church property and 
that is from this access easement that you can see indicated right there.  Subsequent 
access is proposed from a local street at the east boundary via a flag.  So, currently this 
does not show this, but the applicant did submit a concept development plan that shows 
a flag right here to this future local street and cul-de-sac here.  So, that's what the 
applicant is proposing.  The UDC limits access point to collector and arterial streets to 
improve safety and to ensure that motorists can safely enter all streets unless otherwise 
waived by City Council.  Further, the UDC requires all subdivisions to provide local 
street access to any use that currently takes direct access from an arterial or a collector 
street.  For this reason staff is recommending a local street is provided between the 
church and the existing home -- and that would be in this location right here -- to provide 
access to both uses and the accesses via the collector street should be removed.  The 
applicant requests approval of a waiver from Council for the two proposed accesses 
from the collector street.  A temporary access is proposed via a collector street for the 
existing home on the west side of the collector street, since no development is proposed 
on that lot at this time.  If that home was retained with the future resubdivision, local 
street access should be provided at that time.  The Calkins Lateral lies on the western 
portion of this site -- and that's this shaded area right here -- within a 56 foot wide 
easement and the Bell sub lateral lies along the east boundary of this southern portion 
of this site and that's the shaded area right here -- within a 50 foot wide easement, 25 
on each side from centerline.  A 25 foot wide street buffer is required along Amity Road 

20



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 17 of 41 

 

and a 20 foot wide buffer is required along the collector street, landscaped per UDC 
standards.  A ten foot wide detached sidewalk is required within the buffer along Amity 
Road and a five foot wide detached sidewalk is required within the buffer along the 
collector street.  A ten foot wide multi-use pathway is required along the Calkins Lateral 
in accord with the pathways master plan.  The applicant requests deferral of several 
improvements typically required with a subdivision until such time as Lot 3, Block 1, and 
Lot 1, Block 2, are resubdivided in the future as follows:  Street buffer landscaping and a 
ten foot wide sidewalk along Amity Road west of the collector street -- and that's again 
on this this lot right here that's proposed to be resubdivided in the future.  Also the multi-  
use pathway along the Calkins Lateral.  The open space and site amenities for the 
residential development and piping or improving the laterals that cross this site as a 
water amenity or linear open space.  Staff is amenable to this request.  However, if 
Council does not approve deferral of these items, the applicant does want to request 
approval of a phasing plan, which would essentially defer these items through future 
final plats.  A conditional use permit is proposed for a 52,000 square foot church on 
13.09 acres of land in an R-8 zoning district.  Compliance with the specific use 
standards listed in the UDC for church uses is required.  The church is proposed to 
develop in two phases as shown on the phasing plan.  The first phase will consist of 
approximately 40,000 square feet and the second phase will consist of approximately 
12,000 square feet.  Access to the church will be determined with the associated 
preliminary plat by the city and ACHD.  Off-street parking is required in excess of -- 
excuse me -- is required per UDC standards and parking is proposed in excess of UDC 
standards.  A minimum of 104 spaces are required.  Approximately 710 spaces are 
proposed to build out.  Conceptual building elevations were submitted for the proposed 
two story structure as shown.  Building materials consist of a mix of stucco, vertical 
rough sawn Nichiha architectural wall panels and corrugated painted -- painted metal 
panels and horizontal orientation.  These elevations have not been reviewed for 
compliance with the design standards in the architectural standards manual and are not 
approved with this application.  Review will take place with submittal of a design review 
application with the certificate of zoning compliance application prior to submittal of a 
building permit application.  Written testimony was received from John Rennison, 
Rennison Design.  That's the applicant's representative.  The applicant is in agreement 
with the staff report, except for Condition No. 2.1G, which requires a local street to be 
provided between the church property and the existing residence, i.e., between Lots 1 
and 2, Block 1.  Instead of a local street, the applicant requests a Council waiver for the 
two accesses from the collector street and a temporary access to the church property 
for the existing home.  Upon resubdivision of Lot 3, Block 1, the temporary access 
would be removed and local street access would be provided via the future cul-de-sac 
from a flag at the east boundary of Lot 2, Block 1, that I showed you earlier.  Staff is 
recommending approval with the conditions in the staff report and the applicant is here 
to present tonight.  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  Thanks very much.  Would the applicant like to come forward.  Good evening, sir.  
I need your name and address for the record, please.   
 

21



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 18 of 41 

 

Rennison:  John Rennison at 2025 East Riverside Drive in Eagle.  So, thanks very 
much for hearing us.  Sonya, thank you.  Excellent presentation.  Not a whole lot to 
cover, but there -- we had the one exception that -- that I want to just discuss in a little 
bit more detail.  But, first, just step back in time for just a second.  So, really why we are 
here is in dealing with all these applications is that what happened was the original 
landowner made a donation to the church for a piece of land and so, really, what 
happens is there is kind of an illegal split that happened there and so the plat is about 
cleaning that up and so in this case there isn't a developer in the room here really.  It's 
just the church trying to get a church built and we are assisting them with that from a 
planning perspective and so forth.  So, some of those deferred improvements, right, 
along Amity and so forth, you can understand they are not -- that we are -- we are going 
to let the next developer come through who wants to build out the -- the housing 
development, you know, take care of those improvements.  That's really kind of our 
approach and our ask.  So, we want to do -- take care of the minimum amount of things 
that we can do to address all the other city planning concerns, so we can get the church 
built.  Okay?  So, that's -- that's really kind of what's going on here and, then, we 
needed to do these couple of different applications here to fulfill all the requirements, 
including doing a rezone of just this parcel to this, to a zone that would accommodate 
the church by a CUP.  So, that's -- that's how we did that.  Sonya has been with us here 
the whole way guiding us and coaching us along on what to do, so that the city could 
get us to a point where you can approve us.  So, we just had one exception that I 
wanted to talk about and that's this little exhibit here, that's in the lower right-hand 
corner.  So, there was a request that came to basically build a road between the 
existing home there, the primary residence on the whole property, and the church and 
so this is something we do feel pretty strongly about that we are just kind of don't like 
the road there.  That wasn't really our design intent and I think that our idea here is to 
really address the concerns that came up with this alternative access, so that we can 
really -- we are not having to build a road between -- right next to the house -- in front of 
the house that's -- that's that and the church.  Really, this is our core -- core ask of you.  
So, I just wanted to explain that a little bit more.  So, Sonya did a great job.  I'm just 
going to repeat it, so make sure you guys understand and if you don't I would love to 
receive any questions.  So, the home is there on the -- on the red sort of rectangle and 
right now it's access generally leaves to the -- to the northwest quadrant of that red -- 
red square.  So, that just happens to be where the primary -- one of the primary 
accesses to the church would be.  So, what we are planning here is when we build the   
-- the residential collector road and we build the church, that will take access through 
the church parking lot onto the church driveway and, then, on to the collector road.  So, 
really, what we are trying to do is minimize or reduce the number of access points to the 
residential collector road.  That's kind of the core concern here.  So, that's how we take 
care of access until the subdivision -- you know, the rest of the property gets developed 
and it will.  We know that.  And so at the city's request we did this very conceptual plan 
here, but it's just a very actionable plan and so the Street K-- again, we are not -- there 
is not an application here to deal with that subdivision, but in general we -- we are 
planning for it relative to access to the existing home.  So, when Street K would go in, 
then, they would set this -- set up this lot, because it would basically be a flag lot that 
will take access off the Street K, when that was -- was platted at the time and so at that 

22



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 19 of 41 

 

point in time the access -- the temporary access out through the church to the collector 
road would -- would sunset and -- and that -- that home would -- would take access to 
Street -- Street K.  So, that's the thrust of our -- our one exception that we would like to 
make to it.  Any other comments that I can -- I can -- or questions that I can field?   
 
Seal:  Commissioners?   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Go ahead Commissioner Smith.   
 
Smith:  Question for staff.  On its surface this looks like a revision.  Are there any 
concerns or is there any preference regarding -- are there any issues that you see with 
this that are significant?   
 
Allen:  Mr. Chair, Commissioner Smith, Commissioners, staff cannot support the 
proposed access because of the UDC provisions that require access to be taken from a 
local street, unless otherwise required by Council.  So, that's -- that's the reason for the 
recommendation of a local street.  If Council approves the waiver I think that the access 
to the single family home that they are proposing is a -- is a good alternative.   
 
Seal:  Any other questions?  Madam Clerk, do we have anybody signed up to testify?   
 
Lomeli:  Thank you, Chairman Seal.  We have a Doug Connolly.  Not sure if he wants to 
testify, but --  
 
Seal:  Anybody else want to testify on this?  I have got to ask, so it looks like we are 
making a lot of exceptions to put a church in where a subdivision is supposed to go that 
will support having the church in there and having everything adequately provided for 
that church to be able to function correctly with the homes that currently exist.  So, I 
guess my concern is in this is, you know, just more timing than -- than anything else.  I 
mean is there any timeline at all on when the rest of it was developed or is that just kind 
of in the wind?   
 
Rennison:  Well, let's -- good -- great question.  Appreciate that.  You know, one of the     
-- let me step back just a couple -- couple steps here to make sure you understand what 
we are doing.  Okay?  What is being -- what is going to be improved.  So, what's Oak 
Briar Way, that's the north-south collector road, substantial improvement; right?  We are 
-- that's a major improvement.  So, it wasn't really planned, but we would be doing that 
to build the church, but that is what's -- what's required in order to fulfill the city 
requirements, so -- and, then, the frontage improvements along -- along Amity in front of 
the church, those all be completed.  So, really, from our view, if you pull up to this 
project, it will look like a completed subdivision.  When you go to the other side of the 
canal -- so, the west side of the canal, that will not be completed.  It will look like a 
project that needs to come forward still.  One other note that I would add is that, you 
know, presently sewer is not quite available there so -- and I'm not -- I'm not really 

23



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 20 of 41 

 

current on -- on the sewer situation there, but that's one of the things that needs to 
happen over there and that just happens to go to a different sewer shed.  So, this 
project -- the church project will drain to the -- to the east sewer wise and, then, the 
property on the west side of the canal will drain to the west.  So, we have -- we have 
kind of -- we just happen to be right on the sewer shed.  That's been a topic that we 
have been working on for a couple years trying to figure that out.  We finally have our 
path to the sewer figured out for the church and we are not able to come up with a 
solution readily for the -- for the west side of the property.  So, that's another sort of 
impediment to it's going to -- to be developed; right?  So, that will come is what I would 
say.  That's going to come and I think when that comes that -- that's when you will see 
the improvements on that frontage.  That's really the core piece that we are asking for 
deferment on, just the frontage improvements on Amity.  I mean there is a couple other 
small things, but they are -- the significant one that I think you would see from the street 
driving by would simply be the Amity -- Amity Road improvement.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.   
 
Rennison:  Does that answer that?  What do you think?   
 
Seal:  It's an answer.   
 
Rennison:  Okay.   
 
Seal:  Commissioners, anybody else?  Or anybody else in the audience want to testify?  
No?  All right.  Thank you very much, sir.  Appreciate it.  With that, I will take a motion to 
close the public hearing for File No. H-2023-0042 for Stonehill Church.   
 
Lorcher:  So moved.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to close the public hearing for File No. H-2023- 
0042.  All in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay?  The hearing is closed.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
Seal:  I will start.  Like I said, the only concern I have here, just because it is a little bit 
removed from everything, is just -- it -- I just don't know that it's going to be serviced well 
without the other developing, you know, with it around it, so -- and I just think it's going 
to kind of monopolize whatever else is going to be able to go in there as well, so -- but 
that's my concern.  I mean we -- you know, a church goes in there, you have the 
existing home site, there is just a lot of things that need to happen in order to allow that 
to happen first and, then, the subdivision to come in around it.  So, that's my concern 
with it.  Outside of that I mean it's -- you know, I'm sure it's going to be a -- you know, a 
fine -- a fine place of worship and, you know, it's not just a bunch more houses on there  
either.  So, good and bad.  Anyone else?   

24



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 21 of 41 

 

Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith, go ahead.   
 
Smith:  On kind of what we are talking about here -- on a lot of things here.  There is a 
little bit of an aspect where it's far out to where I feel like it might not be serviced well, 
but I also think that -- that gives me a little bit more concern for -- for the applicant and I 
guess the surrounding community of time to fill in.  It's kind of the opposite.  You know, 
when you see kind of larger projects or projects with houses, there is always kind of 
consideration -- in the back of my head at least -- that is like, okay, is there maybe some 
room for us to face this little bit for us, but I agree with you, it would be nice to be able to 
kind of do it all here, but I think at the end of the day, you know, that the timing is right.  I 
think that is something you have to deal with.  I don't know.  There -- there is a small 
fear of like when does, you know, this west side get developed.  Is there concern of it 
eventually becoming kind of in-fill when the surrounding area develops.  But I think for 
me I guess on net, that is less of a -- less of a huge concern and more of kind of a -- 
maybe a pebble in the shoe.  I think on the access side of things I -- like I said, the staff 
-- and in my question is, yeah, I -- assuming Council has -- you know, Council approved 
it, I have no issue with it.  It looks directionally like -- it seems fine.  But I'm no traffic 
engineer.  I'm not an expert on the UDC either, so -- but -- but I tend to really support 
the -- unless there is a significant issue that I'm missing I guess is what -- where I'm 
getting at is I think this is generally a good project and, yeah, there is -- there is a little 
bit of heartburn there, but I -- not just --  
 
Seal:  I mean my concerns are just from the experience I have had here where we have 
something like this happens and it kind of puts conditions on the next -- you know, the 
remainder of the development that's going to happen.  So, that's kind of where I'm 
coming from.  It's just -- it -- sometimes unfairly it does that and, then, you have an 
applicant in here that says, well, because of this and this, you know, we are kind of -- 
we are reigned in to having to do these things.  So, that sometimes dictates what can go 
in there, what will go in there.  So, that's -- that's where I'm coming from and maybe 
that's just because I have been up here too long.  Bill, did you have something to add?   
 
Parsons:  Yeah.  Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission, I think it's important to note 
here, although we use the term deferral, the applicant -- or at least the remaining 
property that is part of this plat is still subject to the existing DA that was approved in 
2015.  So, it was always anticipated that this property would further redevelop.  So, that 
DA is still going to remain intact and whoever buys these mega lots will still have to do 
that regardless of whether or not this project goes forward.  So, I just want to make that 
clear to the Commission.  Yes, typically with subdivisions we require a lot of those 
frontage improvements, but keep in mind the DA is -- the church is asking to remove 
themselves from that 2015 DA in order to enter into a new DA, which gets us some of 
these other improvements that the applicant talked about tonight.  So, either way the DA 
is in place and something is going to happen there.  So, that's why we wanted to at least 
share that with your attention, that we do support that, because we know the DA 
requires something in the future.   

25



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 22 of 41 

 

Seal:  Okay.  Thank you.  Appreciate the clarification on that.  Commissioner Lorcher.   
 
Lorcher:  So, for Stonehill it's such a blessing to be able to be given this land, but you 
are put in a situation where you are in the middle of nowhere and nothing else -- else 
has been built and -- but where you build they will come.  So, I -- you know, I -- the one 
example that kind of sticks in my head a little bit is Ten Mile Christian when they built 
their big church over at Ten Mile and Franklin and at the time there was nothing there; 
right?  And now they are surrounded -- not directly, but they are -- they are surrounded 
by multi-family housing and -- and we deal with in-fill all the time and so whomever 
chooses to develop this, whomever chooses to buy this, they are fully aware of the 
situation that they are walking into, otherwise, they just wouldn't buy it.  I also, you 
know, feel for the parishioners of this particular church is that they want to spend their 
money on the church and not necessarily building up the city and that's the developer's 
portion of it.  So, you know, if you guys are ready to go now and you want to build your    
-- your church, I would be happy to support recommending it to City Council when -- 
and, then, they are more of experts who can say whether or not it's a good fit for our 
city.   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Rivera, anything to add?   
 
Rivera:  No.   
 
Seal:  Okay.  Anybody else?  Go right ahead.   
 
Smith:  I had a question.  It was on 2.1G.  I was going to ask regarding any changes to 
that, but it seems like that's contingent upon Council granting a waiver.  So, would that 
just be the recommendation for them -- would the recommendation be to grant them a 
waiver or would it be to amend that to the applicant's ask of the subject --  
 
Seal:  No.  I think -- I think that's -- again, it's -- it's a good point that the applicant has 
requested -- or basically is not in agreement with 2.1G.  So, if you wanted to address 
that you could or just pass it without a modification and let City Council handle that.  So, 
it is in the staff report and, again, the applicant is -- is not in agreement with that one.  
But, again, we don't necessarily have to act on it unless you want to put that into a 
motion.  Commissioner Lorcher, go right ahead.   
 
Lorcher:  Taking the easy way out on this one.  After considering all staff, applicant and 
public testimony, I recommend -- wait a second.  Okay.  That's right.  I recommend 
approval to City Council of File No. H-2023-0041 as presented in the staff report for the 
hearing date of February 1st, 2024, with no modification.   
 
Seal:  Do I have a second?  
 
Rivera:  Second to approve the motion.   

26



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 23 of 41 

 

Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to approve File No. H-2023-0042 for Stonehill 
Church with no modifications.  All in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay?  Motion 
passes.  Thank you very much.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 
 8.  Public Hearing for Avani Neighborhood (H-2023-0049) by Conger  
  Group, located at Southeast of Franklin Rd. and Black Cat, North of I- 
  84.  
 
  A. Request: Annexation of 35.086 acres of land from RUT to the R-15  
   (Medium High Density Residential) zoning district. 
 
  B. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 256 buildable lots and 25  
   common lots on 33.71 acres of land in the proposed R-15 zoning  
   district. 
 
Seal:  All right.  Thank you all very much.  And with that, we will open File No. H-2023- 
0049 for Avani Neighborhood and we will begin with the staff report.   
 
Hersh:  Good evening, Mr. Chair and Commissioners.  The applicant has submitted 
applications for annexation and preliminary plat for Avani Neighborhood.  This site 
consists of 33.71 acres of land, currently zoned RUT in Ada county, located southeast 
of Franklin Road and Black Cat, north of I-84.  History on the property is none.  The 
comprehensive FLUM designation is medium density -- medium high density residential.  
The applicant is -- proposes to annex 35.214 acres of land with an R-15 zoning district, 
which is listed in the zoning district compatibility matrix in the Ten Mile Area Plan as one 
of the best choices for the zoning in the high -- medium high density residential 
designation.  The property is designated medium high density residential -- residential 
on the future land use map and is located within the area known as the Ten Mile 
Interchange Specific Area Plan.  Medium high density residential areas are 
recommended to develop primarily with relatively dense multi-family housing types, 
such as row houses, townhouses, condominiums and apartments.  Not all single family 
and attached and detached homes as proposed by the applicant.  These are -- these 
areas should have a mix of housing types that achieve an overall average density target 
of 12 dwelling units per acre, with densities ranging from eight to 15 units per acre.  The 
proposed development incorporates a mix of single family attached, single family 
detached, resulting in an overall gross density of 7.59 units per acre, consistent with the 
target density desired in the medium high density residential FLUM designation in the 
Ten Mile Area Plan.  Townhouses should be included in this development to be more 
consistent with the plan.  However, the property to the east has approval to construct a 
550 unit -- unit multi-family development to offset the need for additional multi-family in 
the area.  Mixed employment areas are also entitled or in the development process to 
the west, south and southeast.  So, it is conceivable that this development may provide 
additional housing options for these employment areas.  Background on the Ten Mile 
area was intended to look like and feel and function differently than a typical residential 

27



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 24 of 41 

 

subdivision.  It operates as a form based specific area plan where the design of the built 
environment is the primary review element is intended to work in conjunction with land 
use and zoning designations.  These design elements should not be treated as a 
checklist, but used to implement the overall vision and support a traditional 
neighborhood designed desired by the plan.  Out of the 256 single family units only ten 
are alley loaded.  The others are all front loaded with living area either at the same 
plane or behind the garages away from the street.  A few of the units have usable 
porches that might meet the guidelines.  No porches are proposed on the side.  All units 
have single two car garage doors, not separate garage doors.  The proposed elevations 
do not meet the design criteria that encourage building entrances to be situated close to 
the street, primarily due to the garage dominated nature.  Elevations for the alley loaded 
units were not submitted with the application, making it difficult for staff to determine if 
they comply with these guidelines.  Staff believes that the plat should incorporate more 
alley loaded lots.  However, the applicant believes that there isn't a market for this type 
of housing and has elected to limit the number of alley loaded -- alley loaded homes to 
ten, which is inconsistent with the plan.  Shorter block lengths and narrow streets help 
with a greater sense of the community in a traditional neighborhood design.  As 
proposed these lots are narrower and garage dominated, creating more driveways and 
less tree lined streets along the primary street, which contradict the Ten Mile -- or which 
contradicts the traditional neighborhood principles.  More alley loaded homes would 
enhance the streetscape for this development and ground the front porches to the 
primary street per the plans.  Some of these design elements are not required by the 
UDC as envisioned by the plan.  Therefore, the applicant requests the Commission and 
Council to allow some deviations to these design elements.  A preliminary plat is 
proposed, again, consisting of 256 lots.  Ninety-five are single family attached.  As 
mentioned prior, ten are alley loaded and 151 single family detached building lots are 
proposed.  Twenty-five landscape lots are proposed.  Six common driveways, two alley 
and one nonbuildable lot on 33.707 acres of land in the R-15 zoning district.  The lots 
range in size from 2,436 to 5,357 square feet.  The average lot size is 3,584 square 
feet.  The subdivision is proposed to develop in three phases as indicated on the 
preliminary plat.  The applicant is -- is currently collaborating with the property owners 
directly to the south and east to complete the collector street connection to Black Cat.  
The city desires to have the street dedicated and constructed before residents occupy 
the homes in this development.  The site amenities provided a minimum of seven points 
of site amenities are required based on the area of the single family residential 
development.  Qualified amenities should include features listed in the UDC, a large 
park that includes a children's playground with a play structure, swings, climbing rocks, 
a climbing dome, seating benches with a safe fenced area, two pickle ball courts, a 
fenced dog park, are proposed, which meets the minimum standard.  The ten foot wide 
regional pathways along the Black Cat Road and Vanguard Way consists of 
approximately 2,500 linear feet.  Additionally, there is a micro -- five foot micro pathway 
running north-south on the east side of the property that spans approximately a 
thousand linear feet.  Overall, the proposed amenities do exceed the minimum 
standards required.  Written testimony is none.  Staff recommends -- is recommending 
denial of the -- of the proposed annexation and preliminary plat as proposed.  The 
project does not align with the purpose and intent of the Ten Mile Interchange Specific 

28



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 25 of 41 

 

Area Plan as outlined in the analysis in the staff report in accordance with the findings.  
The applicant has been made aware of staff's concerns and has elected to forego some 
of the staff's recommendations to change -- change and gain a favorable 
recommendation.  However, the Commission and Council should rely on all relevant 
information when determining if this project is consistent with the plan and open to 
allowing deviations from the design elements as desired by the applicant.  That 
concludes staff's presentation and I stand for any questions.   
 
Seal:  Thank you very much.  Would the applicant like to come forward.  Good evening.  
Name and address, please.   
 
Clark: Hi, everyone.  Hethe Clark.  251 East Front Street in Boise.  Representing the 
applicant.  And do we have my PowerPoint available, Stacy?  Maybe.  Thank you.  
Okay.  So, we are here tonight to talk about the Avani Neighborhood and as you heard 
in the staff presentation, there is going to be a fair amount of conversation about what 
the Ten Mile Interchange Specific Area Plan means and does and how we actually 
satisfy the Comprehensive Plan.  But first I wanted to give you a little bit of history.  You 
might be wondering what site plan that is that's on your screen.  This is not the site plan 
that we are talking about tonight.  This is a site plan from a project that was approved by 
the city nine months ago, just a little bit north of here, also in the Ten Mile Interchange 
Specific Area Plan -- or I'm going to call it the Ten Mile Plan, because that's way too 
much of a mouthful.  It involves the same issues we are going to be discussing tonight, 
which is how to reconcile the required density in the medium high density residential 
designation with the design elements that staff has talked about tonight.  That project 
was approved in spring 2023 with a positive P&Z recommendation and, again, the same 
issues were present.  So, as we look at the project that's actually before you, Avani, the 
-- you can see that it's located just north of the freeway in the -- excuse me -- and east 
of Black Cat in the Ten Mile Plan area.  You can see the property here against the land 
use designations that are included in the Ten Mile Plan.  Again, it's planned medium 
high density residential or MHDR, which has a density band of eight to 15.  When staff 
says there is a target of 12, the approved band is eight to 15 and 12 is a target for the 
larger area.  Under the code we round typically to the nearest whole number, so our 7. 
59 dwelling units per acre means we are holding on by our fingernails to try to get high 
enough density to satisfy what's in the Ten Mile Plan.  It is true in-fill.  It's a priority 
growth area.  City services are available and it will complete the transportation network 
that's shown on the Ten Mile Plan.  So, I'm going to start by talking about the project 
itself and, then, go from there into the Ten Mile Plan issues.  So, again, the site is 33.71 
acres, 256 single family homes proposed.  I think an important detail is that this is for 
sale product, which the -- a lot of the product that's going in around us, including the 
apartments to the east, are not.  They are -- they are rental product.  So, it adds to the -- 
to the variety of uses there.  The dimensions and the density are consistent with R-15 
and, again, we meet that R -- the density band for the medium high density residential.  
This also completes the area transportation -- transportation network by providing the 
mid mile collector, which you see here that's Vanguard Way.  That is a collaboration 
amongst the three developers that are working in that area and that is planned to be 
completed later this year.  As we look at the site, we have proposed 19.8 percent 

29



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 26 of 41 

 

qualified open space.  There is additional open spaces that's not qualified that's shown 
in the lighter green on this map.  In addition we have the 3,500 feet of paths and 
regional paths, as well as numerous amenities that is typical for these -- for this 
developer attractive landscaping.  As noted in the project we are providing ten foot wide 
multi-use pathways at Black Cat and Vanguard.  So, on the west and on the -- on the 
south and we also exceed the -- the amenity requirements, but I want to be clear about 
when we say we exceed the amenity requirements, we blow them out of the water.  The 
amenity requirements are seven points.  We are at 24.5.  That includes a community 
pool, which is, obviously, a significant investment.  Again, the pedestrian -- pedestrian 
pathways.  You can see the regional pathway in blue.  In terms of the housing proposed 
-- and this is a point I'm going to introduce now and, then, we will come back to later.  
We do have ten ally loaded lots and I want you to note the depth of those ally loaded 
lots, as that -- as that's an issue that I'm going to return to in a moment.  Those are by 
far the longest or deepest lots in the project.  In addition, we have the 95 two story 
attached, 102 story detached and 51 single story detached and this is what they look 
like.  Here is the single story detached, the detached two story and the two story 
attached.  So, that's the project.  And now let's really dig into the staff recommendation.  
So, I would summarize the staff report like this.  I would say as -- as I reviewed the staff 
report, it says there is not an issue with the UDC; right?  It meets all the R-15 standards.  
The staff report doesn't cite any issues with the city's overall comprehensive plan.  But 
what -- but what it does say is that there are issues with the Ten Mile Plan as that we 
don't meet the mandatory -- and I'm putting mandatory in quotes, because there is 
nothing mandatory about a comprehensive plan, and we don't meet the target density.  
Those are the two issues.  Design elements and target density.  So, next time I teach a 
land use law class I'm actually going to include this staff report and the reason I'm going 
to is because it illustrates an important principle and that is the relationship between the 
comprehensive plan and the zoning code.  So, a comprehensive plan is not legally 
controlling zoning law.  It's a policy document.  It's a guide to local government 
agencies.  We can't treat it like a zoning code.  But it's -- because it's not written like a 
zoning code.  It's a collection of policy objectives that, then, need to be translated into 
code in order to be functional.  So, in the meantime, if the governing body is charged 
with determining if a project is in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan, it makes a 
factual inquiry based on the specific circumstances of the project.  So, let's be clear, a 
comprehensive plan is a Rorschach.  You guys have heard enough conversations about 
comprehensive plans to know that people pick -- cherry pick whatever they want out of 
a comprehensive plan, some things will be supported in the project, other things will not.  
A zoning code is where we take the comprehensive plan, we actually dig into the details 
and, then, we translate those goals into bulk standards and into setbacks and other 
controlling zoning requirements and that process is important, because you work 
through the kinks to identify the issues and these issues are important in this case.  
That hasn't happened in the case of the Ten Mile Plan and that's why staff is in a tough 
position with this report.  They want to uphold the Ten Mile Plan, but the city hasn't 
translated these design elements in such a way to figure out if you can actually 
implement them in the higher density zones and so I'm going to show you what I mean 
here in a moment.  So, as we look at the Ten Mile Plan, it's most useful to look at the 
density and, then, the design elements; right?  So, let's look first at the density.  This is 

30



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 27 of 41 

 

the language from the plan.  The Ten Mile Plan calls for a mix of housing types in the 
MHDR category.  It is not the list that Stacy mentioned.  It includes multi-family, but also 
allows for single family as well and I will show you that on the next slide.  The density 
range again is between eight to 15, with a target of 12.  We are on the very low end of 
the density range at -- at just below eight.  So, if we look in more detail at the MHDR 
zone and its requirements, there is only -- only one possible choice as you can see with 
the checkmark, that's the possible choice, which is R-15.  R-8 is the only other one that 
gets any sort of consideration and it's a marginal choice and in the uses that are 
identified -- as you can see here are single family detached townhouses and two family 
duplex.  In other words, R-15 per the plan is the only possible choice in the area.  We 
are just at the bottom edge of that density band and we provide the exact housing types 
that are identified in the -- in the Ten Mile Plan.  That includes the alley loaded product.  
So, that was density.  So, let's talk about the design elements, because I think that's 
where -- the kind of the rubber meets the road.  Those design elements are described in 
the Ten Mile Plan as recommendations that should be adopted by the city in code.  
There is other language that speaks to them being mandatory, it's inconsistent with the 
description of them as recommendations.  It's also inconsistent -- when we say that it's 
mandatory, that's inconsistent with how a comprehensive plan should be treated.  
Excuse me.  Those design elements include things like usable porches at 30 percent of 
the front facade, with a recommendation of a higher percentage than 30 percent and to 
have the porches on two sides.  In addition, alley loaded garages are to be used, quote, 
when possible, again, not mandatory, but when possible and setback garages are to be, 
quote, no less than 20 feet behind the primary facade, which all sounds great, but in 
order to do that you actually have to implement it into code, so you can work out the 
kinks in an otherwise aspirational document.  The Ten Mile Plan has an action plan 
that's -- you can see it here on the screen.  It calls for amendments to the zoning code 
and it calls for a set of design guidelines specific to the Ten Mile interchange area and 
that hasn't happened.  So, the vetting that I'm talking about -- talking about hasn't -- also 
hasn't happened, which leads to the tension that's in the staff report.  As I mentioned, 
staff is in a tough position.  I'm not mad at staff, I know I'm -- I'm up here lecturing a little 
bit, but, you know, we always get along and I understand that they are trying to uphold 
the planning document for the area when they take the positions that they have taken in 
the staff report.  But, ultimately, what happened here is that the staff report elevates the 
comp plan -- the Ten Mile Plan above the zoning code and it fails to acknowledge 
internal inconsistencies within the Ten Mile Plan and in the staff report itself.  So, here is 
what I mean.  Staff recommends denial because we fall short of the target density of 12 
dwelling -- dwelling units to the acre and because we -- excuse me -- lack specific Ten 
Mile plan design elements.  So, again, the density band is eight to 15.  That's a target of 
12, but it's eight to 15 and we are right at -- right at eight.  But, ultimately, what's 
happening here is staff is criticizing the application for lacking density, while requiring 
design elements that would further reduce density and that includes the alley loaded 
lots, the shorter block lengths and the porches.  So, let me show you what I mean.  If we 
look at ally loaded product, this is a diagram that I showed this group in -- in connection 
with the New -- the Newkirk application.  You have two blocks right next to each other.  
Both include 95 foot deep lots.  Ally loaded blocks require an additional 20 foot 
minimum, which pushes the block this direction and reduces density.  In addition to 

31



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 28 of 41 

 

these other factors that I have mentioned, one really important thing and that goes to 
the marketability of these lots, is that they don't provide for private open space or front 
private outdoor space and the only way you get that private outdoor space is to do it in 
the side setbacks.  So, not only do you push the blocks out this way, you also push 
them out this way, losing density and, again, we are holding on by our fingernails to try 
to hit eight.  With regard to porches -- or excuse me.  Let's go back to block length.  
Staff wants shorter block lengths, but here is the problem.  We are already well below 
the UDC requirement of 750 feet.  What is the preferred block length in the Ten Mile 
Plan is not defined.  If we want a different block length, that's fine, but we need to 
specify what that is and, to be clear, we are well below this -- the allowed block length 
as permitted in the UDC and let's also be clear, the shorter block lengths, what does 
that do?  Adds roads, adds maintenance, reduces density.  With regard to porches, you 
know, we find that they are not going to be used by the residents, but if you are going to 
include a porch, what are you going to do, you are going to widen the lot.  You -- if -- 
you are going to go with the UD -- or, excuse me, the Ten Mile Plan's recommendations 
and have it on two sides, you are going to widen the lot even further and so that is also 
going to reduce density.  Now, I want to point out on the porch question -- I don't know 
why that's an annexation question.  That's ultimately a design review question.  So, I 
don't think it's actually relevant.  But I just want to point out why we have a concern 
about the -- that direction that we have more porches.  And, then, recessed garages.  
That's pretty simple.  If you recess the garage you increase the lot depth, you reduce 
the density.  So, to summarize, you know, the staff report in our view elevates the comp 
plan above the code.  It acknowledges that we meet the R-15.  The only issues that it 
identifies are in the Ten Mile Plan and the staff recommendations that -- you know, that 
we were asked to take on in order to get to a positive recommendation, all they do is 
reduce the density further.  That's the -- that's the tension.  The -- you know, this -- this 
is the -- it illustrates the issues that were created because the Ten Mile Plan hasn't been 
incorporated in the code.  If you work through these items, you translate them into code, 
you translate them into bulk setbacks or bulk standards and setbacks, we get the issues 
figured out.  But what we have discovered as we have been looking at it is that these 
design elements might be possible in the lower density zones; right?  If you don't have 
to hit a certain density band you can put in the porch, you can put in the alley load, but 
at the medium high density residential designation to say that you have to have that as 
the predominant feature on all of these lots isn't impossible if you have to also hit the 
density.  But I do want to point out that just like at Newkirk, our application includes alley 
loaded lots.  We don't -- we didn't want them.  We are -- if I'm going to be a little bit 
sarcastic about it, we are placing them on the sac -- you know, our sacrifice on the altar  
of the Ten Mile Plan with those alley loaded lots.  We do have block lengths that are 
well below code.  We have the variety of housing types and we have provided the 
density at the medium high density range.  So, just like at Newkirk, you know, we think 
that we have satisfied the Ten Mile Plan where we can and while still providing the plan 
density and just like at Newkirk we are asking for this group's recommendation of 
approval.  So, I appreciate you all hanging in there with me.  That was a little bit of a 
technical discussion, but I'm happy to answer questions.   
 
Seal:  Okay.   

32



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 29 of 41 

 

Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith, go ahead.   
 
Smith:  Yeah.  So, I think one thing that mentally is creating a significant difference 
between Newkirk and this is my memory -- Newkirk met a lot of conditions and a -- and 
a lot of -- a lot of what was kind of required and desired, but especially pertaining to the 
ally load, there was kind of not really a way to make it workable in the plan while 
maintaining the density.  It seems to me here that a lot of the same issues arise there, 
but we are also not even in kind of the ballpark of the target density and -- and I mean 
that in a sense that to me, technically meeting the minimum doesn't really seem to align 
with kind of where the goal is and the -- and I understand, but I prefer to follow the 
guide.  So, my question with all that in context is is does it not make more sense or is 
there a reason that you are -- while Newkirk felt like you maybe sacrifice some of the -- 
similar to this, you kind of prioritize the ones, either that you are -- you are, again, not 
really fully meeting or any kind of targets that were --  
 
Clark:  Commissioner Smith, thank you.  If I understand the question, so it -- Newkirk -- 
it was a little different into something in some ways in the sense that that was a TN-R 
designation and so we had multi-family on the east side that pulled up our density 
somewhat; right?  We did include -- we have one block of alley load and, then, the rest 
of it was not alley load.  So, that was another internal block in all of the outer ring was -- 
so, in this case we don't have the benefit of being able to push up our density with some 
multi-family on the east side like we did at Newkirk.  So, we are already just barely at 
the density that is required for the medium high density.  So, that's where we feel like 
we are put in a difficult position of saying, okay, we want you to use ally loaded lots 
predominantly through the whole thing, which will knock our density down significantly.  
Like it won't -- it won't -- I don't even know if it will be in the sevens.  It's probably less.  
And -- but still being asked to hit a medium high density residential density band, that's 
an impossible position and, then, when you are asking us to do it with -- with the type of 
product that we don't think people want, that -- it starts to become an ask that is, 
essentially, too much.  Now -- but we have included it and we have included it at the 
entry of our project.  So, it's predominant, but it is not the majority of the lots by any 
means.   
 
Smith:  I guess my question -- and this can also be a question for staff.  Is there 
anything excluding this application from taking more of an approach like a Newkirk 
where there was maybe a pocket that's more similar to kind of your higher density that 
can offset some of the decreased density that would be created by incorporating some 
of staff's plan?  Is there anything that's preventing them from building more dense multi-
family in a pocket and, then, offsetting that with incorporating those plans?  That seems 
to me to kind of fit within a little bit more of the spirit of what we are going for here, 
which is, to me, why I was more in support of Newkirk than this.  Or anything other than 
just kind of the desire of the developments preventing kind of an orbit of density offset 
by alley and those things that would reduce density elsewhere.   
 

33



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 30 of 41 

 

Clark:  Commissioner Smith, I'm not sure I understand your question.  I mean are you 
asking if -- if we would -- if we could do like multi-family in a portion of the project?   
 
Smith:  Yes.  So, essentially, in Newkirk you had multi-family that hit was denser that 
offset some of the less dense single family created by the alley load and some of those 
other design elements that were desirable.  Is there a reason that you can't do that here, 
given that, like you are talking about, there are somewhat similar scenarios, similar 
limitations, but the application is vastly different to what we saw in Newkirk.   
 
Parsons:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission, I will start on the topic and, then, let 
the applicant rebut as well.  But, no, there isn't.  The R-15 -- it would require redesign for 
sure and we are -- because of it is R-15, instead of the TN-R, like the Newkirk project, it 
would require them to also submit a concurrency CUP.  What we tried to do in the staff 
report is make the argument for the applicant that additional multi-family wasn't required 
on this property, because of what we have already entitled to the east and so we were 
trying to give -- when we met with them and discuss some of these issues, we were like 
we are fine with something other than multi-family here, but can we get closer to these 
design concepts?  And, like I said, we got to the ten alley loaded lots, but we were 
hoping it would go further than that.  But to your initial question, no, they could have 
proposed multi-family as part of this development and, to be honest with you, in current 
-- in early discussion with the applicant their land plans did include that, they just elected 
to remove that, because of what they are seeing in the area already that's entitled.  
That's why they -- they wanted to provide something different than has already been 
provided in this area.   
 
Clark:  And, Commissioner Smith, yeah, I would just -- to further elaborate on that, 
immediately to our east is already entitled 500 apartment units; right?  So, you know, 
the -- the idea of the Ten Mile Plan and the way I read the Ten Mile Plan is not that you 
are looking at each project, project by project, you are looking at the overall area to see, 
okay, what kind of product is out there?  What -- what kind of -- of homes are -- are on 
offer and, then, in addition, that target of 12 is also spread across the area; right?  So, 
the project immediately to our east pulls up that area -- that area density.  Meanwhile, 
we are trying to just keep ourselves within the medium high density residential band and 
-- but still have a project that's viable when you got -- you know, it doesn't make sense 
to do additional multi-family there when you got 500 units that are just -- have just been 
approved.   
 
Smith:  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  Commissioners, anything else?  Madam Clerk, do we have anybody signed up to 
testify?  There are only two other people -- three.  Sorry.  Three other people in here.  
Sorry, sir.   
 
Lomeli:  Catrina Waddell.   
 
Seal:  No.  Anybody else?   

34



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 31 of 41 

 

Lomeli:  That's it.   
 
Seal:  Anybody else want to testify?   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?  
 
Seal:  Go ahead.   
 
Smith:  I guess a question for staff or the applicant, whoever.  Is there a rough idea, you 
know, looking at it less as a plot by -- or plot by plat, kind of project basis, looking at kind 
of more of the total area.  I guess that's where I'm still struggling and might be one of 
the few people in Meridian who might be opposed something because it's not dense 
enough.  But I -- I think that's where I'm getting at is one of the key things is, you know, 
that -- we are not kind of meeting really any of the goals here and so it seems to me -- 
and I don't want to put words in your mouth -- it seems to me that like maybe hitting 
slightly lower density here would be somewhat amenable, that if it meets more of the 
design concept.  So, my question is around the density of the overall area, around 
including -- including this project and the other projects that are kind of within that -- I 
don't know -- within the relevant transitions, if anyone has any thoughts or numbers on 
that?   
 
Hersh:  Mr. Chair, Commissioner Smith, so we did have conversations with the 
applicant about that and so staff is amenable to a lower density if there were more 
design elements that met the plan.  Definitely.  And we did have multiple conversations 
about that.   
 
Parsons:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Commission, just to elaborate a little bit more, it's     
-- to the applicant's point, it is -- it is a difficult topic.  We are both kind of backed into a 
corner trying to defend our position and we never want to be in that predicament, but 
the facts are we really don't have code to support us, but this is annexation.  That's the 
difference here, is it's -- they are requesting the annex into the city.  We are not forcing 
them to do anything that -- that -- that wouldn't be -- they are asking, hey, we want to 
come into your city.  If I look at the definition of in-fill in the UDC, this does not meet the 
definition of in-fill.  So, I would be hesitant to say that this is a ripe and true in-fill project.  
But with that being said, the comp plan isn't parcel specific, like this property.  So, yes, 
we would concede on some of the density if they can make it work.  Where Stacy and I 
have a hard time telling you whether or not density would change if they changed their 
project and had more alley load or diff -- or adding more townhomes, we can't tell you 
that, because we haven't seen a plan to -- to let you know if that would work or not.  But 
to Commissioner Smith's point, Newkirk was offset by the multi-family and there was a 
significant less amount of single family or attached and townhome lots than there was 
on this particular project.  This one has 256 detached homes and attached homes, 
where the other one had 64 and that's a huge difference here and that is a completely 
different side of the road here.  So, you can see here if you look at the applicant's 
graphic here, you are looking at Baraya, you can see they have a mix of zoning 
designations, they have townhomes in there, they have single family, they have alley 

35



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 32 of 41 

 

load, they have multi-family, all in keeping with the spirit -- spirit of the plan, even though 
the plan wasn't adopted at the time that they got their entitlements, but they were 
required in the development agreement to meets specific design criteria and that's why 
you see that developed here.  So, everyone that we have met with on this significant -- 
or this section of town or in the Ten Mile area, we are holding as much as possible to 
those design elements and so we don't want the -- the applicant to think that we are not 
supportive of this plan.  I think -- I love the open space.  I like the amenities.  It's -- it's -- 
it's a good development.  Unfortunately, it's hard for Stacy and I to support that when it 
misses the mark from the design elements in the plan.  The zoning matrix that is in the    
-- in the Comprehensive Plan isn't to specify what's allowed to go in there, it just -- it's 
just to show you what the code -- what is allowed in that zoning designations for 
example.  So, if someone came in with an R-15 those are permitted uses in the R-15 
zone.  So, when we say it's consistent with the zone, it is because single family attached 
and detached and townhomes are principally permitted uses in those zones.  It doesn't 
mean it's the right use for that land use in the Ten Mile Plan.  It just references -- if this 
is your land use designation, here is the preferred zoning and these are the uses 
allowed in that zone.  So, it's not meant to be a guide or a thou shalt do these uses in 
the Ten Mile Plan, we are going let the zone control -- to the applicant's point zoning 
controls everything and over the years we have made some modifications to the UDC 
after the adoption of the plan.  So, we did add the MU zone to our code and the AC 
zone, which are commercial designations, and, then, we have also modified our TN-R 
zoning standards to reflect some of these design concepts, but not all of them.  So, 
that's why Stacy and I put it in our recommendation to you is, you know, obviously, you 
are hearing both sides of the story here and I think that's where we left it off with all of 
you, because it's really -- the plan is a visionary document and the -- the code is -- is the 
tool we use to implement the plan.  So, I can't fault the applicant in their argument, it's 
just the fact that we are at annexation, we had asked for a little bit more, we did not get 
that, the applicant wanted to move forward with their plan and we were very 
straightforward with them and said if you don't incorporate some of these other 
additional items we can't -- we can't recommend -- make a favorable recommendation 
on the plan and that's why we are in front of you tonight.   
 
Seal:  Thank you, Bill.  Appreciate that.   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. -- oh, go ahead. 
 
Starman:  Mr. Chairman.  Can I -- let's see if I can -- I want to just say -- I want to add 
this in a very kind of abstract high level way, so I don't want to participate in the policy 
discussion, that's your job and staff is doing -- planning staff is doing a fine job.  I do 
want to comment about a legal topic that Mr. Hethe discussed and Bill's comments 
touched upon and that is ethics.  I think we are conflating some issues and, Mr. Hethe, 
you are welcome to rebut if you think I'm off base, but I think it's important to recognize 
you have multiple requests before you today that you are making recommendation -- 
recommendations on.  One is an annexation and with that, if we go down that path, 
becomes the initial zoning and, then, secondly, is the preliminary plat and so Mr. Hethe 
is quite right where courts have consistently held that a comprehensive plan is more 

36



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 33 of 41 

 

aspirational, provides guidelines -- you can't ignore it, but it's not law either.  That's more 
applicable under -- those rulings are under the Local Land Use Planning Act.  That's our 
preliminary plat category.  Annexations are under Title 50, something different than 
LUPA and it says -- Mr. Parsons, which is pointing toward and talking about annexation 
is a little bit different animal and so in that instance, you know, clearly you can look at 
the bigger picture in terms -- does this annexation request before the city fit the vision of 
the community and what we are trying to accomplish and so, ultimately, you make a 
recommendation and the City Council makes that decision as to whether annexation is 
in the city's best interest or not.  But we are not confined to those LUPA decisions 
relative to -- that Mr. Hethe was describing earlier.  So, I just wanted to -- I don't want to 
conflate those two issues.  We have an annexation request, which stands on its own 
and is a little bit different animal and, then, we have the other part of this request before 
you, which is those parts of the preliminary plat in particular that fall within LUPA.  Does 
that -- does that makes sense?  And if you think I'm off base let me know.   
 
Clark:  I think what I would clarify is absolutely on the preliminary plat side of things; 
right?  That's -- you know, you can't -- you can't conflate the two.  When it comes to the 
Comprehensive Plan, it's a factual evaluation based on the specific circumstances in 
this case; right?  So, you -- yeah, is it generally in accordance with -- yeah, then, that's 
what that means is generally.  You have to look at it as a policy matter and not as a 
technical detail matter and that's why we are asking in this case for you to look at it from 
the perspective of there are inconsistent requirements within the Ten Mile Plan.  You 
can't hit the density band and include the design elements that we are talking about.  
That's -- really, that was the discussion that we had with everyone on the Newkirk.  
That's why all of these projects that you see on this plan up north, many of them are 
garage dominated.  There is a mix of alley loaded, but there is a lot of garage 
dominated up there as well and, you know, that same request was made.  These 
projects were all still approved, because I think that -- as people have looked at this they 
have realized, okay, we have to try to look at these goals together and if we are going to 
try and get the density that we have contemplated in the Ten Mile Plan, then, we are not 
going to be able to have all the design elements that the Ten Mile Plan speaks to. 
 
Seal:  Commissioners?   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Lorcher, go ahead.   
 
Lorcher:  Staff, is the R-15 required for the Ten Mile interchange?   
 
Hersh:  Mr. Chair, Commissioner Lorcher, so that is actually the zoning that was on the 
Comprehensive Plan FLUM designation was medium high density residential for this 
area.   
 
Lorcher:  And so is R-8 an option or no?  
 

37



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 34 of 41 

 

Hersh:  They would have to apply for a comp plan amendment.  They could do so and 
they would have bigger lots.  I don't know if the applicant is amenable to that or not, but 
that is an option.   
 
Clark:  Now, as we look at the Ten Mile Interchange Plan, this is what's called for is R-
15.  The -- the -- the plan specifically says your -- this is -- R-15 is actually the only 
designation that gets the regular checkmark that means it's a possible choice.  R-8 is 
the only other one that gets any sort of a checkmark and it's a marginal choice and, as 
Stacy mentioned, that's going to require a comp plan amendment.  So, it's -- it's -- it's a 
multi-step dance to get to an R-8.  If we are trying to uphold the Ten Mile Plan, we 
should be doing R-15.   
 
Lorcher:  Right.  But you are -- everything's falling short of what the city wants and what 
you want for R-15.  I mean they are -- they are not -- they are not meshing, so did you 
have a conversation about R-8 at all or that wasn't even on the table?   
 
Clark:  Not on the table, because it's -- again, it's not -- it was -- it's not consistent with 
your comp plan.  What your comp plan calls for is R-15.  So, we are trying to be 
consistent with the planning that's been asked for -- you know, that the city has 
identified in this case.   
 
Lorcher:  But you also mentioned that you are looking at the overall entire area and you 
already said there is 500 units being -- for apartments or townhouses already.  So, even 
though the designation is R-15 and you already have that, you don't want that product, 
you want to have single family in your area, but now there is conflict between density 
and space and all those other things.  So, yes, in and of itself it's R-15, but like you 
pointed out, now you have to look at the whole area.  It's not marketable for you to add 
more townhouses or apartments to your density plan, because there is already going to 
be 500 right next door.  So, how do you resolve when you have all of these things kind 
of happening around you, yet you are trying to fulfill the need of the zoning in the first 
place.  I mean right now I think we are all still kind of here.  You know, you are trying to   
-- you are trying to fit it in and the city is saying, well, yes, if you are going to do that, 
then, this needs to be happening, but in your argument you are saying, well -- but that's 
already happening over there, so, therefore, we shouldn't do it over here.  So, how is -- I 
don't -- I mean I'm struggling with how is that in the best interest of anybody for you to 
be able to sell a product that's not already replicated next door and to be able to fulfill 
the -- the Comprehensive Plan or the future land use map of what the city is trying to 
do?  So, I think that's kind of part of the crux of it, too.  
 
Clark:  Well, Commissioner Lorcher, I mean I think the -- the clarification I would make 
to that is that that tension is not one of our making; right?  That tension is inherent in the 
Ten Mile Plan itself, because the Ten Mile Plan says this spot should be R-15.  R-15 
has as permitted uses single family detached townhouses, two family duplexes.  We 
want you to get from eight to 15 dwelling units, but we also want you to have porches 
and alley loads and that's the tension.  That's the problem with treating this -- and, you 
know, to -- I almost said -- when -- just first name with Kurt, but the -- you know, to your 

38



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 35 of 41 

 

attorney's point, that's my concern with the way this is being treated is that that -- that 
interlocking between those design density standards is being treated like a zoning code 
question, when, in fact, it's a Comprehensive Plan question and the only way you can 
reconcile it is by saying something's got to give; right?  And something gave at all of 
those projects that I showed you there north of us and that the -- and that the city has 
approved throughout the past couple of years.  This is the first time I have seen a 
recommendation for denial on this question and so that's where my concern comes 
from, is that we didn't create the tension, we are caught in the tension and we are trying 
to resolve it in a way that makes sense to us and we are already just below that density 
band, but being asked to make changes they are going to push us further down.   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith, go ahead.   
 
Smith:  I hear what you are saying, but it is -- and to Commissioner Lorcher's point and 
with respect -- and not as a personal thing, but it feels a little bit like trying to -- like it's 
all the other ones -- there is a tension and something did get -- it feels like you are -- 
everything's -- there is not -- your direction that we are taking this, we are just kind of 
failing to meet the requirements all across the board evenly and that is not there to say 
where it will -- or be at the density requirements a lot more clearly, you missed some of 
the design elements, but that was a compromise that happened.  It feels like we are 
missing across the board and that's -- that's my -- my issue here.  You talk about the 
requirements and hitting none of them, but it's not really -- but -- 
 
Clark:  Yeah.   
 
Smith:  -- missing the ones regarding the -- the -- specifically the sign elements and the 
density, you are not really hitting -- and so between those requirements, yeah, they 
might be just one another, but -- but to my mind there is -- like I am just searching for a 
reason that we are not either choosing -- we are not choosing either of them working 
with staff to clean up the -- I don't want to put words in your mouth of staff, staff just kind 
of seemed okay with lower density -- with lower density here for meeting more design 
elements.  Seems like they have kind of given you a direction for what to -- what might 
be able to give and it's not being taken.  So, it's just -- there is not a clear single 
sentence question there, but I just -- I'm struggling to wrap my head around why -- it 
feels like they are kind of saying, hey, this area can budge a little bit and you are not --  
 
Clark:  Yeah.  I don't -- I don't know that that's a fair characterization of it.  I guess I was 
-- is my response.  You know, first of all, we do have shortened block lengths as 
compared to UDC.  We do have -- we did add the alley loads.  Like I said, we would 
love not to have any ally loads, but we have got -- we have got ten ally loads.  You 
know, we have provided the same -- I just showed you the chart of what types of 
structures are permitted in the R-15.  We have those structures and, you know, when 
you round -- in which we do in the -- in the city code, we round from -- to the nearest 
whole number up or down, then, we are at the bottom of the density scale.  But when it 

39



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 36 of 41 

 

comes to this concept of, you know, staff's okay with a lower density, you know, again, 
that -- that begs the question of like, you know, what are we doing here?  You know, if 
staff can just say, well, yeah, it's eight to 15, but, you know, we think you are okay with 
five if you -- if you include three quarters of it as -- as ally load, what are the standards -- 
the objective standards that an applicant has to look at to be able to understand where 
that came from; right?  Ultimately, what we are talking about here is trying to balance 
the density with the design elements and we have proposed what we think is an 
appropriate balance, but I understand that there is a disagreement on that.   
 
Seal:  Well, yeah, I was going to say I think -- it reminds me of a buddy of mine.  Loved 
to go to the prom in jeans, so -- wasn't appropriate, wasn't allowed to go.  So, rules 
were set.  He knew that.  Showed up anyway, so -- and as far as Newkirk and Aviator, I 
mean, you know, I remember those applications.  I remember being lenient on them and 
I remember things going through, as we negotiated through some of those and I had a 
feeling at that point in time that was going to come back and bite us in the butt and here 
we are.  So, I mean the comp plan is really what's going to hold it R-15, not the Ten Mile 
Plan.  Okay.  So, the UDC is going to determine your plat.  The Ten Mile Plan is going 
to be to the design elements.  So, we have managed to -- with other applications we 
have managed to reconcile all of that in a way that we thought fit best for the city and 
that's I think all the staff is trying to do here and I do agree -- that there is just too much 
to it.  So, I don't think staff is saying, yeah, go ahead and put in five, you know, let's -- 
that's what we need to meet for density, as long as you meet this other stuff.  I don't 
think that's what's happening here.  We have had a lot of applications that have come in 
and they have -- they have asked for a comp plan amendment to reduce, you know, the 
density.  So, in fact, we have had one tonight that was part of the application that comes 
in.  So, that is available to you to do here.  Does it fit in with the rest of the Ten Mile 
Plan?  I don't know.  Is there a plan that can go along with that?  We haven't seen one.  
But we do know that it's not meeting the spirit of the Ten Mile Plan.  Again, you know, I 
mean it kind of showed up to the location in the wrong attire.  So, yeah, all of this was 
known and I understand that there is some tension and that you are trying to navigate it,  
it's just in my mind it doesn't hit the mark.  So, the Ten Mile Plan is the Ten Mile Plan.  If 
you don't want to adhere to the Ten Mile Plan, don't build in that area.   
 
Clark: And I guess my question in response would be how do you adhere to the Ten 
Mile Plan in the -- in the medium high density residential area?  That's the rhetorical 
question that the city has to ask.   
 
Seal:  Sure.   
 
Clark:  Because there are conflicting goals in that policy document that have got this to 
a point where if you try to adhere to all of them you can't adhere to any of them and 
that's -- you know, that -- you know, to -- with the prom metaphor, you know, we came 
to it knowing what the Ten Mile Plan says and knowing the tension there and tried to 
address that by, you know, presenting something that gets as close to that density band 
is possible, but you just can't do it with everything that staff's asked for.   
 

40



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 37 of 41 

 

Seal:  Okay.   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith.   
 
Smith:  One -- one thing I want to add.  I know we looked at the comp plan slide a few 
times.  It feels like we are focusing laser target on those permitted uses and not really 
even discussing this conditional uses and that's something to my mind where 
conditional uses are there for a reason and I don't know if that -- if those -- I'm not trying 
to be prescriptive on what it should look like, because, you know, I'm not staff, I haven't 
seen any of -- I'm not you.  I'm just saying there -- there are -- there do also seem to be 
other areas to flex, it just also, you know, holding in tandem like, well, there are -- these 
are these policy -- policy documents, but they are constraining this excessively.  There 
is -- there is an inconsistency from where the code -- the code is kind of pushing you, 
there is also an inconsistency and to me I would -- I would personally prefer -- and I 
personally feel more comfortable, you know, like in Newkirk where, you know, staff had 
some asks and we didn't quite -- you know, there was -- there was negotiation and I 
think to your point we were a little lenient, but even, then, there was still a lot of 
discussion and consideration and pushing and trying to -- and it only kind of went 
through after it was clear that like this is really kind of the best we can get in this kind of 
configuration.  It just feels like we are not there and so I just -- I struggle with, you know, 
to what staff was saying about there initially being some multi-family or initially being 
some other areas and now that has been removed.  I'm sure there was a reason for it.  I 
don't know that that's necessarily relevant to tonight.  I just think that there is -- I look at 
those -- those things as areas that flex and I look at other instances of them being kind 
of flexing and push and prodded and massaged to build a better project.  I just don't 
think we are at the level of those other projects.  So, again, I don't know what that looks 
like.  I just -- you know, there is -- there is the -- the old saying, you know, I know it when 
I see it and I can't remember who originally said it, but, you know, it just -- it just doesn't 
get that -- the obscenity litmus test I guess.   
 
Clark:  Yeah.  Different -- different context.  Yeah.   
 
Smith:  Yeah.  I think that's just where I'm wrestling personally.  So, I don't know if you 
wanted to respond to that in the process here.  Maybe I'm missing something in that 
whole process of how we kind of massage it, that was really the best solution here.  I 
just -- I want to give you that opportunity and I'm wrestling with that a lot and I'm also 
wrestling with, you know, Newkirk and that's coming to bite us a little bit here, you now, 
if we approve this, you know, if you give a mouse a cookie, you are not saying you are 
the mouse here.   
 
Clark:  And I don't know that that's -- you know.  And I hope I don't sound offensive, but I 
don't know that that's a fair characterization of Newkirk..  Newkirk, we -- we had a long 
conversation about, okay, here is what you can do, here is what you can't do and, 
ultimately, the conclusion that everyone arrived at was, okay, do the alley loads here.  

41



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 38 of 41 

 

Do the single family detached here.  You know, we think that even though it's not 
perfect, it addresses enough; right?  That -- that was the conversation at Newkirk and 
there wasn't any special variance or, you know, waivers that were given.  What 
happened in Newkirk is what is exactly what should happen on every comprehensive 
plan question.  You have to look at the policies and decide which ones control and 
ultimately in Newkirk it was -- that was enough to be able to get to the density and still 
have the design elements.  So, otherwise, I -- you know, I don't know if -- I would 
probably just be repeating myself, Commissioner Smith, so -- but, you know, appreciate 
your comments and, you know, we obviously would take all of that into account, you 
know, in a recommendation and decide what to do next.   
 
Seal:  You looked -- you looked like you were going to go for it.   
 
Lorcher:  I will make sure it's --  
 
Seal:  Commissioners, all good?  Anything for closing?   
 
Clark:  No, I think -- I think I have done enough damage here tonight.   
 
Seal:  Thank you very much.  Appreciate it.   
 
Clark:  Thank you.   
 
Seal:  And with that, I will take a motion to close public hearing for File No. H-2023- 
0059 for Avani Neighborhood.   
 
Lorcher:  So moved.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to close the public hearing for File Number H-
2023-0049.  All in favor, please, say aye.  Opposed nay?  The public hearing is closed.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT. 
 
Seal:  Further comment?   
 
Lorcher: Mr. Chairman?  
 
Seal:  Go ahead,  
 
Lorcher:  So, I struggle on this for a couple different reasons.  We can't ignore staff 
comments, but we don't -- and I don't want to ignore the applicant's comments either 
and it just seems that the compromise of being able to make this work doesn't seem to 
be there.  I really see it as kind of a square and a circle and I know it's probably not part 
of the Ten Mile Plan, but I would like to see less density over there, but that's just me, 

42



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 39 of 41 

 

because with everything else going on over at that corner -- or that, you know, between 
Ten Mile, Black Cat, Franklin and the interchange with Farmstone being industrial and 
who knows what the heck's going across the street with Ada county over there, they 
have, you know, more high density housing on a corridor that's really going to be 
designed for a lot of manufacturing, brings me pause as a parent and as a subdivision,  
because now you are not only competing with high density, you are competing with 
trucks and manufacturing and light industrial, but that's not your problem, because that's 
not your project.  This is your project.  And the other thing is is that one of the reasons 
why we look at every application individually is that they are based on the merit of the 
application in front of us and, yes, we can use other applications and approvals as 
guidelines, but in and of itself this should stand alone.  So, you have a good memory.  I 
don't remember Newkirk and I'm sure I was here, but, you know, it just doesn't seem 
like the city and the applicant are close enough with a design plan to warrant annexation 
at this time.  I think conversations need to keep going.  Now, that doesn't mean you 
can't go to City Council, because they may see it completely different than we do.  They 
do these more than we do.  We are just a recommending body, we are not the decision 
makers.  So, with that in mind, knowing everything else that's going around, I appreciate 
the fact that you don't want to do multi-family housing there and I also appreciate that 
you don't want to do alley loaded, because you said that's a product that people don't 
really necessarily want to buy.  So, you want to be able to sell these individually as 
opposed to have rentals.  So, that part I like.  But at the same time you are not also 
considering looking at other zoning opportunities to be able to fit that in a different way.  
So, that conversation hasn't happened and you didn't consider it.  So, I just think right 
now for me, the city and what's in the best interest of the city, which is what we are 
charged to do and what you are proposing as an applicant are too far away.   
 
Smith:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Smith, go ahead.   
 
Smith:  Yeah.  I'm contrasting this a lot of the time.  I won't go into the specifics of the -- 
all the reasons why.  I think I have covered that a lot already, just be repeating myself.  
I'm just thinking contextually like there are a lot of times when there is opposition to a 
project that you are from the community or from, you know, some -- some well-meaning 
individual that, you know, on net it still is kind of the best project for the area for the city  
and my -- my thought at that time -- a lot of the time is -- is I feel for them.  I get where 
they are coming from.  I think on that it just still is -- is a better project and he is still on 
that good for the city.  I think here is the inverse.  I would not want to be in your shoes.  I 
think this is a tough position and I'm glad that I'm on this side of the dais tonight, so -- 
and I fully -- I totally any -- any -- any characterizations that are felt as unfair are totally, 
you know, not intentional.  I appreciate the work you have done in this area.  I just -- I 
just don't think this one is -- I feel for where you are at.  I get -- I get the different -- the 
pulls and pushes, I just -- I can't see it for this and so that's where I'm at.  Yeah.  I think 
anything more would be beating a dead horse.   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Rivera, anything else?   

43



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 40 of 41 

 

Rivera:  Yeah.  I'm just -- I felt like the common denominator here was just -- we are just 
too far apart.  We need to come up with something -- maybe add some dialogue -- 
dialogue and go back and see if there is a -- we can get closer to meeting in the middle.   
 
Seal:  And I appreciate everything that was said on both sides and the applicant brought 
up some very good points.  I mean some of this is difficult to reconcile when it's put that 
way, so -- I mean, you know, I'm -- I'm going to -- you know, my -- my vote is going to go 
towards supporting staff and, you know, the request for denial, but I do think it's in the 
city's best interest to definitely try to take some of the information that's been provided 
tonight and help to reconcile some of that in order to kind of maybe head something like 
this off in the future.  So, if R-15 isn't where it needs to be, it's okay.  I mean if that's in 
the spirit of the Ten Mile Plan, then, yeah, there has to be some other stuff that needs to 
happen.  But, you know, again, at -- I think part of the spirit of the Ten Mile Plan is to 
provide something different, not exactly the same as everywhere else you are going to 
see in the city and this has a lot of those characteristics I would say.  So, we have -- we 
have seen, you know, applications like this over and over and over again, where Ten 
Mile is somewhere where we don't want to see the same thing over and over and over 
as much as some of it might end up looking like that, so -- but I do appreciate all the 
dialogue tonight and appreciating everybody staying respectful for certain and with that I 
will take a motion.   
 
Lorcher:  Mr. Chair?   
 
Seal:  Commissioner Lorcher.  
 
Lorcher:  After considering all staff, applicant and public testimony, I move to 
recommend denial to the City Council for File No. H-2023-0049 as presented at the 
hearing of February 1st, 2024, for the following reasons:  I'm not done yet.  Wait, there 
is more.  Proposed -- for the following reasons:  The proposed annexation and 
preliminary plat I want that which aligns with the Ten Mile Plan and the R-15 designation 
and the inability for the current preliminary plat to meet those guidelines and not 
currently consider other alternative solutions for the parcel.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to recommend denial of File H-2023-0049 to City 
Council, with the affirmation of modifications I guess I should say.   
 
Lorcher:  Yes.   
 
Seal:  All in favor of denial say aye.  None opposed?  Motion is recommended for 
denial.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT.  
 

44



Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission 
February 1, 2024 
Page 41 of 41 

 

Seal:  All right.  Thanks, everyone.  And with that, unless staff has anything else?  
Nope?  Not tonight.  I will take one more motion.   
 
Rivera:  I will make a motion to adjourn.   
 
Smith:  Second.   
 
Seal:  It's been moved and seconded to adjourn.  All in favor say aye.  Any opposed?  
We are adjourned.  Thanks, everyone.   
 
MOTION CARRIED:  FOUR AYES.  ONE ABSENT. 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:15 P.M.   
 
(AUDIO RECORDING ON FILE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS. ) 
 
APPROVED 
 
_____________________________________   _____|_____|_____ 
ANDREW SEAL - CHAIRMAN    DATE APPROVED 
 
ATTEST:  
 
_____________________________________ 
CHRIS JOHNSON - CITY CLERK 

45



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law for WaFed (H-2023-0068) by WP5 
Meridian, LLC, located at 3423 E Ustick Rd. 

46



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S).  H-2023-0068    

  Page 1 

 

CITY OF MERIDIAN 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

AND 

DECISION & ORDER 

 

In the Matter of the Request for Conditional Use Permit for a Drive-through Establishment within 

300-feet of another Drive-through Facility and Residential Use and per Requirement of the 

Development Agreement for WaFed, Located at 3423 E. Ustick Rd. in the C-G Zoning District, by 

WP5 Meridian, LLC. 

Case No(s). H-2023-0068 

For the Planning & Zoning Commission Hearing Date of: February 1, 2024 (Findings on February 

15, 2024) 

 

A. Findings of Fact 

 

1. Hearing Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of February 1, 2024, incorporated by 

reference) 

 

2.   Process Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of February 1, 2024, incorporated by 

reference) 

 

3.  Application and Property Facts (see attached Staff Report for the hearing date of February 1, 

2024, incorporated by reference) 

 

4.  Required Findings per the Unified Development Code (see attached Staff Report for the hearing 

date of February 1, 2024, incorporated by reference) 

 

B.  Conclusions of Law 

 

1. The City of Meridian shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use 

Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503). 

 

2. The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission takes judicial notice of its Unified Development 

Code codified at Title 11 Meridian City Code, and all current zoning maps thereof. The City of 

Meridian has, by ordinance, established the Impact Area and the Amended Comprehensive Plan 

of the City of Meridian, which was adopted April 19, 2011, Resolution No. 11-784 and Maps. 

 

3. The conditions shall be reviewable by the City Council pursuant to Meridian City Code § 11-5A. 

 

4. Due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the governmental 

subdivisions providing services in the City of Meridian planning jurisdiction. 

 

5. It is found public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not impose 

expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed. 

 

6. That the City has granted an order of approval in  accordance with this decision, which shall be 

signed by the Chairman of the Commission and City Clerk and then a copy served by the Clerk 

47



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S).  H-2023-0068    

  Page 2 

upon the applicant, the Planning Department, the Public Works Department and any affected 

party requesting notice.  

 

7. That this approval is subject to the conditions of approval in the attached staff report for the 

hearing date of February 1, 2024, incorporated by reference. The conditions are concluded to be 

reasonable and the applicant shall meet such requirements as a condition of approval of the 

application. 

 

C.  Decision and Order   

 

Pursuant to the Planning & Zoning Commission’s authority as provided in Meridian City Code § 11-

5A and based upon the above and foregoing Findings of Fact which are herein adopted, it is hereby 

ordered that:  

 

1. The applicant’s request for conditional use permit is hereby approved in accord with the 

conditions of approval in the staff report for the hearing date of February 1, 2024, attached as 

Exhibit A. 

 

D.  Notice of Applicable Time Limits  

Notice of Two (2) Year Conditional Use Permit Duration  

Please take notice that the conditional use permit, when granted, shall be valid for a maximum 

period of two (2) years unless otherwise approved by the City in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.1. 

During this time, the applicant shall commence the use as permitted in accord with the 

conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of approval, and 

acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or structures on or 

in the ground.  For conditional use permits that also require platting, the final plat must be 

signed by the City Engineer within this two (2) year period in accord with UDC 11-5B-6F.2. 

Upon written request and filed by the applicant prior to the termination of the period in accord 

with 11-5B-6.F.1, the Director may authorize a single extension of the time to commence the 

use not to exceed one (1) two (2) year period. Additional time extensions up to two (2) years as 

determined and approved by the Commission may be granted. With all extensions, the Director 

or Commission may require the conditional use comply with the current provisions of Meridian 

City Code Title 11.   

E. Judicial Review 

Pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-6521(1)(d), if this final decision concerns a matter enumerated in Idaho 

Code § 67-6521(1)(a), an affected person aggrieved by this final  decision may, within twenty-eight 

(28) days after all remedies  have been exhausted, including requesting reconsideration of this final 

decision as provided by Meridian City Code § 1-7-10, seek judicial review of this final decision as 

provided by chapter 52, title 67, Idaho Code. This notice is provided as a courtesy;  the City of 

Meridian does not admit by this notice that this decision is subject to judicial review under LLUPA. 

F. Notice of Right to Regulatory Takings Analysis 

Pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 67-6521(1)(d) and  67-8003, an owner of private property that is the 

subject of a final decision may submit a written request with the Meridian City Clerk for a regulatory 

takings analysis. 

48



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S).  H-2023-0068    

  Page 3 

G. Attached:  Staff Report for the hearing date of February 1, 2024 

49



CITY OF MERIDIAN FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION & ORDER 

CASE NO(S).  H-2023-0068    

  Page 4 

By action of the Planning & Zoning Commission at its regular meeting held on the ___________ day of 

________________, 2024. 

 

COMMISSIONER ANDREW SEAL, CHAIRMAN  VOTED_______    

COMMISSIONER MARIA LORCHER, VICE CHAIRMAN VOTED_______   

  COMMISSIONER JARED SMITH    VOTED_______ 

  COMMISSIONER PATRICK GRACE    VOTED_______  

COMMISSIONER ENRIQUE RIVERA     VOTED_______ 

COMMISSIONER MATTHEW SANDOVAL    VOTED_______ 

COMMISSIONER BRIAN GARRETT     VOTED_______ 

 
 

     _____________________________ 
     Andrew Seal, Chairman 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Chris Johnson, City Clerk 

 

 

    Copy served upon the Applicant, the Planning and Development Services divisions of the Community 

Development Department, the Public Works Department and the City Attorney. 

 

 

By:__________________________________   Dated:________________________ 

     City Clerk’s Office 

 

 

 

50



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 1  
  

HEARING 
DATE: 

2/1/2024 
 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: WaFed – CUP  
H-2023-0068 

LOCATION: 3423 E. Ustick Rd. in the NW 1/4 of 
Section  4, T.3N., R.1E. (Lot 10, Block 1, 
Southeast Corner Marketplace 
Subdivision No. 2) 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

A Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is requested for a drive-through establishment within 300-feet of 
another drive-through facility and a residential use and per requirement of the development 
agreement. The site consists of 0.76-acre of land and is in the C-G zoning district. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

 

STAFF REPORT  

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT  

Description Details Page 
Acreage 0.76-acre  
Future Land Use Designation Mixed Use – Regional (MU-R)  
Existing Land Use Vacant/undeveloped land  
Proposed Land Use(s) Financial institution with a drive-through  
Current Zoning General Retail & Service Commercial (C-G)  
Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

NA  

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 
attendees:  

11/14/23  

History (previous approvals) AZ-03-022 (Kissler Dealy, DA Inst. #104093292); MI-07-
008 (Gateway Marketplace, amended DA Inst. 
#108080951) 

 

51

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/Browse.aspx?id=316270&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=12005&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=56927&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 2  
  

A. Project Area Maps 

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Andy Neff, WP5 Meridian, LLC – 2950 Airway Ave., Unit A9, Costa Mesa, CA 92626 

B. Owner:  

Same as Applicant 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
 
 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

52



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 3  
  

C. Representative: 

Same as Applicant 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 

Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 1/16/2024 

Radius notification mailed to 
properties within 300 feet 1/12/2024 

Site Posting Date 1/17/2024 

Next Door posting 1/10/2024 

  

V. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (HTTPS://WWW.MERIDIANCITY.ORG/COMPPLAN): 

Land Use:  
This property is designated Mixed Use – Regional (MU-R) on the Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM). 

The purpose of this designation is to provide a mix of employment, retail, and residential 
dwellings and public uses near major arterial intersections. The intent is to integrate a variety of 
uses together, including residential, and to avoid predominantly single use developments such as 
a regional retail center with only restaurants and other commercial uses. Developments should be 
anchored by uses that have a regional draw with the appropriate supporting uses.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICIES (https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan): 

Goals, Objectives, & Action Items: Staff finds the following Comprehensive Plan policies to be 
applicable to this application and apply to the proposed use of this property (staff analysis in 
italics): 

• “Require all new and reconstructed parking lots to provide landscaping in internal islands and 
along streets.” (2.01.04B) 

All parking lot landscaping is required to comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-
8C.  

•  “Permit new development only where urban services can be reasonably provided at the time 
of final approval and development is contiguous to the City.” (3.01.01F) 

City water and sewer service stubs were provided to this lot with development of the 
subdivision. 

• “Plan for a variety of commercial and retail opportunities within the Area of City Impact.” 
(3.05.01J) 

The proposed bank with a drive-through will contribute to the variety of uses and services in 
this area. 

53

https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan
https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 4  
  

• “Minimize noise, lighting, and odor disturbances from commercial developments to 
residential dwellings by enforcing city code.” (5.01.01F) 

Operation of the proposed use should comply with City ordinances pertaining to noise and 
lighting. 

VI. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The Applicant proposes to construct a new 3,100 square foot (s.f.) building with a drive-through for 
WaFed Bank on a 0.76-acre lot in the C-G zoning district.  

A financial institution is listed as a principal permitted use in the C-G zoning district per UDC Table 
11-2B-2, subject to the specific use standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-17. A drive-through establishment 
requires approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) when it’s within 300 feet of another drive-
through facility, an existing residence or a residential district per 11-4-3-11A.1. In this case, there are 
two (2) other drive-through establishments that exist within 300 feet of the property – ICCU to the 
west and Culver’s restaurant to the east; and existing residences within 300 feet of the property to the 
southeast. The existing development agreement also requires CUP approval of all uses on the site 
(AZ-03-022 Kissler Dealy, DA Inst. #104093292; MI-07-008 Gateway Marketplace, amended DA 
Inst. #108080951). 

Specific Use Standards: Staff’s analysis is in italics. 

• Drive-Through Establishment: The proposed drive-through establishment is subject to the 
specific use standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11, Drive-Through Establishment. All establishments 
providing drive-through service are required to identify the stacking lane, menu and speaker 
location (if applicable), and window location on the site plan. The proposed site plan depicts the 
stacking lane and service locations. 

The site plan is required to demonstrate safe pedestrian and vehicular access and circulation on 
the site and between adjacent properties. Pedestrian walkways are depicted on the site plan that 
should provide safe pedestrian connectivity to the south and to the north to the sidewalk along 
Ustick Rd. Vehicular access and circulation is provided on this site and with adjacent properties 
that should be safe. 

At a minimum, the plan is required to demonstrate compliance with the following standards:  

1) Stacking lanes have sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways, drive aisles and 
the public right-of-way by patrons;  

The stacking lane provides sufficient capacity to prevent obstruction of driveways and drive 
aisles by patrons. 

2) The stacking lane shall be a separate lane from the circulation lanes needed for access and 
parking, except stacking lanes may provide access to designated employee parking.  

The stacking lane is a separate lane.  

3) The stacking lane shall not be located within ten (10) feet of any residential district or existing 
residence;  

The stacking lane is not located within 10’ of any residential district or residence. 

4) Any stacking lane greater than one hundred (100) feet in length shall provide for an escape 
lane; and  

An escape lane is depicted on the site plan.  

5) The site should be designed so that the drive-through is visible from a public street for 

54

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-17FIIN
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances/387395?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=12005&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=56927&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 5  
  

surveillance purposes.   

The drive-through is located on the west side of the building and is visible from E. Ustick Rd. 

• Financial Institution: The proposed use is also subject to the specific use standards listed in 
UDC 11-4-3-17 for financial institutions, as follows: 

A. The location, access and safety features of all automated teller machines (ATMs) shall be 
subject to review and approval by the Meridian Police Department, and in accord with the 
standards set forth in section 11-3A-16 of this title. The Police Dept. has reviewed and 
approved the proposed site plan. 

B. All ATMs shall be deemed an accessory use to a financial institution.  

C. All approaches and entrances to ATMs should be highly visible and adequately lit so that 
people cannot loiter, or enter, without being seen. The addition of security cameras are highly 
recommended. One (1) ATM is located in the drive-through on the west side of the building 
visible from Ustick Rd. and two (2) others are located on the south side of the building visible 
from the parking lot and adjoining businesses. Wall sconces/lighting are depicted on the 
south elevation on both sides of the area where the ATM’s are located; lighting should also 
be provided on the west side of the building in the ATM location. Security cameras should 
be provided in all ATM locations. 

• Self-service Uses: Any unattended, self-service uses, including, but not limited to, 
laundromats, automatic teller machines (ATMs), vehicle washing facilities, fuel sales facilities, 
and storage facilities, shall comply with the following requirements. The Meridian Police Chief 
or designee may approve alternative standards where it is determined that a similar or greater 
level of security is provided. 

A. Entrance or view of the self-service facility shall be open to the public street or to adjoining 
businesses and shall have low impact security lighting. The ATM located on the west side of 
the building is visible from Ustick Rd.; the ATM’s located on the south side of the building 
are visible from the driveway along the east boundary of the site that provides access to the 
development via Ustick Rd. and from internal driveways and adjoining businesses. Wall 
sconces/lighting are depicted on the elevations on both sides of the area where the ATM’s 
are located on the south side of the building; lighting should also be provided in the ATM 
location on the west side of the building. 

B. Financial transaction areas shall be oriented to and visible from an area that receives a high 
volume of traffic, such as a collector or arterial street. The ATM on the west side of the 
building is visible from Ustick Rd., an arterial street; the ATM’s located on the south side 
of the building are not visible from a collector or arterial street but will be visible from the 
driveway along the east side of the property that provides access for the development via 
Ustick Rd.  

C. Landscape shrubbery shall be limited to no more than three (3) feet in height between 
entrances and financial transaction areas and the public street. The Appliance should 
comply with this standard; modifications to the existing street buffer landscaping along 
Ustick Rd. may be necessary. 

Dimensional Standards: Future development should be consistent with the dimensional standards 
listed in UDC Table 11-2B-3 for the C-G zoning district. 

Access: Access is proposed via the north/south driveway along the eastern boundary of the site and 
other existing driveways within the subdivision; direct access via E. Ustick Rd. is prohibited. A cross-
access easement (Inst. #106032444) exists between all lots in the subdivision as noted on the 

55

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-17FIIN
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 6  
  

Southeast Corner Marketplace Subdivision No. 2 plat (note #6). 

Parking: Off-street parking is required in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3C-6B.1, which 
requires one (1) space for every 500 square feet of gross floor area. Based on 3,100 s.f., a minimum 
of six (6) spaces are required; a total of 16 spaces are proposed, exceeding the minimum standards by 
10 spaces. 

A bicycle rack capable of holding at least one (1) bicycle is required per UDC 11-3C-6G; bicycle 
parking facilities are required to comply with the location and design standards listed in UDC 11-3C-
5C. A bike rack is depicted on the site plan; a detail should be included on the site plan submitted 
with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application that complies with the aforementioned 
design standards. 

Landscaping: Street buffer landscaping was installed within the street buffer along E. Ustick Rd. 
with the subdivision improvements as shown below: 

 
Parking lot landscaping is required to be provided in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-
8C, except for the perimeter buffer along the west boundary. Because there is an existing buffer with 
trees that meet UDC standards on the adjacent property to the west, no trees are required within the 
perimeter buffer on this site. The tree classification should be included in the Tree Schedule on 
the landscape plan to ensure compliance with UDC 11-3B-8C.1b. The perimeter buffer along 
the west boundary of the site in the area adjacent to parking shall be widened to a minimum of 
7 feet to allow for vehicle overhang in accord with UDC 11-3C-5B.4, unless wheel stops are 
provided (if wheel stops are provided, the length of the parking spaces must be 19 feet). Staff 
recommends the walkway in the southern parking area in the planter island is shifted to the 
east side of the island with all of the landscaping on the west side of the walkway to prevent 
“cut-throughs” by pedestrians through the landscape area to the walkway.  

Sidewalks: A detached sidewalk exists along the northern perimeter boundary of the site within the 
street buffer along E. Ustick Rd. A 5-foot wide pedestrian walkway is proposed from the perimeter 
sidewalk to the main building entrance in accord with UDC 11-3A-19.B.4. The walkway is required 
to be distinguished from the vehicular driving surface through the use of pavers, colored or 
scored concrete, or bricks; the site plan should be revised accordingly. 

Easements: There are existing easements on this lot as shown on the Southeast Corner Marketplace 
Subdivision No. 2 plat, included below; these easements should be depicted on the site plan to 
demonstrate the building doesn’t encroach within the easements.  

56

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-8PALOLA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-8PALOLA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-19STSIDEST


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 7  
  

   
 

Mechanical Equipment: All mechanical equipment on the back of the building or on the rooftop and 
all outdoor service and equipment should be incorporated into the overall design of buildings and 
landscaping so that the visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully contained and out of 
view from adjacent properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 11-3A-12.  

Trash Enclosure: The proposed location for the trash enclosure is within a City water/sewer 
easement; therefore, relocation of the enclosure is necessary outside of any and all easements. A 
receptacle for recycling should be provided within the trash enclosure; a detail should be 
submitted that demonstrates compliance. 

Building Elevations: Conceptual building elevations were submitted as shown in Section VIII.C for 
a single-story building that incorporates a mix of materials consisting of stucco with stone veneer 
accents and metal awnings and canopies. The final design shall be consistent with the design 
standards listed in the Architectural Standards Manual. 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance & Design Review: A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and 
Design Review application is required to be submitted for the proposed use prior to submittal of a 
building permit application to ensure consistency with the conditions in Section IX, UDC standards 
and design standards. 

VII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed conditional use permit with the conditions included 
in Section IX per the Findings in Section X. 

B.  The Meridian Planning & Zoning Commission heard this item on February 1, 2024. At the public 
hearing, the Commission moved to approve the subject CUP request. 

 1. Summary of the Commission public hearing: 
  a. In favor: Andy Neff, WP5 Meridian, LLC (Applicant’s Representative) 
  b. In opposition: None 
  c. Commenting: None 
  d. Written testimony: Andy Neff, WP5 Meridian, LLC (Applicant’s Representative) 

57

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 8  
  

  e. Staff presenting application: Sonya Allen 
  f. Other Staff commenting on application: None 
 2. Key issue(s) of public testimony: 
  a. None 
 3. Key issue(s) of discussion by Commission: 
  a. None 
 4. Commission change(s) to Staff recommendation: 
  a. None 

  

58



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 9  
  

VIII. EXHIBITS  

A. Proposed Site Plan (dated: 10/16/23) 

 

59



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 10  
  

B. Proposed Landscape Plan (dated: 10/12/23) 

  

60



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 11  
  

C. Floor Plan & Building Elevations (dated: 10/16/23) 

 

 

61



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 12  
  

 

 

62



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 13  
  

IX. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. PLANNING 

1. Future development of this site shall comply with the previous conditions of approval and 
terms of the existing Development Agreements and the conditions contained herein [AZ-03-
022 (Kissler Dealy, DA Inst. #104093292); MI-07-008 (Gateway Marketplace, DA Inst. 
#108080951). 

2. The site plan and landscape plan submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance 
application shall be revised as follows: 

a. All mechanical equipment on the back of the building and outdoor service and equipment 
areas shall be depicted on the plans and incorporated into the overall design of buildings 
and landscaping so that the visual and acoustic impacts of these functions are fully 
contained and out of view from adjacent properties and public streets as set forth in UDC 
11-3A-12. 

b. The pedestrian walkway from the perimeter sidewalk along E. Ustick Rd. to the main 
building entrance shall be distinguished from the vehicular driving surface through the 
use of pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks as set forth in UDC 11-3A-19B.4b. 

c. Include the tree classification in the Tree Schedule that demonstrates compliance with the 
standards in UDC 11-3B-8C.1b. 

d. Include a detail for the bicycle rack that complies with the design standards listed in UDC 
11-3C-5C. 

e. Depict the existing easements on this lot as shown on the Southeast Corner Marketplace 
Subdivision No. 2 plat – no structures shall encroach in any existing easements; relocate 
the trash enclosure accordingly.  

f. Landscape shrubbery shall be limited to no more than three (3) feet in height between 
entrances and financial transaction areas and the public street as set forth in UDC 11-3A-
16C; modifications to the landscaping in the existing street buffer along Ustick Rd. may 
be necessary. 

g. The perimeter buffer along the west boundary of the site in the area adjacent to parking 
shall be widened to a minimum of 7 feet to allow for vehicle overhang in accord with 
UDC 11-3C-5B.4 unless wheel stops are provided (if wheel stops are provided, the length 
of the parking spaces shall be 19 feet). 

h. Shift the walkway in the southern parking area in the planter island to the east side of the 
island with all of the landscaping on the west side of the walkway to prevent “cut-
throughs” by pedestrians through the landscape area to the walkway.  

3. Compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-4-3-11 – Drive-Through Establishment, 11-
4-3-17 – Financial Institution and 11-3A-16 Self-service Uses is required. 

4. Lighting and security cameras shall be provided in all ATM locations in accord with UDC 11-
3A-16A and 11-4-3-17C. 

5. Direct access E. Ustick Rd. is prohibited. 

6. A receptacle for recycling shall be provided within the trash enclosure; include a detail of the 
trash enclosure that demonstrates compliance. 

7. A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Design Review application shall be submitted and 
approved for the proposed use prior to submittal of a building permit application. The design 

63

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=12005&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=56927&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-12OUSEEQAR
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-8PALOLA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-16SERVUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-16SERVUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-17FIIN
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-17FIIN
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-16SERVUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-16SERVUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-16SERVUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-17FIIN


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 14  
  

of the site and structure shall comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-19 and the design 
standards listed in the Architectural Standards Manual.  

8. The conditional use permit is valid for a maximum period of two (2) years unless otherwise 
approved by the City. During this time, the Applicant shall commence the use as permitted in 
accord with the conditions of approval, satisfy the requirements set forth in the conditions of 
approval, and acquire building permits and commence construction of permanent footings or 
structures on or in the ground as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6. A time extension may be requested 
as set forth in UDC 11-5B-6F. 

B.  PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325913&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity  

C.    ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325915&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity      

D. POLICE DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331451&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity  

E. IDAHO TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT (ITD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=328631&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity   

X. FINDINGS 

Conditional Use (UDC 11-5B-6) 

Findings: The commission shall base its determination on the conditional use permit request upon the 
following: 

1. That the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed use and meet all the dimensional and 
development regulations in the district in which the use is located. 

The Commission finds the site is large enough to accommodate the proposed development and 
meet all dimensional and development regulations of the C-G zoning district. 

2. That the proposed use will be harmonious with the Meridian comprehensive plan and in accord 
with the requirements of this title. 

The Commission finds the proposed financial institution with a drive-through will be harmonious 
with the Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with applicable UDC standards with the 
conditions noted in Section IX of this report. 

3. That the design, construction, operation and maintenance will be compatible with other uses in 
the general neighborhood and with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity and 
that such use will not adversely change the essential character of the same area. 

The Commission finds the design, construction, operation and maintenance of the proposed use 
will be compatible with other uses in the general neighborhood, with the existing and intended 
character of the vicinity and will not adversely change the essential character of the area. 

64

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH4SPUSST_11-4-3-11DRROES
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-6COUS
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325913&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325913&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325915&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=325915&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331451&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331451&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=328631&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=328631&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

 Page 15  
  

4. That the proposed use, if it complies with all conditions of the approval imposed, will not 
adversely affect other property in the vicinity. 

The Commission finds the proposed use will not adversely affect other properties in the vicinity if 
it complies with the conditions in Section IX of this report. 

5. That the proposed use will be served adequately by essential public facilities and services such as 
highways, streets, schools, parks, police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, 
water, and sewer. 

The Commission finds the proposed use will be served by essential public facilities and services 
as required. 

6. That the proposed use will not create excessive additional costs for public facilities and services 
and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

The Commission finds the proposed use will not create additional costs for public facilities and 
services and will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7. That the proposed use will not involve activities or processes, materials, equipment and 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any persons, property or the general welfare by 
reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare or odors. 

The Commission finds the proposed use will not be detrimental to any persons, property or the 
general welfare by the reasons noted above. 

8. That the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of a natural, scenic or 
historic feature considered to be of major importance. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-15-2005) 

The Commission finds the proposed use will not result in the destruction, loss or damage of any 
such features. 

9.  Additional findings for the alteration or extension of a nonconforming use: 

a.  That the proposed nonconforming use does not encourage or set a precedent for additional 
nonconforming uses within the area; and, 

 This finding is not applicable. 

b.  That the proposed nonconforming use is developed to a similar or greater level of conformity 
with the development standards as set forth in this title as compared to the level of 
development of the surrounding properties. 

 ` This finding is not applicable. 

65



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing for Kilgore (H-2023-0063) by Alexi Kilgore, Located at 1105 N. 
Meridian Rd.
Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0063

A. Request:  Rezone 0.16 acres of land from the R-4 zoning district to the O-T zoning district for 

the purpose of coverting the existing home into a hair salon.

66



  
 

 

 
 
 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Request to rezone 0.34 acres of land from the R-4 zoning district to the O-T zoning district for the 
purpose of converting the existing home into a hair salon. 

 

A. Project Summary 
 

Description Details Page 
Acreage Rezone - 0.34 of an acare 
Future Land Use Designation Old Town  
Existing Land Use(s) Single-family residential 
Proposed Land Use(s) Professional Service – Hair Salon  
Lots (# and type; bldg./common) 1 lot 
Phasing Plan (# of phases) NA  

Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

No unique physical features 

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 
attendees: 

11/09/2023  

History (previous approvals) None  

 
 
 

Page 1 

STAFF REPORT 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

 

HEARING 
DATE: 

2/15/2023 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Stacy Hersh, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: Kilgore RZ 
H-2023-0063 
 

LOCATION: 1105 N Meridian Road 
 

67

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/Browse.aspx?id=316295&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


Page 2  

B. Community Metrics 
 

Description Details Page 
Ada County Highway District   

• Staff report (yes/no) Yes  

• Requires ACHD Commission 
Action (yes/no) 

No  

Access (Arterial/Collectors/State 
Hwy/Local)(Existing and Proposed) 

Access occurs from N. Meridian Road via an alleyway off of 
W. Washington Street. Carlton Avenue (located to the south 
of this site), is an eastbound one-way street that exits to 
Meridian Road. 

 

Stub Street/Interconnectivity/Cross 
Access 

 

Existing Road Network Meridian Road is improved with 5-travel lanes, vertical curb, 
gutter, and 7-foot wide sidewalk abutting the site.  Carlton 
Avenue, an eastbound one-way street, is improved with 33-
feet of pavement, vertical curb, and no sidewalk abutting the 
site.  The existing 16-foot wide one-way alley running 
north/south in between Carlton Avenue and Washington 
Street is unimproved.   

 

Existing Arterial Sidewalks / 
Buffers 

There is an existing 7-foot wide sidewalk along Meridian  
Road and existing landscape buffer to remain.  

Proposed Road Improvements No road improvements are required.  
Fire Service No comments  

Police Service No comments  

Wastewater 
• Comments • No changes to public sewer infrastructure shown in 

records. Any changes need to be approved by public 
works. 

 

Water 
Distance to Water Services • No changes to public water infrastructure shown in 

records. Any changes need to be approved by public 
works. 

• Distance to Service – Water available at site 
• Pressure Zone – 2 
• Estimated ERU – See Application 
• Water Quality Concerns – None 
• Project Consistent with Master Plan – Yes 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68



Page 3  

C. Project Area Maps 
 

Future Land Use Map Aerial Map 
 

  
                       Zoning Map Planned Development Map 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 

69



Page 4  

II. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Alexis Kilgore, Hair by Lexie Kilgore – 1105 N. Meridian Road, Meridian, ID 83634 

B. Owner: 

Same as above 
 

III. NOTICING 
 

 Planning & Zoning 
Posting Date 

City Council 
Posting Date 

Newspaper Notification 1/30/2024  

Radius notification mailed to 
properties within 500 feet 1/26/2024 

 

Sign Posting 2/2/2024  

Nextdoor posting 1/29/2024  

 
IV. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (HTTPS://WWW.MERIDIANCITY.ORG/COMPPLAN): 

Land Use: 
This property is designated Old Town (O-T) on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM). 

This designation includes the historic downtown and the true community center. The boundary of 
the Old Town district predominantly follows Meridian’s historic plat boundaries. In several areas, 
both sides of a street were incorporated into the boundary to encourage similar uses and 
complimentary design of the facing houses and buildings. Sample uses include offices, retail and 
lodging, theatres, restaurants, and service retail for surrounding residents and visitors. A variety of 
residential uses are also envisioned and could include reuse of existing buildings, new construction 
of multi-family residential over ground floor retail or office uses. 
Proposed Use: The Applicant proposes to develop the site with a personal service, Hair by Lexie 
Kilgore, which will feature four (4) stations.  The proposed changes to the interior of the building 
will include updates to the bathroom, floors, and the addition of sinks. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICIES (https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan): 

Goals, Objectives, & Action Items: Staff finds the following Comprehensive Plan policies to be 
applicable to this application and apply to the proposed use of this property (staff analysis in italics): 

 
• “Support a compatible mix of land uses Downtown that activate the area during day and night.” 

(2.09.02G). Introducing a personal service, such as a hair salon, into the Downtown area 
presents an opportunity for increased foot traffic and commerce to occur within a desired 
location during the day and early evening.  This addition contributes to the overall appeal and 
character of Downtown Meridian. The proposed operational hours are from Tuesday to 
Saturday, 10:00 am to 6:00 pm.  This new commercial use should be a welcome addition to the 
other uses in the surrounding area. 

• “Support owners of historic buildings in their efforts to restore and/or preserve their properties. 
(5.02.01B). Permitting the establishment of personal services in a historical downtown home 
has the potential to share knowledge and history regarding both Meridian and the specific 
house. This, in turn, is likely to boost the economic impact of more foot traffic, leading to the 
growth of other historical sites in the downtown area. 

70

https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan
https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan


Page 5  

• Work with Ada County Highway District (ACHD) to identify gaps in the sidewalk system and 
pursue sidewalk construction for existing substandard streets.(6.01.01I)  The intention is to 
initiate and pursue sidewalk construction with development projects on streets that currently fall 
below the established standards.  The construction of a  5-foot wide sidewalk connection along 
W. Carlton Avenue by the Applicant is intended to enhance pedestrian infrastructure, ensuring 
safer and more accessible walkways in the community, especially for the children walking to the 
adjacent elementary school.  Additionally, provides convenient pedestrian access from the 
nearby residential areas to the proposed business. 

 
V. UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE (UDC) 

The proposed use, personal service for a hair salon is listed as a principally permitted use in the O-T 
(Old Town) zoning district per UDC Table 11-2C-2. Compliance with the standards listed in UDC 11-
2D-3 and 11-2D-4 is required. 

 
VI. STAFF ANALYSIS 

A. Rezone (RZ): 
The Applicant is requesting to rezone 0.34 acres of land from R-4 to O-T to operate a personal  
service for a hair salon on the subject property.  A legal description and exhibit map for the 
rezone area is included in Section VIII.A. This property is within the City’s Area of City Impact 
boundary. 

Personal services - The use of a site for the provision of individualized services generally 
related to personal needs. Personal service uses include, but are not limited to, beauty services 
such as salons, hair, nail and skin care, spa, and barbers; fitness training and instruction; 
locksmiths; and repairs such as footwear and leather goods, and watches, are listed as a 
principal permitted use in the O-T (Old Town) zoning district per UDC Table 11-2C-2. 
The proposed 1,193-square-foot hair salon will be located in the downtown area within the 
Meridian Urban Renewal District. The building was built in 1948 and is slated for further 
improvements to meet city code requirements and enhance the customer experience. The rear 
porch will be expanded to include an ADA ramp, and the Applicant will be required to pave the 
alley adjacent to the property.  Additionally, 5 parking stalls are proposed to be paved adjacent to 
the alley. 

The proposed hours of operation would be from Tuesday to Saturday, 10:00 am to 6:00 pm. 

The City may require a development agreement (DA) in conjunction with a rezone 
pursuant to Idaho Code section 67-6511A. Due to the size of the development, Staff believes 
a DA should not be required. 

 
Dimensional Standards (UDC 11-2): 
The existing home meets all dimensional standards. 
Access (UDC 11-3A-3): 
Access is provided via an alleyway to the north from W. Washington Street.  The public street to the 
south of this property, W. Carlton Avenue, operates as a one-way only leading eastward towards N. 
Meridian Road. 

Parking (UDC 11-3C): 
The existing home has unpaved parking off of the alleyway, with space for up to 5 parking stalls.  
There is currently no off-street parking on this site. The Applicant is required to pave both the alley 
and the 5 proposed parking stalls with the development of the site upon submittal of a future 
Certificate of Zoning Compliance Application.  Wheel restraints should be added to prevent 
overhanging beyond the designated parking stall dimension in accordance with UDC 11-3C-

71

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTDTRNEDI_11-2D-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTCINDI_11-2C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTCINDI_11-2C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTDTRNEDI_11-2D-4STOLTODI
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTDTRNEDI_11-2D-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTDTRNEDI_11-2D-1PU
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-3ACST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE


Page 6  

5.B(3).  Additionally, ACHD recommends paving the entire width of the alley from the edge of 
pavement from Carlton Avenue to the site’s northern property line and providing 20-feet of back-
up area from any parking The alley should be signed with “No Parking” signs.  

Old-Town is classified as a Traditional Neighborhood zoning district and no off-street parking is 
required for a lawfully existing structure unless an addition occurs (UDC 11-3C-6B). No additions 
are proposed with this project except for expanding the rear entry area. The Applicant is providing 
5 parking stalls off the alley which meets the required number of off-street parking spaces (2 spaces 
required) per UDC 11-3C-6B.3 for the Traditional Neighborhood district.  

A minimum of one (1) bicycle parking space is required to be provided based on one (1) space for 
every 25 vehicle spaces or portion thereof per UDC 11-3C-6G; bicycle parking facilities are required 
to comply with the location and design standards listed in UDC 11-3C-5C.  The site plan does not 
include bicycle racks. The Applicant should revise the plans and include one (1) bicycle rack and 
submit a detail of the bicycle rack with the CZC submittal. 

Sidewalks (UDC 11-3A-17): 
There is an existing 7-foot wide attached sidewalk on N. Meridian Road along the existing property 
frontage.  Staff does not recommend any additional changes to the frontage improvements.  The 
Applicant is proposing installation of a 4-foot wide sidewalk along the southern boundary of the 
site, extending from the parking stalls to the main entrance.  All sidewalks around buildings and 
serving public street shall be a minimum of five (5) feet in width in accordance with UDC 11-3A-
17.  Both ACHD and Staff recommend that the Applicant construct a 5-foot wide detached 
concrete sidewalk abutting the site along W. Carlton Avenue connecting to the sidewalk along N. 
Meridian Road.  Additionally, Staff recommends that the Applicant remove the 4-foot sidewalk 
proposed on the south side of the property boundary and add a 5-foot sidewalk in front of the 
entire parking area.  Staff strongly encourages the Applicant to include a parkway along W. 
Carlton Avenue with trees, bushes, lawn, or other vegetative cover in accordance with UDC 11-
3B-7.C. 

A continuous internal pedestrian walkway that is a minimum of five (5) feet in width shall be 
provided from the perimeter sidewalk to the main building entrance(s) for nonresidential uses. 
The walkway width shall be maintained clear of any obstructions, such as vehicles, outdoor sale 
displays, vending machines, or temporary structures.  Staff recommends that the Applicant 
connect the proposed sidewalk at the main entrance of the building to the required sidewalk to 
be installed along W. Carlton Avenue. This may require the removal of a section of the fencing 
on the south side of the property (refer to redline on site plan below).   

 

72

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-17SIPA


Page 7  

 Landscaping (UDC 11-3B): 
The Applicant is not proposing any additional landscaping to be added to the site with this project.  
For additions less than twenty-five (25) percent of the existing structure or developed area, no 
additional landscaping shall be required except for buffers to adjacent residential uses in 
accordance with UDC 11-3B-2D(1).  As mention above, Staff strongly encourages the Applicant 
to include a parkway along W. Carlton Avenue with trees, bushes, lawn, or other vegetative cover 
in accordance with UDC 11-3B-7.C. 

Fencing (UDC 11-3A-6, 11-3A-7): 
The Applicant intends to remove the existing fencing on the west side of the property adjacent to the 
stalls.   As mentioned above, a portion of the fencing on the south side of the property should be 
removed to accommodate for the pedestrian walkway to the main entrance of the building.  The 
existing fencing surrounding a small patio in the front yard does comply with UDC code 
requirements for fencing, as the maximum height for a front yard fence is 3-feet for closed vision 
fences or 4-feet for open vision fences. No additional fencing is proposed.  Staff recommends 
that the Applicant remove the existing fencing surrounding the front yard patio with fencing 
that complies with the UDC Code (refer to picture below). 

 

Outdoor Lighting (UDC 11-3A-11): 
All outdoor lighting is required to comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-11C. 

Building Elevations: 
Conceptual building elevations and perspectives were submitted for the existing structure as shown 
in Section IX.D. The building consists of existing siding, facia trim, asphalt roof shingles and new 
wood deck with railing and ADA ramp. As stated above in this report, the only new additions to the 
structure is the rear entry. 

The proposed elevations are not approved with this application and will be reviewed with the 
Design Review application for consistency with the design standards listed in the Architectural 
Standards Manual. Full compliance with the ASM is not required based on the limited scope of 
work associated with this project. 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance (UDC 11-5B-1): 

A Certificate of Zoning Compliance (CZC) is required to be submitted for the proposed use 
and site changes prior to submittal of a building permit application to ensure compliance with 
UDC standards and staff comments listed in Section IX. 

 

73

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id&section_id=1165293&1165293
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id&section_id=1165294&1165294
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-11OULI
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards
https://meridiancity.org/planning/current/architectural-standards
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-1CEZOCO


Page 8  

VII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed rezone from R-4 to O-T per the Comments in 
Section IX and the Findings in Section X of this report. 

74



Page 9  

VIII. EXHIBITS 

A. Rezoning Legal Description and Exhibit Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

75



Page 10  

 

 
 

76



Page 11  

 
B. Site Plan  

 
 

 
 

77



Page 12  

C. Elevations 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78



Page 13  

D. Pictures of Existing Home  
 

 
 
 
 

  
 

79



Page 14  

 
 

 

80



Page 15  

IX. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS 

A. PLANNING 

Staff Comments: 
 

1. The maximum number of allowable customers at the facility at one time at any given time must 
not exceed the maximum occupant load specified in the Fire Code. 

 
2. Prior to building permit submittal, the Applicant shall obtain Certificate of Zoning Compliance 

and Design Review approval to establish the use and approval for the exterior modifications to 
the building. 

 
3. The site and landscape plans submitted with the Certificate of Zoning Compliance application 

shall depict the following: 

a. Construct a 5-foot wide concrete sidewalk abutting the site along W. Carlton Avenue 
connecting to the existing sidewalk along N. Meridian Road and construct a 5-foot wide 
sidewalk in front of the parking stalls. 

b. Connect the proposed sidewalk to the main entrance of the building (rear) to the required 
sidewalk to be installed along W. Carlton Avenue.   Additionally, remove a section of the 
fencing on the south side of the property to provide access to the main entrance. 

c. Pave the entire width of the alley from the edge of pavement from Carlton Avenue to the site’s 
northern property line; provide 20-feet of back-up space from any parking stall. 

d. Install wheel restraints in front of the 5 parking stalls in accordance with UDC 11-3C-5.B(3). 

e. Install “No Parking” signs along the alley. 

f. Remove the existing fencing surrounding the front yard patio with fencing that complies with 
UDC Code 11-3A-7. 

g. Remove the existing fencing situated on the west side of the property in front of the proposed 
parking stalls. 

h. Include a bicycle rack and a detail of the bicycle rack with the CZC submittal. 

i. Install “No Parking” signs along the alley. 
 

4. Direct lot access from N. Meridian Road is prohibited. 
 

B. NAMPA MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331488&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&c
r=1 

C. IDAHO TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330209&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity 

D. IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF ENVRONTMENTAL QUALITY (DEQ) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330210&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity 

E. ACHD 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331687&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity 
 

81

https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id&section_id=1165294&1165294
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331488&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331488&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330209&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330210&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331687&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


Page 16  

X. FINDINGS 
 

A. Annexation and/or Rezone (UDC 11-5B-3E) 

Required Findings: Upon recommendation from the commission, the council shall make a full 
investigation and shall, at the public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an 
annexation and/or rezone, the council shall make the following findings: 

 
1. The map amendment complies with the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan; 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment to rezone the property from the R-4 zoning 
district to the O-T zoning district is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

2. The map amendment complies with the regulations outlined for the proposed districts, 
specifically the purpose statement; 
Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment complies with the regulations outlined in the 
requested Old Town designation. 

3. The map amendment shall not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, and 
welfare; 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment should not be detrimental to the public 
health, safety and welfare. 

4. The map amendment shall not result in an adverse impact upon the delivery of services by 
any political subdivision providing public services within the city including, but not limited 
to, school districts; and 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment will not result in an adverse impact on the 
delivery of services by any political subdivision providing public services within the City. 

5. The annexation (as applicable) is in the best interest of city. 

Subject site is already annexed so staff finds this finding nonapplicable. 

82



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing continued from February 01, 2024 for Farmstone Crossing 
Subdivision (H-2023-0045) by Bailey Engineering, located at 820 S. Black Cat Rd.
Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0045

A. Request: Annexation of 33.893 acres of land from RUT to the M-E (Mixed Employment) zoning

district.             B. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 6 buildable lots on 27.59 acres of land in 

the proposed M-E (Mixed Employment) zoning district.

83



 
 

 Page 1  
  

HEARING 
DATE: 

February 15,  2023  
 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Stacy Hersh, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: Farmstone Crossing Subdivision AZ, 
PP 
H-2023-0045 

LOCATION: 820 S. Black Cat Road in the Northwest 
¼ of the Southwest ¼ of Section 15, 
T.3N. R.1W. 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Applicant has submitted an application for the following: 

• Annexation of 33.89 acres of land from RUT to the M-E (Mixed Employment) zoning 
district. 

• Preliminary Plat consisting of 6 building lots and 1 common lot on 27.47-acres of land in the 
M-E zoning district for Farmstone Crossing Subdivision.  

NOTE: This project has undergone multiple continuances to allow more time for the plans to 
be modified.  The staff report and conditions of approval have been updated accordingly to 
reflect the most recent changes. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

a. Project Summary 
Description Details Page 
Acreage 33.89 acres overall  
Existing/Proposed Zoning RUT in Ada County; M-E (Mixed Employment)    
Future Land Use Designation Mixed Employment (ME)  
Existing Land Use(s) Vacant/agricultural land  
Proposed Land Use(s) light industrial, commercial/office, research and 

development, and other uses. 
 

Lots (# and type; bldg./common) 5 buildable lots and 1 common lot  
Phasing Plan (# of phases) 2 phases (plat)  
Number of Residential Units (type 
of units) 

NA  

STAFF REPORT 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

84

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/Browse.aspx?id=308299&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1


 

 Page 2  
  

Description Details Page 
Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

None  

Neighborhood meeting date; # of 
attendees: 

7/06/2023   

History (previous approvals) None  
 

b. Community Metrics 
Description Details Pg. 
Ada County Highway District   

• Staff report (yes/no) Yes  
• Requires ACHD 

Commission Action 
(yes/no) 

No 
No.  A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was submitted. 

 

Access 
(Arterial/Collectors/State 
Hwy/Local)(Existing and 
Proposed) 

Access is proposed from the new collector road (Vanguard Way) 
that connects to Black Cat Road (arterial road). Vanguard Way 
will be constructed prior to development commencing on the 
property. 
 

 

Traffic Level of Service  

 

 

Stub 
Street/Interconnectivity/Cross 
Access 

Cross access with BVA’s development to the east  

Existing Road Network  Black Cat Road & Franklin Road  
Existing Arterial Sidewalks / 
Buffers 

 None  

Proposed Road Improvements 

 

 

Fire Service   
• Distance to Fire 

Station 
2 miles  

• Fire Response Time This project currently falls on an area where we don’t have a total 
response times that meet NFPA 1710 standards or current City of 
Meridian adopted standards.  The first due station is Fire Station 
2.  This fire station is approximately 3.5 miles from the project. 

 

• Resource Reliability 82% - does meet the target goal of 80% or greater   
• Risk Identification 3 – current resources would not be adequate to supply service to 

this project.  Risk factors include fire fighting in large 
commercial warehouses.  This entails a great risk for the 
occupants as well ad firs responders.   

 

• Accessibility Project meets all required access, road widths and turnaround.  
• Special/resource 

needs 
In the event of a hazmat event, there will need to be mutual aid 
required for the development.  In the event of a structure fire an 

 

85



 

 Page 3  
  

Description Details Pg. 
additional truck company will be required, This will require 
additional time delays as a second truck company may not be 
available in the City. 

• Water Supply Water supply for this proposed development required 4750 
gallons per minute for two hours. 

 

• Other Resources   
Wastewater   

• Distance to Sewer 
Services 

   

• Sewer Shed    
• Estimated Project 

Sewer ERU’s 
   

• WRRF Declining 
Balance 

   

• Project Consistent 
with WW Master 
Plan/Facility Plan 

   

• Impacts/concerns • Flow is committed 
• See Public Works Site Specific Conditions in Section VII.B 

 

   
   
Water   

• Distance to Water 
Services 

Water available on-site   

• Pressure Zone 2  
• Estimated Project 

Water ERU’s 
See application  

• Water Quality 
Concerns 

None  

• Project Consistent 
with Water Master 
Plan 

Yes  

• Impacts/Concerns • If a well is located on the site it must be abandoned per 
regulatory requirements and proof of abandonment must be 
provided to the City. 

• Each phase of the development will need to be modeled to 
verify minimum fire flow pressure is maintained. 

• 12” water main in Vanguard needs to be on the north side of 
the road, currently shown in the center of the road. 

• See Public Works Site Specific Conditions in Section VIII.B 

 

 

  

86



 

 Page 4  
  

c. Project Area Maps 

 

A. Applicant: 

Judy Schmidt, Bailey Engineering – 1119 E. State Street, Suite 210, Eagle, ID 83616 

B. Owners: 

Corey Barton, Endurance Holdings, LLC – 1977 E. Overland Road, Meridian, ID 83642 

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 
  

Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

87



 

 Page 5  
  

C. Representative:  Shawn Brownlee, Trilogy Development  – 9839 W. Cable Car Street, Suite 101, 
Boise, ID 83709 

III. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 
Posting Date 

City Council 
Posting Date 

Notification published in 
newspaper 10/17/2023   

Notification mailed to property 
owners within 500 feet 10/14/2023   

Applicant posted public hearing 
notice on site 10/20/2023   

Nextdoor posting 10/16/2023   

IV. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS (Comprehensive Plan and Ten Mile Interchange Specific 
Area Plan) 

Land Use: The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) contained in the Comprehensive Plan designates the 
20.5+/- acres as Mixed Employment (ME). 

ME: The purpose of ME designated areas is to encourage a diversity of compatible land uses that 
may include a mixture of office, research and specialized employment areas, light industrial including 
manufacturing and assembly, and other miscellaneous uses. These areas generally do not include 
retail and consumer service uses serving the wider community. However, a small amount of retail and 
service establishments, primarily serving employees and users of the ME areas or nearby industrial 
areas, are allowed. ME areas should provide a variety of flexible sites for small, local or start-up 
businesses, as well as sites for large national or regional enterprises. ME areas should be designed to 
encourage multimodal travel and convenient circulation to supporting uses located within the area.  

This ME-designated area is intended to develop with a mix of uses, across six (6) structures totaling 
378,360 s.f., which may include office, light industrial, along with research and development and/or 
distribution and light manufacturing.  Buildings will range in size from 21,280 up to 185,760 square 
feet.  The project is adjacent to Mixed Employment designated land on the east, light industrial to the 
west, I-84 to the south, and RUT to the north proposed to be annexed as medium-high density 
residential.  This site will have access to a collector street as desired. The proposed M-E zoning 
encompasses the entire 27.466 acres that is currently designated ME on the FLUM  - See Pg. 3-11 in 
the TMISAP for more information on the ME designation (see cut sheet below). 

88

https://www.meridiancity.org/compplan
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/10mile-191217-Full.pdf
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/10mile-191217-Full.pdf


 

 Page 6  
  

 

89



 

 Page 7  
  

 

Transportation: The Transportation System Map in the TMISAP depicts a collector street through 
this site that connects to S. Black Cat Rd. an adjacent arterial street. The collector street network 
depicted on the proposed development plan is generally consistent with the Transportation System 
Map (see pg. 3-18 in the TMISAP). 

The Street Section Map depicts Vanguard (major collector) as being appropriate to provide access 
from adjacent arterial streets (i.e. Black Cat, Franklin & Ten Mile Roads) into the employment area. 
Streetlights should be located in the tree lawn area and should be of a pedestrian scale.  

90



 

 Page 8  
  

 
The collector street (i.e. Vanguard Way) in the commercial mixed-use area of the development should 
be constructed in accord with this street section with the following exceptions as required by ACHD: 
(3) travel lanes instead of (2); and 10-foot wide detached sidewalks/pathways instead of 6-foot wide 
detached sidewalks in lieu of on-street bike lanes.  

Design: The TMISAP emphasizes the quality of the built environment and includes recommendations 
on the location, scale, form, height and design quality of public and private buildings in the form of 
building placement, orientation, and massing; types and design treatments for building frontages; as 
well as recommendations for the incorporation of art in public and private projects.  

The design elements in the Plan are intended to serve as the basic framework for any given project 
within the Ten Mile Area. The primary components that the design elements address include: 
architecture and cultural heritage; building placement whereby build-to lines are identified; heights 
and step backs; the definition of a base, body and top; and frontage types.  

The proposed development should be designed in the accord with the TMISAP (see pgs. 3-31 
thru 3-51). See the Application of the Design Elements table on pg. 3-49 to determine specific 
design element requirements according to the associated FLUM designation. Future 
development applications should include the applicable design elements. 

Comprehensive Plan Policies: The following Comprehensive Plan Policies are applicable to this 
development: 

• “Permit new development only where it can be adequately served by critical public facilities 
and urban services at the time of final approval, and in accord with any adopted levels of 
service for public facilities and services.” (3.03.03F) 

 City water and sewer service is available and can be extended by the developer with 
development in accord with UDC 11-3A-21.   

• Focus on developing industries that exceed the living wage, such as technology, healthcare 
and other similar industries. (2.06.01E) 

The TMISAP designates the subject property for mixed employment. These areas are intended 
to capture full economic advantage of the Ten Mile interchange to enhance the long-term 
fiscal health of the City of Meridian and the Treasure Valley. The proposed annexation and 
zoning of this area to M-E will result in the creation of primary jobs as anticipated by the 
Plan. 

• “With new subdivision plats, require the design and construction of pathways connections, 
easy pedestrian and bicycle access to parks, safe routes to schools, and the incorporation of 
usable open space with quality amenities.” (2.02.01A) 

Multi-use pathway segments are proposed within this development for interconnectivity 
between the commercial and employment portions of the development and neighboring 

91



 

 Page 9  
  

developments within the area. 

•  “Encourage the development of supportive commercial near employment areas.” (3.06.02C) 

The proposed commercial, flex space, light industrial with manufacturing, and office should 
provide supportive uses for the proposed employment area. 

• “Ensure development is connected to City of Meridian water and sanitary sewer systems and 
the extension to and through said developments are constructed in conformance with the City 
of Meridian Water and Sewer System Master Plans in effect at the time of development.” 
(3.03.03A) 

 The proposed development will connect to City water and sewer systems; services are 
required to be provided to and through this development in accord with current City plans. 

• Evaluate development proposals based on consistency with the vision as well as physical, 
social, economic, environmental, and aesthetic criteria. (3.01.01D) 

The TMISAP vision for this area is an employment-generating center that buffers the 
community from I-84 and the future extension of Highway 16, and serves the employment 
areas with easy access to markets, high-speed transportation facilities, and employees across 
the Treasure Valley. The TMISAP incorporates specific design standards for this area to 
create a sense of place and a unique identity.  In line with this vision, the proposed 
annexation and zoning to M-E are intended to accommodate a mix of uses which is consistent 
with the overall vision and the design principles for this area.   

• “Permit new development only where it can be adequately served by critical public facilities 
and urban services at the time of final approval, and in accord with any adopted levels of 
service for public facilities and services.” (3.03.03F) 

 City water and sewer services are available to this site and can be extended by the developer 
with development in accord with UDC 11-3A-21. The emergency response times for Police 
Dept. and Fire Dept. meet the established goals.  

• “Require appropriate landscaping, buffers, and noise mitigation with new development along 
transportation corridors (setback, vegetation, low walls, berms, etc.).” (3.07.01C) 

 A 50-foot wide landscaped street buffer is required to be provided along the southern 
boundary of the site adjacent to I-84.  

• “Encourage the integration of public art as an integrated component with new development.” 
(5.03.01B) 

 The Applicant is proposing the installation of a historical monument for the existing silos 
located in the plaza near the site’s entrance.  The proposal involves utilizing materials from 
the Silo in the construction of the monument.  Additionally, the Applicant plans to accompany 
the monument with a plaque featuring pictures of the original silo along with historical 
details for the public.  This initiative aligns with the goals of preservation and seamlessly 
integrates public art into the site. 

• “Coordinate with the Meridian Historic Preservation Commission to recommend use, 
restoration, and preservation of historical structures and sites throughout Meridian.” 
(5.02.02A) 

• “Stimulate private and public investment in the restoration and preservation of historic 
buildings, outdoor spaces, and natural historical features.” (5.02.02D) 

92



 

 Page 10  
  

• “Support the efforts of the Historic Preservation Commission to foster preservation and 
conservation.” (5.02.02E) 

• “Develop policies to preserve and protect or document and memorialize historic and 
culturally significant structures and sites.” (5.02.02J) 

Encompassing the aforementioned policies, there are currently multiple historic buildings 
situated on this site.  The Applicant intends to proceed with one of the following options, 
aiming to install a historical monument for the existing silos located in the plaza area near 
the site’s entrance.  Option (1): involves careful disassembling and storage of the structure, 
with the intention to find an interested agency that may preserve the silo on another site.  An 
agency would need to be identified before disassembly and prior to the commencement of the 
road.  Alternatively, if no interested agency is identified prior to the commencement of the 
road construction, Option (2): entails utilizing some materials from the silo in the 
construction of the monument in the plaza (Lot 3, Block 1).   

• “Require urban infrastructure be provided for all new developments, including curb and 
gutter, sidewalks, water and sewer utilities.” (3.03.03G) 

 Urban sewer and water infrastructure and curb, gutter and sidewalks are proposed as 
required with this development. 

In summary, Staff believes the proposed development plan is generally consistent with the vision 
of the Comprehensive Plan for this area per the analysis above. 

V. UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE ANALYSIS (UDC) 

A. Annexation and Zoning (AZ): 

Annexation is requested of 33.89-acres from RUT to the M-E zoning district as shown on the 
Annexation description and Exhibit in Section VII.B. A conceptual development plan and 
elevations are included in Section VII.D that show how the site is anticipated to develop. 

The development abuts Mixed Employment designated land to the east and borders I-84 to the 
south.  This development is proposed to have access to a collector street as desired. Medium-
high-density residential uses are proposed to the north and light industrial to the west.  Allowed 
uses in the M-E district consist of offices, medical centers, research and development facilities, 
and light industrial uses with ancillary support services. This area is intended to develop with 
approximately 378, 360 s.f., encompassing various potential uses like office, light industrial 
operations, and research and development components such as distribution and light 
manufacturing.  

The City may require a development agreement (DA) in conjunction with an annexation pursuant 
to Idaho Code section 67-6511A. If this property is annexed, Staff recommends a DA is 
required with the provisions discussed herein and included in Section VIII.A. 

Proposed Use Analysis:  
A variety of uses are proposed including office, commercial, flex space, light industrial, research 
and development, and other uses; see UDC Table 11-2B-2 for allowed uses in the applicable 
zoning districts. Compliance with the dimensional standards listed in UDC Table 11-2B-3 is 
required, as applicable.  The inclusion of loading docks on the elevations for the proposed flex 
buildings implies that all of the intended uses are primarily related to 
distribution/warehousing, which requires a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) in the M-E 
zoning district.   

93

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST


 

 Page 11  
  

The proposed zoning and uses are generally consistent with the associated FLUM designations as 
discussed above in Section IV. 

B. Preliminary Plat (PP):  

      The proposed preliminary plat consists of 6 building lots and 1 common lot on 27.59-acres of land 
in the M-E zoning districts for Farmstone Crossing Subdivision. The subdivision is proposed to 
develop in two (2) phases as shown on the phasing plan in Section VII.C.   Staff recommends 
that the collector street (Vanguard Way) be constructed prior to development commencing 
on the property.   Additionally, the first phase of development should encompass the 
construction of both the 10’ detached sidewalks along S. Black Cat Road and Vanguard 
Way including the entire street buffers. The second phase of development should encompass 
the completion of the remaining 10-foot pathway along the I-84 Interstate.   

Existing Structures/Site Improvements: 

According to GIS imagery, there is an existing home and other historic outbuildings adjacent to 
Black Cat Road that will be removed upon development of the Farmstone Crossing Subdivision. 
Staff recommends that the Applicant preserve some elements of the historic buildings. As 
mentioned above, the Applicant presented their proposed plan for the existing silos to the 
Historic Preservation Commission on January 25, 2024 with the following: Option (1): 
involves careful disassembling and storage of the structure, with the intention to find an 
interested agency that may preserve the silo on another site.  An agency would need to be 
identified before disassembly and prior to the commencement of the road.  Alternatively, if no 
interested agency is identified prior to the commencement of the road construction, option (2): 
entails utilizing some materials from the silo in the construction of the monument (refer to 
Applicants narrative below).    

The meeting concluded with the Historic Preservation Commission expressing a preference for 
recommending to the Planning and Zoning Commission that both existing silos be 
disassembled and reassembled at a yet-to-be-determined future location.  It was emphasized 
that the specifics of the relocation be clarified prior to disassembly, and the new site would 
need to be determined within a reasonable period of time.  As an alternative proposal, the 
Commission advocates for the creation of a scale replica of the facilities on the current site.  
The Historic Preservation Commission wishes to review the details of the proposed monument 
with the initial Certificate of Zoning Compliance submittal for the site.  Additionally, the 
Historic Preservation Commission wishes to retain the ability to provide comments on the final 
proposed monument presented by the Applicant. 

As part of the proposed first phase of development, all existing structures that do not 
conform to the district’s setbacks must be removed, except for those agreed upon for 
historic preservation. No other site improvements are known.   

94



 

 Page 12  
  

 
 

 

95



 

 Page 13  
  

Dimensional Standards: 
Development of the proposed lots is required to comply with the dimensional standards of the  
M-E zoning district in UDC Table 11-2B-3, as applicable. The proposed preliminary plat 
appears to comply with the dimensional standards of the district. 

Subdivision Design and Improvement Standards (UDC 11-6C-3):  
Development of the subdivision is required to comply with the subdivision design and 
improvement standards listed in UDC 11-6C-3. The proposed subdivision appears to comply 
with these standards. 

Access (UDC 11-3A-3) 
Access is proposed to be provided from the northern boundary of the site from the extension of 
Vanguard Way to Black Cat Road to the west. Vanguard Way is designed as a collector street in 
accordance with the Master Street Map and the Transportation System Map in the TMISAP.  A 
driveway is proposed to the adjacent property to the east for future extension.   

Prior to Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall record a cross-access/ingress-egress 
easement to adjoining property to the east [S1215427850] and submit copy of said easement 
to the Planning Division in accordance with the provisions of UDC 11-3A-3A2.  Direct 
access via S. Black Cat Road is prohibited.   

Streets:  
Vanguard Way should be constructed in accordance with Street Section C (major collector street) 
in the TMISAP, which requires (2) 11-foot travel lanes, 6-foot bike lanes, 8-foot parkways with 
streetlights at a pedestrian scale, and minimum 6-foot wide detached sidewalks (see pg. 3-20, 3-
22, 3-23). The Applicant proposes a modification of the street section to include 10-foot wide 
detached sidewalks/pathways in lieu of on-street bike lanes, which is required by ACHD and as 
set forth in the Meridian Master Pathways Plan.  

All streets should be constructed as complete streets as defined in the TMISAP (see pg. 3-19 
& 3-20).  Prior to submitting the final plat, the Applicant shall coordinate with the property 
owner to the north and east to construct Vanguard Way and deed the right-of-way to 
ACHD.  The Applicant should ensure that the intersection of Vanguard Way and S. Black 
Road aligns with the entrance of the Black Cat Industrial projects on the west side of S. 
Black Cat Road. 

The Applicant is proposing two curb cuts off of Vanguard Way, a planned collector street in the 
TMISAP.  In accordance with UDC 11-3A-3 (Access to streets), multiple accesses off an arterial 
and/or collector roadway shall be restricted   The Applicant has chosen to eliminate the curb 
cut aligned with the proposed subdivision to the north and has instead opted for the one 
closest to the intersection of Black Cat Road.  Typically, Staff recommends that curb cuts 
align directly across roadways; however, Staff supports the offset change, given that the 
entrance effectively highlights the features of the proposed plaza, provided it adheres to 
ACHD’s requirements.  Additionally, the Applicant has proposed establishing a shared 
access on the east side of this site in collaboration with the property owner to the east, 
intended for future shared access.   

Pathways (UDC 11-3A-8): 
Ten (10) foot-wide multi-use pathways are proposed on the site in accordance with the Pathways 
Master Plan. One segment follows Vanguard Way across the northern portion of this site; one 
segment runs along the southern boundary within the street buffer along I-84; and another 
segment runs along the west side of the site adjacent to S. Black Cat Road to the plaza on the 
north.  The proposed pathway is intended to cross the drive aisle between Buildings 1 & 2 

96

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-3ACST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-8PA


 

 Page 14  
  

(refer to figure below).  Staff recommends removing the loading docks from the rear of 
Buildings 1 & 2 to mitigate potential conflicts between pedestrians using the pathway and 
delivery trucks accessing that area.  A 14-foot wide public use easement for all multi-use 
pathways shall be submitted to the Planning Division prior to submittal for City Engineer’s 
signature on the final plat(s).   

 
Landscaping is required along all pathways per the standards in UDC 11-3B-12C. The landscape 
plan appears to comply with this standard. 

Sidewalks & Pedestrian Walkways (UDC 11-3A-17 & UDC 11-3A-19.B.4): 
The UDC requires minimum 5-foot wide sidewalks to be provided adjacent to all streets with 
detached sidewalks along collector streets and attached or detached sidewalks along local streets. 
However, the guidelines in the TMISAP for the collector street sections (i.e. C) depict 6-foot 
wide sidewalks, which should be provided within the development at a minimum. The 
applicant is proposing to construct 10-foot wide sidewalks adjacent to the applicable 
roadways based on the design approved with the Vanguard Village project to the east. 

A continuous internal pedestrian walkway that is a minimum of five (5) feet in width shall be 
provided from the perimeter sidewalk to the main building entrance(s) for nonresidential uses. 
The walkway width shall be maintained clear of any obstructions, such as vehicles, outdoor 
sale displays, vending machines, or temporary structures in accordance with UDC 11-3A-19.  
The Applicant has provided a pedestrian circulation plan in Section VII.E.   The internal 
pedestrian walkways shall be distinguished from the vehicular driving surfaces through the 
use of pavers, colored or scored concrete, or bricks; striping is not an approved material.  
The plans appears to comply with this standard. 

Sidewalks, walkways, and pathways should include a dedicated crosswalk at the 
intersection of S. Black Cat Road with changes in color, markings, materials, texture and/or 

97

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-12PALA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-17SIPA


 

 Page 15  
  

surface to distinguish them from the surrounding pavement as set forth in the TMISAP (see 
pg. 3-28, Crosswalks).  

Landscaping (UDC 11-3B): 
Street buffers are required to be provided as set forth in UDC Table 11-2A-7. A minimum 25-foot 
wide street buffer is required along all arterial streets (i.e. S. Black Cat Road) in commercial 
districts. A 20-foot wide street buffer is required along all collector streets (i.e. Vanguard Way) – 
the buffer may be placed in an easement rather than a common lot in accord with UDC 11-3B-
7C.2a.  A minimum 50-foot wide street buffer is required along I-84, landscaped per the 
standards listed in UDC 11-3B-7C.3, which requires a variety of trees, shrubs, lawn or other 
vegetative groundcover (see updated code for specifics & figures below).  The proposed 
buffer dimensions appear to meet the requirements of the UDC code; however, there is a 
lack of a combination of planters (shrubs and rock mulch) within the buffer along 
Vanguard Way.  The Applicant has provided fifty-two (52) trees and only thirty-four (34) 
are required along Vanguard Way.  Staff recommends that the Applicant enhance the 
street buffer by reducing the number of trees and incorporating additional planters.  The 
landscape buffer along Black Cat Road adjacent to the open drainage swale, lacks 
vegetation in front of the 10-foot pathway, not meeting the requirements of the UDC. 

The Applicant proposes a plaza area between Building #1 and Building #2, featuring 
benches, a pergola, landscaping, and a potential historical monument of the existing silo on 
the site.   

The Applicant should revise the landscape plan to reflect landscaping within the required 
buffers along Vanguard Way and Black Cat Road adjacent to the drainage swale in front of 
the 10-foot pathway in accordance with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-7; which requires a 
variety of trees, shrubs, lawn or other vegetative groundcover (see figures below). 

 

98

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-7MEHINSREDIR-
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST


 

 Page 16  
  

 

Landscaping is required within parkways per the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-17 and 11-3B-
7C. Class II trees shall be provided in parkways in accord with UDC 11-3A-17E. 

Landscaping is required along all pathways per the standards in UDC 11-3B-12C. The landscape 
plan appears to comply with this standard. 

Mitigation is required for all existing trees 4” caliper or greater that are removed from the site in 
accord with the standards in UDC 11-3B-10C.5. Mitigation calculations are depicted on the 
landscape plan in accord with UDC standards (i.e. 149 trees at 2 caliper inches each for a total of 
284 caliper inches). The location of mitigation trees shall be depicted on a revised landscape 
plan submitted with the final plat application.   

Parking lot: Provide a five-foot wide minimum landscape buffer adjacent to parking, loading, 
or other paved vehicular use areas, including driveways, vehicle sales areas, truck parking 
areas, bus parking areas, and vehicle storage areas, subject to the following exceptions: (1) This 
requirement may be reduced or waived at the determination of the Director where there is a shared 
driveway and/or recorded cross parking agreement and easement with an adjacent property. (2) S 
his requirement may be reduced or waived at the determination of the Director for truck 
maneuvering areas in industrial, mixed-employment and high-density employment districts  

To improve the integration of this property with the neighboring M-E zoned property to the 
east, Staff encourages the Applicant to consider removing the entire landscape buffer along 
the eastern side and coordinate the alignment of parking with the adjacent property owner.  
This would facilitate shared access to the east and improve integration with the eastern 
property.   

Storm Drainage: 
An adequate storm drainage system is required in all developments in accord with the City’s 
adopted standards, specifications and ordinances. Design and construction is required to follow 
Best Management Practices as adopted by the City. The Applicant submitted a Geotechnical 
Evaluation for the subdivision. 

Pressure Irrigation (UDC 11-3A-15): 
Underground pressurized irrigation water is required to be provided for each and every lot in the 
subdivision as required in UDC 11-3A-15.  

Utilities (UDC 11-3A-21): 
Utilities are required to be provided to the subdivision as required in UDC 11-3A-21.  

Waterways (UDC 11-3A-6): 
There are no waterways on this site.   

Fencing (UDC 11-3A-6 and 11-3A-7): 
All fencing is required to comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-7. The Applicant is 
proposing a 5-foot wrought iron fence along the west property line adjacent to the pathway and 
the ACHD drainage swale.  The proposed fencing complies with the UDC code.    

Parking: Off-street vehicle parking is required for the proposed commercial subdivision as set 
forth in UDC Table 11-3C-6.B. Based on approximately 378,360 square feet of proposed floor 
space, a minimum of 757 off-street spaces are required; a total of 764 off-street parking spaces 
are proposed (7 additional parking spaces).  Based on 764 parking spaces proposed, a minimum 
of 31 bicycle spaces are required to be provided; none are proposed.  Bicycle parking facilities 
should comply with the standards in UDC 11-3C-5C.  Bike racks should be provided as 
close as possible to each building entrance totaling 31 spaces or in a designated area within 

99

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-17SIPA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-12PALA
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=249261&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=249261&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-15PRIRSY
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-21UT
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CD_TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-5PASTALOTUSNOSP


 

 Page 17  
  

the plaza.  Staff is recommending the removal of the loading docks at the rear of Building 
#1 and Building #2, which will  create additional parking.  Staff recommends that Applicant 
submit revised plans incorporating the aforementioned changes with the CZC Application.  

Building Elevations (UDC 11-3A-19 | Architectural Standards Manual (ASM) | TMISAP): 
Conceptual building elevations were submitted for the proposed flex buildings and light industrial 
building as shown in Section VII.F.  Building materials consist of horizontal metal or Hardie 
plank siding in white, wood colors; stucco in dark and light gray colors; metal awnings; and gray 
wrapped cornice moulding.   

The proposed conceptual elevations are not approved.  Final design must comply with the 
design standards in the Architectural Standards Manual (ASM) and the design guidelines 
in the TMISAP for the Commercial designation (see the matrix for Application of the 
Design Elements on pg. 3-49). A Certificate of Zoning Compliance and Design Review 
application is required to be submitted for approval of the site and building design prior to 
submittal of building permit applications.  

VI. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the requested annexation and  preliminary plat per the provisions 
noted in Section VIII, per the Findings in Section IX. 

 

100

https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id=&section_id=1165306#1165306
https://meridiancity.org/designreview
https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/10mile-191217-Full.pdf


 

 Page 18  
  

VII. EXHIBITS  

A. Annexation Legal Description and Exhibit Map 

 

101



 

 Page 19  
  

 
 

102



 

 Page 20  
  

B. Farmstone Crossing Plat Boundary Legal Description and Exhibit Map 

 
 

103



 

 Page 21  
  

 
  

104



 

 Page 22  
  

C. Preliminary Plat & Phasing Plan  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

105



 

 Page 23  
  

D. Landscape Plan Rendering 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



 

 Page 24  
  

E. Pedestrian Circulation Plan 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



 

 Page 25  
  

F. Conceptual Building Elevations for Buildings 1 - 5 

 
   

 

108



 

 Page 26  
  

 

 

 

109



 

 Page 27  
  

 

 

 

110



 

 Page 28  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



 

 Page 29  
  

II. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS 

A. PLANNING DIVISION 

1. A Development Agreement (DA) is required as a provision of annexation of this property. 
Prior to approval of the annexation, a DA shall be entered into between the City of Meridian 
and the property owner(s)/developer at the time of ordinance adoption. A final plat will not 
be accepted until the DA is executed and the AZ ordinance is approved by City Council. 

Currently, a fee of $303.00 shall be paid by the Applicant to the Planning Division prior to 
commencement of the DA. The DA shall be signed by the property owner and returned to the 
Planning Division within six (6) months of the City Council granting the annexation and 
rezone. The DA shall, at minimum, incorporate the following provisions: 

a. Development of the subject property shall be generally consistent with the site plan, 
landscape plan, preliminary plat, phasing plan, and conceptual building elevations 
included in Section VII and the provisions contained herein.  Prior to the Council 
hearing, the Applicant shall provide elevations for Building #1 and Building #2 
incorporating a more traditional office design to complement the plaza area.  
Additionally, the Applicant shall remove the loading docks from the rear of the 
buildings in favor of more parking.   

b. All future development, site design and building design shall comply with the Design 
Elements matrix on pg. 3-49 in the Ten Mile Interchange Specific Area Plan and the 
standards in the Architectural Standards Manual, as applicable.  

c. Prior to submittal of a certificate of zoning application the applicant should coordinate 
with the historic preservation on either of the following options:  

(1) Disassemble and store the structure, with the intention of finding an interested agency 
to preserve the silo on another site prior to the commencement of the collector road 
extension OR (2) construct a monument of the silos in the plaza utilizing some of the 
materials from the dissembled silos.  

d. The collector street (Vanguard Way) shall be constructed prior to development 
commencing on the property. The applicant may deed the right-of-way to ACHD prior to 
the submittal of t dedicated  the first phase of a final plat.   

e. Sidewalks, walkways and pathways shall include dedicated crosswalks at the intersection  
with all streets of S. Black Cat Road with changes in color, markings, materials, texture 
and/or surface to distinguish them from the surrounding pavement as set forth in the 
TMISAP (see pg. 3-28, Crosswalks). 

f. Public art in a high quality of design shall be provided in shared spaces and incorporated 
into the design of streetscapes as set forth in the TMISAP (see pg. 3-47).  The proposed 
monument of the historic silo will satisfy this requirement. 

g. The subject property shall be subdivided prior to submittal of any Certificate of Zoning    
       Compliance application(s) and/or building permit application. 

2.   Preliminary Plat: 

2.1 Future development of the proposed lots is required to comply with the dimensional standards 
M-E zoning districts in UDC Table 11-2B-3, as applicable.  

2.2 The plat shall be revised prior to submitting the first phase of a final plat as follows: : 

112

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTBCODI_11-2B-3ST


 

 Page 30  
  

a. Include a note prohibiting direct access via S. Black Cat Road and Vanguard other than 
the access points approved by the City and ACHD with this application.  

c.  Depict street sections for Vanguard Way consistent with Street Section C in the TMISAP  
with a modification that allows (3) 11-foot travel lanes, 8-foot parkways and detached 10-
foot wide sidewalks/pathways in lieu of on-street bike lanes as required by ACHD. 
Streetlights are required at a pedestrian scale, unless another alternative is approved (see 
pg. 3-20, 3-22, 3-23). 

      e. The intersection of Vanguard Way and S. Black Road shall align with the  
             entrance of the Black Cat Industrial project on the west side of S. Black Cat Road. 

f. Depict required street landscape buffers in common lots or on permanent dedicated buffer 
easements, maintained by the property owner or business owners’ association, as 
applicable, as set forth in UDC 11-3B-7C.2.  

g. The Applicant shall coordinate with the   
             property owner to the north and east to construct Vanguard Way and dedicate the right-   
             of-way on the final plat to ACHD. 

h. Coordinate with the property owner to the east for the shared curb cut and explore the 
possibility of removing the landscape buffer on the eastern side of the site to align 
parking with the adjacent property owner, if desired. 

2.3 The landscape plan shall be revised prior to submitting the first phase of a final plat as 
follows:  

a. Depict landscaping within required street buffers along Black Cat Road adjacent to the 
drainage swale in front of the 10-foot pathway and Vanguard Way in accord with the 
recently amended standards listed in UDC 11-3B-7C and 11-3B-8C; all required 
landscape buffers along streets shall be designed and planted with a variety of trees, 
shrubs, lawn, or other vegetative ground cover. Plant materials in conjunction with site 
design shall elicit design principles including rhythm, repetition, balance, and focal 
elements  

      b. Sidewalks, walkways and pathways shall include dedicated crosswalks at the intersection  
with all streets of S. Black Cat Road with changes in color, markings, materials, texture 
and/or surface to distinguish them from the surrounding pavement as set forth in the 
TMISAP (see pg. 3-28, Crosswalks). 

c. The location of mitigation trees shall be depicted on a revised landscape plan submitted  
              with the final plat application. 

 2.4 A 14-foot wide public use easement for the multi-use pathways within this site shall be 
submitted to the Planning Division prior to submittal for City Engineer signature on the final 
plat(s).  

2.5 Prior to Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall record a cross-access/ingress-egress 
easement to adjoining property to the east [S1215427850] and submit copy of said easement 
to the Planning Division in accordance with the provisions of UDC 11-3A-3A2.   

2.6 Upon completion of the landscape installation, a written Certificate of Completion shall be 
submitted to the Planning Division verifying all landscape improvements are in substantial 
compliance with the approved landscape plan as set forth in UDC 11-3B-14. 

113

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST


 

 Page 31  
  

 2.7 The preliminary plat approval shall become null and void if the applicant fails to either: 1)     
obtain the City Engineer signature on a final plat within two years of the date of the approved 
findings; or 2) obtain approval of a time extension as set forth in UDC 11-6B-7. 
 

        B. PUBLIC WORKS 
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308331&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity&cr=1 

C.  FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308338&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

D. DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY (DEQ) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

E. ADA COUNTY DEVELOPMENT SERVICES  

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308789&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

F. IDAHO TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT (ITD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308414&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

G. MERIDIAN PARK’S DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308329&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity&cr=1 

H. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD)  

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=309887&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

I. IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY (DEQ)  

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

J. NAMPA MERIDIAN IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NMID) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310445&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

K. COMPASS 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310273&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

L. MERIDIAN HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310712&dbid=0&repo=MeridianC
ity 

114

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308331&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308331&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308338&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308338&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308789&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308789&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308414&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308414&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308329&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308329&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=309887&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=309887&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=308539&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310445&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310445&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310273&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310273&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310712&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=310712&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 32  
  

IX.  FINDINGS 

A. Annexation and/or Rezone (UDC 11-5B-3E) 

Required Findings: Upon recommendation from the commission, the council shall make a 
full investigation and shall, at the public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an 
annexation and/or rezone, the council shall make the following findings: 

1. The map amendment complies with the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan; 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment and subsequent development is generally 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan if the plans are revised. 

2. The map amendment complies with the regulations outlined for the proposed district, 
specifically the purpose statement; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment will allow for the development of a mix of 
commercial, office, flex space, light industrial and employment uses which will provide 
for the service needs of the community consistent with the purpose statement of the 
commercial districts in accord with the Comprehensive Plan if the plans are revised. 

3. The map amendment shall not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, and 
welfare; 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment should not be detrimental to the public 
health, safety and welfare. 

4. The map amendment shall not result in an adverse impact upon the delivery of services 
by any political subdivision providing public services within the city including, but not 
limited to, school districts; and 

Staff finds the proposed zoning map amendment will not result in an adverse impact on 
the delivery of services by any political subdivision providing public services within the 
City. 

5. The annexation (as applicable) is in the best interest of city. 

Staff finds the annexation is in the best interest of the City if the plans are revised. 

 
B.  Preliminary Plat Findings (11-6B-6)  

In consideration of a preliminary plat, combined preliminary and final plat, or short plat, the 
decision-making body shall make the following findings: 

1. The plat is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan; 

 Staff finds that the proposed plat is in substantial compliance with the adopted 
Comprehensive Plan in regard to land use and transportation if the plans are revised. 
(Please see Comprehensive Plan Policies in, Section IV of this report for more 
information.) 

2. Public services are available or can be made available and are adequate to accommodate 
the proposed development; 

 Staff finds that public services will be provided to the subject property with development. 
(See Exhibit B of the Staff Report for more details from public service providers.) 

3. The plat is in conformance with scheduled public improvements in accord with the City’s 
capital improvement program;  

115



 

 Page 33  
  

 Because City water and sewer and any other utilities will be provided by the development 
at their own cost, Staff finds that the subdivision will not require the expenditure of capital 
improvement funds. 

4. There is public financial capability of supporting services for the proposed development; 

 Staff finds there is public financial capability of supporting services for the proposed 
development based upon comments from the public service providers (i.e., Fire, ACHD, 
etc.). (See Section VIII for more information.)   

5. The development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or general welfare; 
and, 

 Staff is not aware of any health, safety, or environmental problems associated with the 
platting of this property.  ACHD considers road safety issues in their analysis.   

6. The development preserves significant natural, scenic or historic features. 

 Staff is aware of the significant natural, scenic or historic features that exist on this site 
that require preserving.  

 

116



AGENDA ITEM

ITEM TOPIC: Public Hearing for Reveille Ridge Subdivision (H-2023-0050) by Bailey 
Engineering, generally located on the west side of S. Eagle Rd., approximately 1/2 mile south of 
E. Lake Hazel Rd.
Application Materials: https://bit.ly/H-2023-0050 

A. Request: Annexation of 59.97 acres of land with an R-8 (34.69 acres) and R-15 (25.28 acres) 

zoning districts.

B. Request: Preliminary Plat consisting of 247 building lots and 37 common lots on 59.77 acres of

land in the R-8 and R-15 zoning districts.

117



 
 

 Page 1  
  

HEARING 
DATE: 

February 15, 2024 

 

TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

FROM: Sonya Allen, Associate Planner 
208-884-5533 

SUBJECT: Reveille Ridge Subdivision – AZ, PP 
H-2023-0050 

LOCATION: 7355 S. Eagle Rd., in the east ½ of 
Section 5, T.2N., R.1E. (Parcels: 
S1405417400, S1405142100, 
S1405427800 & S1405131500) 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Annexation of 59.97 acres of land with R-8 (34.69 acres) and R-15 (25.28 acres) zoning districts; and 
Preliminary Plat consisting of 246 building lots and 38 common lots on 59.77 acres of land in the R-8 and R-
15 zoning districts for the Reveille Ridge Subdivision. 

II. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

A. Project Summary 

STAFF REPORT 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Description Details 
Acreage 59.77 acres  
Future Land Use Designation Low Density Residential (LDR) (31+/- acres) & Medium Density Residential 

(MDR) (28+/- acres) 
Existing Land Use Rural residential/agricultural 
Proposed Land Use(s) Single-family detached/attached & townhome dwellings  
Current Zoning Rural Urban Transition (RUT) in Ada County  
Proposed Zoning R-8 (Medium Density Residential) & R-15 (Medium-high Density 

Residential) 
Lots (# and type; bldg/common) 246 building/38 common 
Phasing plan (# of phases) 4 
Number of Residential Units (type 
of units) 

170 single-family detached, 14 single-family attached, 62 townhome units 

Density (gross & net) 4.13 units/acre overall (gross) (2.96 units/acre in LDR; 5.3 units/acre in 
MDR) 

Open Space (acres, total [%] / 
buffer / qualified) 

11.78 acres (or 19.71%)  

118

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/Browse.aspx?id=311524&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 2  
  

 

B. Community Metrics 

Access (Arterial/Collectors/State 
Hwy/Local)(Existing and Proposed) 

One (1) access is proposed via S. Eagle Rd., a residential arterial street. A 
north/south and an east/west collector street are proposed. Several stub 
streets are proposed to adjacent properties for future extension and 
interconnectivity. 

Proposed Road Improvements No funded improvements and no planned improvements. 
Fire Service  
• Distance to Fire Station 1.0 mile from Station 7 
• Fire Response Time Project falls in an area where the FD doesn’t have total response times for an 

effective firefighting force that meet NFPA 1710 standards or current City 
adopted standards. 

• Resource Reliability Unknown for Station 7 as it just opened; 77% for Station 4, which doesn’t 
meet the 80% goal 

• Risk Identification 2 (current resources would not be adequate to supply service to this project) 
• Accessibility Meets all requirements 
• Special/resource needs Will require an aerial device; can meet this need 
• Water Supply 1,000 gallons/minute for one hour 
• Other Resources  
Police Service No comments received  

 
West Ada School District No comments received 
Wastewater  
• Distance to Sewer Services   

Amenities Pathways, picnic areas, fitness stations. 
Physical Features (waterways, 
hazards, flood plain, hillside) 

The Williams Northwest gas pipeline runs through this site within a 75’ wide 
easement. The Farr Lateral runs along the northern boundary on the east portion of 
the site. 

Neighborhood meeting date  6/15/23  
History (previous approvals) None 

Description Details 
Ada County Highway District  
 • Staff report (yes/no) Not yet 
 • Requires ACHD 

Commission Action (yes/no) 
No 

 • TIS (yes/no) Yes 
 

 • Level of Service (LOS) Eagle Road south of Lake Hazel Road is operating at a LOS of better than 
“D” according to the TIS. 

 • Existing Conditions  There is one driveway serving the existing home via S. Eagle Rd., a 2-lane 
roadway 

 • CIP/IFYWP No improvements planned directly abutting the site. Lake Hazel Rd. is 
scheduled in the IFYWP to be widened to 5-lanes from Locust Grove to 
Eagle Rd. in 2024 and to 5-lanes from Eagle to Cloverdale Rd. in 2025. The 
intersection of Lake Hazel & Eagle Rd. is scheduled in the IFYWP to be 
widened to 5-lanes on the north leg, 4-lanes on the south, 4-lanes on the east, 
and 3-lanes on the west leg to be reconstructed in 2024. 

119



 

 Page 3  
  

• Sewer Shed  
• Estimated Project Sewer ERU’s See application 
• WRRF Declining Balance  
• Project Consistent with WW 
Master Plan/Facility Plan 

 Yes 

• Impacts/Concerns  Flow is committed. See Public Works Site Specific Conditions 
Water  
• Distance to Services Water available at site. 
• Pressure Zone  5 
• Estimated Project Water ERU’s See application 
• Water Quality Concerns None 
• Project Consistent with Water 
Master Plan 

Yes 

• Impacts/Concerns See Public Works Site Specific Conditions in Section IX.B of this report. 

 

C. Project Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Future Land Use Map 

 

Aerial Map 

 

120



 

 Page 4  
  

III. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

A. Applicant: 

Judy Schmidt, Bailey Engineering – 1119 E. State St., #210, Eagle, ID 83616 

B. Owners: 

Endurance Holdings, LLC – 1977 E. Overland Rd., Meridian, ID 83642 

C. Representative: 

Shawn Brownlee, Trilogy Development – 9839 W. Cable Car St., Ste. 101, Boise, ID 83709 

IV. NOTICING 

 Planning & Zoning 
Posting Date 

City Council 
Posting Date 

Newspaper notification 
published in newspaper 1/30/2024    

Radius notification mailed to 
property owners within 300 feet 1/26/2024   

Public hearing notice sign posted 
on site  1/24/2024   

Nextdoor posting 1/30/2024   

V. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ANALYSIS 

FUTURE LAND USE: Approximately 31-acres of the eastern portion of this property is designated Low 
Density Residential (LDR) and approximately 28-acres of the western portion is designated Medium Density 

  
Zoning Map 

 

Planned Development Map 

 

121



 

 Page 5  
  

Residential (MDR) on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) contained in the Comprehensive Plan (see map 
above in Section II.C). 

The LDR allows for the development of single-family homes on large and estate lots at gross densities of 
three dwelling units or less per acre. These areas often transition between existing rural residential and urban 
properties. Developments need to respect agricultural heritage and resources, recognize view sheds and open 
spaces, and maintain or improve the overall atmosphere of the area. The use of open spaces, parks, trails, and 
other appropriate means should enhance the character of the area. Density bonuses may be considered with 
the provision of additional public amenities such as a park, school, or land dedicated for public services. 

The MDR designation allows for dwelling units at gross densities of 3 to 8 dwelling units per acre. Density 
bonuses may be considered with the provision of additional public amenities such as a park, school, or land 
dedicated for public services. 

TRANSPORTATION: ACHD’s Master Street Map (MSM) depicts an east/west collector street across this 
property from S. Eagle Rd. to the west property boundary and a north/south collector street along the west 
boundary of the site. This property is within the area governed by the South Meridian Transportation Plan. 
No improvements are planned directly abutting the site in the CIP or IFYWP. Lake Hazel Rd. is scheduled in 
the IFYWP to be widened to 5-lanes from Locust Grove to Eagle Rd. in 2024 and to 5-lanes from Eagle to 
Cloverdale Rd. in 2025. The intersection of Lake Hazel & Eagle Rd. is scheduled in the IFYWP to be 
widened to 5-lanes on the north leg, 4-lanes on the south, 4-lanes on the east, and 3-lanes on the west leg to 
be reconstructed in 2024. 

PROPOSED USE: The subject property is proposed to develop with a mix of single-family residential 
detached and attached dwellings and townhome dwellings at a gross overall density of 4.13 units per acre 
(2.96 units/acre in LDR and 5.30 units/acre in MDR) consistent with the density desired in the 
Comprehensive Plan for this area. 

Goals, Objectives, & Action Items: Staff finds the following Comprehensive Plan policies to be applicable 
to this application and apply to the proposed use of this property (staff analysis in italics): 

• “Encourage a variety of housing types that meet the needs, preferences, and financial capabilities of 
Meridian’s present and future residents.” (2.01.02D) 

 The proposed single-family attached and detached dwellings and townhome dwellings will provide a 
mix of housing types to meet the needs, preferences and financial capabilities of present and future 
residents in the City as desired.  

• “Permit new development only where it can be adequately served by critical public facilities and 
urban services at the time of final approval, and in accord with any adopted levels of service for 
public facilities and services.” (3.03.03F) 

 City water and sewer service is available and can be extended by the developer with development in 
accord with UDC 11-3A-21.   

• “Require all new development to create a site design compatible with surrounding uses through 
buffering, screening, transitional densities, and other best site design practices.” (3.07.01A) 

The proposed site design with smaller lot sizes abutting similar size lots to the north planned in 
Vertex Subdivision and to the west adjacent to Discovery Park, a 75-acre City park, and MDR 
designated property to the west and south; and larger lots abutting similar size lots to the north in 
The Keep Subdivision and to LDR designated property to the east will provide a good transition in 
density and lot sizes to existing and future development.  

122

https://meridiancity.org/planning/files/compplan/191217%20Meridian%20Comprehensive%20Plan.pdf


 

 Page 6  
  

• “Encourage compatible uses and site design to minimize conflicts and maximize use of land.” 
(3.07.00) 

The proposed residential uses and site layout should minimize conflicts and maximize use of land.  

•  “Ensure development is connected to City of Meridian water and sanitary sewer systems and the 
extension to and through said developments are constructed in conformance with the City of 
Meridian Water and Sewer System Master Plans in effect at the time of development.” (3.03.03A) 

 The proposed development will connect to City water and sewer systems with development of the 
subdivision; services are required to be provided to and though this development in accord with 
current City plans. 

• “Require pedestrian access in all new development to link subdivisions together and promote 
neighborhood connectivity.” (2.02.01D) 

A 10’ wide multi-use pathway is proposed through the site from the south to the north boundary 
within the Williams Pipeline easement and a 5’ wide pathway is proposed along the Farr Lateral on 
the northeast portion of the site, which should be widened to 10’ in accord with the Pathways Master 
Plan. Other micro paths and internal pathways are proposed for pedestrian connectivity within the 
development.  

•  “Require urban infrastructure be provided for all new developments, including curb and gutter, 
sidewalks, water and sewer utilities.” (3.03.03G) 

 Urban sewer and water infrastructure and curb, gutter and sidewalks are required to be provided 
with development of the subdivision. 

• “Eliminate existing private treatment and septic systems on properties annexed into the City and 
instead connect users to the City wastewater system; discourage the prolonged use of private 
treatment septic systems for enclave properties.” 

With redevelopment of the site, the septic system for the existing home should be abandoned. 

• “Reduce the number of existing access points onto arterial streets by using methods such as cross-
access agreements, access management, and frontage/backage roads, and promoting local and 
collector street connectivity.” (6.01.02B) 

There is currently one (1) access driveway via S. Eagle Rd. for this property, which will be replaced 
by a collector street that will extend to the west boundary of the site for future extension. Another 
north/south collector street is proposed along the west boundary of the site for future extension to 
the north and south. These collector streets should increase connectivity in this area and distribute 
traffic from the arterial street. Stub streets are proposed to adjacent properties to the north fronting 
on S. Eagle Rd., which should reduce access points to the arterial street in the future.  

VI. STAFF ANALYSIS 

A. ANNEXATION (AZ) 

The Applicant proposes to annex 59.97 acres of land with R-8 (34.69-acres) and R-15 (25.28-acres) 
zoning districts and develop the site with a mix of single-family attached and detached and townhome 
dwellings at densities consistent with the underlying LDR and MDR FLUM designations as discussed 
above in Section V. 

A legal description and exhibit map for the overall annexation area is included in Section VIII.A along 
with individual legal descriptions and exhibit maps for individual zones. This property is within the 
City’s Area of City Impact boundary. 

123



 

 Page 7  
  

A preliminary plat and conceptual building elevations were submitted showing how the property is 
proposed to be subdivided and developed with 246 building lots and associated common area and public 
streets (see Section VIII). 

Single-family attached and detached and townhouse dwellings are listed as a principal permitted use in 
both the R-8 and R-15 zoning districts per UDC Table 11-2A-2.  

The City may require a development agreement (DA) in conjunction with an annexation pursuant to 
Idaho Code section 67-6511A. To ensure the subject property develops as proposed, Staff 
recommends a DA is required with the provisions discussed herein and included in Section IX.A. 

B. PRELIMINARY PLAT (PP): 

The proposed preliminary plat consists of 246 building lots and 38 common lots on 59.77 acres of land 
in the proposed R-8 and R-15 zoning districts as shown on the preliminary plat in Section VIII.B. A mix 
of front- and alley-loaded single-family detached (170), single-family attached (14) and townhomes (62) 
are proposed. Building lots range in size from 2,600 square feet (s.f.) (or 0.6-acre) to 14,798 s.f. (or 0.34-
acre).  

Phasing Plan: The subdivision is proposed to develop in four (4) phases per the phasing plan in Section 
VIII.B. The first phase is located along the southern boundary of the site and includes construction of all 
of the collector streets within the site. The second phase is the northeast portion of the development. The 
third phase is centrally located and contains the pond and most of the common open space for the 
development, including the linear open space in the Williams Pipeline easement. The fourth phase is the 
northwest portion of the development. Staff recommends the phasing plan is revised to switch Phases 
2 and 3 so the open space is provided in an earlier phase for the enjoyment of residents.  

Existing Structures/Site Improvements: There is an existing home and several other structures on 
the property that are not being retained that are required to be removed prior to submittal of the 
final plat for City Engineer’s signature. There is also an existing driveway via S. Eagle Rd. that will 
be replaced with a public street. 

Dimensional Standards (UDC 11-2): The proposed plat and future development is subject to the 
dimensional standards listed in UDC Table 11-2A-6 for the R-8 zoning district and Table 11-2A-7 for the 
R-15 zoning district, as applicable. Zero (0) setbacks should be depicted on the plat where single-
family attached and townhome structures are proposed to span across lot lines where no 
easements will exist. Note: Street setbacks are measured from back of sidewalk, which will affect 
building placement on lots along collector streets.  

Subdivision Design & Improvement Standards: The proposed subdivision is required to comply with 
the design and improvement standards listed in UDC 11-6C-3, including those for streets and alleys. 

Product Type: A mix of single-family attached and detached and townhome dwellings are proposed to 
develop on the site as shown on the exhibit map in Section VIII. 

Access: Public streets and alleys and a common driveway are proposed for access within the 
development. Two (2) collector streets are proposed in accord with ACHD’s Master Street Map as noted 
above in Section V. Homes fronting on the collector streets do not have access from the collector streets. 
Public stub streets are proposed to adjacent properties to the northeast, north, west and south for future 
interconnectivity and to reduce future access points on S. Eagle Rd., in accord with UDC 11-3A-3A.3. 

A common driveway is proposed on Lot 51, Block 16 for access to Lots 52-54, Block 16; compliance 
with the standards listed in UDC 11-6C-3D for such is required. A perpetual ingress/egress is required 
as a note on a recorded final plat or a separate recorded easement. The easement or plat note shall 
include a requirement for maintenance of a paved surface capable of supporting fire vehicles and 
equipment. A common driveway exhibit that demonstrates compliance with the R-15 dimensional 

124

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-2ALUS
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-6MENSREDI
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-7MEHINSREDIR-
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-3ACST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST


 

 Page 8  
  

standards is included in Section VIII.F; future development of these lots should be consistent with 
this exhibit. Fencing is required along Lot 51, Block 16 to distinguish common from private areas 
as set forth in UDC 11-3A-7A.7a. A 5-foot wide landscape buffer planted with shrubs, lawn or 
other vegetative groundcover should be provided along the southwest side of the common 
driveway on Lot 51, Block 16 in accord with UDC 11-6C-3D.5. 

Pathways:  All pathways should be constructed in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-8. A 
10’ wide multi-use pathway is required within the Williams Pipeline easement and along the south side 
of the Farr Lateral in a 14-foot wide public pedestrian easement in accord with the Pathways Master 
Plan. Other pathways are proposed throughout the site for internal pedestrian connectivity. The 10-foot 
wide multi-use pathway within the Williams Pipeline easement should be extended through Lot 1, 
Block 14 for future extension to the south. The 10-foot wide multi-use pathway along the Farr 
Lateral in Lot 16, Block 2 should also be extended to the northwest to connect to the multi-use 
pathway in Vertex Subdivision to the north. In order to provide connectivity between the multi-
use pathways within the site, Staff recommends a 10-foot wide sidewalk is provided along Taps to 
between the Williams pipeline pathway and the Farr Lateral pathway. 

Sidewalks/Parkways (11-3A-17): For public safety, Staff recommends 10-foot wide detached 
sidewalks are provided along all collector and arterial streets within and adjacent to the site; 
parkways should comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-17. The plat and landscape plan, 
should be revised accordingly.  

Landscaping: A minimum 25-foot wide street buffer is required along S. Eagle Rd., an arterial street, 
measured from ultimate back of curb location; and 20-foot wide street buffers are required along E. 
Vantage Pointe and St L, collector streets, per UDC Tables 11-2A-6 and 11-2A-7. The buffer along E. 
Vantage Pointe on Blocks 12 and 15 needs to be fully landscaped, including the area on the back 
side of the sidewalk. Landscaping is required within the street buffers and parkways in accord 
with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-7C.3; the landscape plan should be revised to include a 
mix of landscaping materials and a calculations table that demonstrates compliance with the 
standards. All street buffers should be in a common lot or on a permanent dedicated buffer 
easement maintained by the property owner or homeowner’s association; street buffers should be 
depicted on the plat accordingly and labeled as such.  

Landscaping, including trees and shrubs, should be depicted on the landscape plan within the 5’ 
wide landscape strip on each side of all pathways as set forth in UDC 11-3B-12C. Note: Alternative 
compliance may be requested for the trees along the pathway in the Williams pipeline easement as set 
forth in UDC 11-5B-5. 

There are several existing trees on the site – where possible, existing trees should be retained. 
Mitigation is required in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-10C.5; calculations 
demonstrating compliance with the aforementioned standards should be depicted on the landscape 
plan. 

Common Open Space & Site Amenities (UDC 11-3G-3): A minimum of 15% (or 8.97-acres) common 
open space is required to be provided in the R-8 and R-15 zoning districts per UDC Table 11-3G-3. 
Open space areas are required to comply with the quality standards listed in UDC 11-3G-3A.2. The 
qualifications for open space are outlined in UDC 11-3G-3B.  

An open space exhibit was submitted as shown in Section VIII.D that depicts common open space 
totaling 14.79-acres (or 24.74%); qualified open space consists of 11.77-acres (or 19.69%), exceeding 
the minimum standard. Qualified areas consist of open grassy areas of at least 5,000 square feet in area, 
linear open space, a pond with site amenities (i.e. picnic areas), and active and passive open spaces. 

Based on 59.77-acres of development area, a minimum of 12 site amenity points is required to be 
provided. For projects such as this that are over 40-acres in size, multiple amenities are required from 

125

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-8PA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-17SIPA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-6MENSREDI
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances/370371?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH2DIRE_ARTAREDI_11-2A-7MEHINSREDIR-
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances/370371?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-12PALA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-5ALCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-10TRPR
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-3STCOOPSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-3STCOOPSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-3STCOOPSP


 

 Page 9  
  

each of the categories listed in UDC Table 11-3G-4. The Applicant proposes amenities in accord with 
the minimum standards from each of the required categories, as follows:  

 
The proposed amenities should comply with the associated standards listed in UDC 11-3G-4C, D, 
E and F. 

Open Water Pond: An open water pond exists on the site that is proposed to remain on Lot 1, Block 16. 
The pond is required to have recirculated water and be maintained such that it does not become a 
mosquito breeding ground as set forth in UDC 11-3G-3B.6. 

Parking: Off-street parking is required to be provided for each home based on the total number of 
bedrooms per unit as set forth in UDC Table 11-3C-6. Two (2) off-street parking areas with a total of 16 
parking spaces are proposed on Lots 20 and 80, Block 16.  

Williams Pipeline: The Williams Northwest Gas Pipeline crosses this site within a 75-foot wide 
easement contained in common lots as depicted on the preliminary plat. Any development and/or 
improvements within the easement should comply with the Williams Developer’s Handbook. 

Waterways: The Farr Lateral exists along the eastern portion of the northern boundary of the site within 
a 55-foot wide easement (25-feet on the north side and 30-feet on the south side of the lateral’s 
centerline).  

All irrigation ditches and laterals crossing this site that aren’t being improved as a water amenity or 
linear open space as defined in UDC 11-1A-1 are required to be piped or otherwise covered as set forth 
in UDC 11-3A-6B.3, unless otherwise waived by City Council. The Applicant requests a waiver from 
Council to leave the Farr Lateral open and not pipe it as allowed in UDC 11-3A-6B.3a. To preserve 
public safety, the Applicant proposes to construct a 6’ tall wrought iron fence along the northern 
boundary of Lot 16, Block 2 outside of the Boise Project Board of Control’s easement in accord 
with UDC 11-3A-6C and the Pathways Master Plan. 

Fencing: All fencing is required to comply with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-6C and 11-3A-7, as 
applicable. The landscape plan depicts a mix of 6’ tall vinyl privacy fencing and 5’ tall wrought iron 
fencing.   

Because there is a common lot with a pathway planned in Vertex Subdivision along the northern 
boundary of the site, Staff recommends the fencing in this location is changed to 5’ tall wrought 
iron fencing to match that on the north side of the pathway and that proposed on this site to the 
east along the Farr Lateral in accord with UDC 11-3A-7A.7b.  

Utilities (UDC 11-3A-21): Connection to City water and sewer services is required in accord with UDC 
11-3A-21. Street lighting is required to be installed in accord with the City’s adopted standards, 
specifications and ordinances. A pressure reducing station is proposed on Lot 1, Block 19. 

Pressurized Irrigation System (UDC 11-3A-15): Underground pressurized irrigation water is required 
to be provided to each lot within the subdivision as set forth in UDC 11-3A-15. 

Storm Drainage (UDC 11-3A-18): An adequate storm drainage system is required in all developments 
in accord with the City’s adopted standards, specifications and ordinances. Design and construction shall 

126

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-4STSIAM
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-3STCOOPSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTCOREPALORE_11-3C-6RENUOREPASP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/getBookData.php?id=&section_id=1165308#1165308
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-15PRIRSY
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-18STDR


 

 Page 10  
  

follow best management practice as adopted by the City as set forth in UDC 11-3A-18. A Geotechnical 
Evaluation was submitted with this application. 

Building Elevations: Several conceptual building elevations of 1- and 2-story single-family detached 
and townhome dwellings were submitted as shown in Section VIII.E. Conceptual elevations will be 
submitted for the single-family attached units as well prior to the Commission hearing.  Building 
materials consist of a variety of horizontal and vertical siding and stucco with stone/brick veneer accents.  

Because homes on lots that face collector (E. Vantage Pointe & St L) and arterial (S. Eagle Rd.) 
will be highly visible, Staff recommends the rear and/or sides of structures facing these streets 
incorporate articulation through changes in two or more of the following: modulation (e.g. 
projections, recesses, step-backs, pop-outs), bays, banding, porches, balconies, material types, or 
other integrated architectural elements to break up monotonous wall planes and roof lines that are 
visible from the subject public streets. 

Design review is required for all single-family attached and townhome structures; design review is not 
required for single-family detached structures.   

VII. DECISION 

A. Staff: 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed annexation with the requirement of a Development 
Agreement, and preliminary plat per the provisions in Section IX in accord with the Findings in Section 
X. 

  

127

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330727&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330727&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 11  
  

VIII. EXHIBITS    

A. Annexation Legal Description and Exhibit Map 

 

 

128



 

 Page 12  
  

 

129



 

 Page 13  
  

 

130



 

 Page 14  
  

 

131



 

 Page 15  
  

 

132



 

 Page 16  
  

 

133



 

 Page 17  
  

 

134



 

 Page 18  
  

 

135



 

 Page 19  
  

 

136



 

 Page 20  
  

B. Preliminary Plat (dated: 1/10/24) & Phasing Plan (dated: 2/12/24) 

  

 

137



 

 Page 21  
  

 

 

138



 

 Page 22  
  

 

  

139



 

 Page 23  
  

  

C. Landscape Plan (dated: 12/12/2023) 

 

 
 

140



 

 Page 24  
  

 

 

141



 

 Page 25  
  

 

 

142



 

 Page 26  
  

 

 

 

 

  

143



 

 Page 27  
  

D. Qualified Open Space Exhibit (dated: 12/10/2023) 

 
  

144



 

 Page 28  
  

E. Conceptual Building Elevations 

 

    

 
 

 
 

    

 

 
     

  

145



 

 Page 29  
  

F. Common Driveway Exhibit  

 

146



 

 Page 30  
  

G. Product Type Exhibit Map 

  
  

147



 

 Page 31  
  

IX. CITY/AGENCY COMMENTS & CONDITIONS  

A. PLANNING DIVISION 

1. A Development Agreement (DA) is required as a provision of annexation of this property. Prior to 
approval of the annexation ordinance, a DA shall be entered into between the City of Meridian, the 
property owner(s) at the time of annexation ordinance adoption, and the developer.   

Currently, a fee of $303.00 shall be paid by the Applicant to the Planning Division prior to 
commencement of the DA. The DA shall be signed by the property owner and returned to the 
Planning Division within six (6) months of the date of City Council approval of the Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law and Decision & Order for the annexation request. A final plat application will 
not be accepted until the property is annexed (i.e. the ordinance and development agreement are 
recorded). The DA shall, at minimum, incorporate the following provisions IF City Council 
determines annexation is in the best interest of the City:  

a. Future development of this site shall generally comply with the development plans submitted 
with this application, included in Section VIII, and the provisions contained herein. 

b. A 10-foot wide detached sidewalk/multi-use pathway shall be provided within the required street 
buffers along all collector and arterial streets within and adjacent to the site (i.e. S. Eagle Rd., E. 
Vantage Pointe and St L). 

c. The rear and/or sides of homes on lots that face collector (E. Vantage Pointe & St L) and arterial 
(S. Eagle Rd.) streets shall incorporate articulation through changes in two or more of the 
following: modulation (e.g. projections, recesses, step-backs, pop-outs), bays, banding, porches, 
balconies, material types, or other integrated architectural elements to break up monotonous wall 
planes and roof lines that are visible from the subject public streets. 

2. The final plat shall include the following revisions: 

 a. Depict a minimum 20-foot wide street buffer in a dedicated buffer easement on lots adjacent to 
E. Vantage Pointe and St L, collector streets, labeled accordingly.  

 b.  Depict the future curb location as anticipated by ACHD along S. Eagle Rd.; and a minimum 25-
foot wide street buffer, measured from the ultimate curb location. 

 c. Depict 10-foot wide detached sidewalks/multi-use pathways within the required street buffers 
along all collector and arterial streets within and adjacent to the site (i.e. S. Eagle Rd., E. 
Vantage Pointe and St L). 

 d. Depict zero (0) setbacks on lot lines where townhomes are proposed to span across where no 
easements will exist.  

 e. Graphically depict and label the 30-foot wide easement for the Farr Lateral, measured from the 
centerline of the lateral, located on Lot 17, Block 2. 

 f. Perpetual ingress/egress shall be required either by a recorded easement or as a note on a 
recorded final plat. The easement or plat note shall include a requirement for maintenance of a 
paved surface capable of supporting fire vehicles and equipment as set forth in UDC 11-6C-
3D.8. 

 g. Depict 10-foot wide detached sidewalks/pathways along all collector and arterial streets within 
and adjacent to the site (i.e. S. Eagle Rd., E. Vantage Pointe and St L). Parkways shall comply 
with the standards listed in UDC 11-3A-17E. 

 h. Graphically depict the 75-foot wide easement for the Williams Pipeline. 

148

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-17SIPA


 

 Page 32  
  

 i. Depict a 10-foot wide sidewalk along one side of Taps to between the Williams pipeline 
pathway and the Farr Lateral pathway. 

3. The landscape plan submitted with the final plat shall include the following revisions: 

a.  Depict a minimum 20-foot wide street buffer in a dedicated buffer easement on lots adjacent to 
E. Vantage Pointe and St L, collector streets, labeled accordingly. 

b.  Depict the future curb location as anticipated by ACHD along S. Eagle Rd.; depict a minimum 
25-foot wide street buffer, measured from the ultimate curb location.  

c. Depict landscaping with a mix of materials within the street buffers along S. Eagle Rd., E. 
Vantage Pointe and St L, in accord with the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-7C.3; include 
calculations that demonstrate compliance. 

d. Include mitigation information for all existing trees being removed from the site in accord with 
the standards listed in UDC 11-3B-10C.5. 

e. Depict 10-foot wide detached sidewalks/multi-use pathways within the required street buffers 
along all collector and arterial streets within and adjacent to the site (i.e. S. Eagle Rd., E. 
Vantage Pointe and St L). 

f. Depict landscaping with a mix of materials along each side of all pathways, in accord with the 
standards listed in UDC 11-3B-12C. Note: Alternative compliance may be requested for the 
trees along the pathway in the Williams pipeline easement as set forth in UDC 11-5B-5. 

g. Change the fencing type along the northern boundary on the western portion of the site adjacent 
to the common open space with a pathway in Vertex Subdivision to 5-foot tall wrought iron 
fencing in accord with UDC 11-3A-7A.7b. 

h. Extend the 10-foot wide multi-use pathway to the south through Lot 1, Block 14 for future 
extension to the south. 

i. Extend the 10-foot wide multi-use pathway along the Farr Lateral in Lot 16, Block 2 (in the 
vicinity of Lot 6, Block 2) to the northwest to connect to the multi-use pathway in Vertex 
Subdivision to the north.  

j. Include a detail for the picnic areas on Lot 1, Block 16 that includes tables, benches, landscaping 
and a structure for shade to demonstrate compliance with UDC 11-3G-4C.5. 

k. Depict a 10-foot wide sidewalk along one side of Taps to between the Williams pipeline 
pathway and the Farr Lateral pathway. 

l. Depict fencing along Lot 51, Block 16 to distinguish common from private areas as set forth in 
UDC 11-3A-7A.7a. 

m. Depict a 5-foot wide landscape buffer planted with shrubs, lawn or other vegetative groundcover 
along the southwest side of the common driveway on Lot 51, Block 16 in accord with UDC 11-
6C-3D.5. 

n. Depict details for the picnic area, tot lot, bike repair station and fitness course amenities that 
demonstrate compliance with the standards for such listed in UDC 11-3G-4C, D, E and F. 

4. All irrigation ditches, laterals, sloughs or canals,  including the Farr Lateral, crossing this site shall 
be piped or otherwise covered as set forth in UDC 11-3A-6B.3, unless waived by City Council. The 
Applicant requests approval of a waiver from Council to leave the lateral open. 

5. All existing structures shall be removed from the site prior to submittal of the final plat for City 
Engineer signature.  

149

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-7LABUALST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-10TRPR
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTBLARE_11-3B-12PALA
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH5AD_ARTBSPPR_11-5B-5ALCO
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-4STSIAM
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-7FE
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-4STSIAM
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTASTREALDI_11-3A-6DILACADRCO


 

 Page 33  
  

6. Comply with the subdivision design and improvement standards listed in UDC 11-6C-3. 

7. Submit a 14-foot wide public pedestrian easement for the multi-use pathway within the Williams 
Pipeline easement and along the Farr Lateral, as required by the Park’s Dept. in Section IX.G below. 

8.  Comply with the Williams Developer’s Handbook for any development and/or improvements within 
the Williams pipeline easement.  

9. The open water pond on Lot 1, Block 16 shall have recirculated water and be maintained such that it 
does not become a mosquito breeding ground as set forth in UDC 11-3G-3B.6. 

10. Future development of Lots 52-54, Block 16 shall be consistent with the common driveway exhibit 
included in Section VIII.F and the standards listed in UDC 11-6C-3D. 

11. Modify the phasing plan to switch Phases 2 and 3. Future development shall comply with the 
modified phasing plan. 

12. An administrative design review application shall be submitted for the single-family attached and 
townhome structures to ensure compliance with the design standards listed in the Architectural 
Standards Manual. 

13. Future development shall substantially comply with the product type exhibit in Section VIII.G. 

14. Approval of a preliminary plat shall become null and void if the applicant fails to obtain the city 
engineer's signature on the final plat within two (2) years of the approval of the preliminary plat. 
Upon written request and filing by the applicant prior to the termination of the period, the director 
may authorize a single extension of time to obtain the city engineer's signature on the final plat not 
to exceed two (2) years. Additional time extensions up to two (2) years as determined and approved 
by the City Council may be granted. With all extensions, the director or City Council may require 
the preliminary plat, combined preliminary and final plat or short plat to comply with the current 
provisions of this title. 

 
B. PUBLIC WORKS 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330721&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

C. FIRE DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330723&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

D. DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY (DEQ) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331450&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr
=1     

E. ADA COUNTY DEVELOPMENT SERVICES (ACDS) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331625&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity        

F. IDAHO TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT (ITD) 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331878&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity     

G. PARK’S DEPARTMENT 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=333344&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

150

https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwj76YLshp2EAxWZADQIHVjDC4QQFnoECBAQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.williams.com%2Ffile-manager%2Fdevelopers-handbook-english%2F&usg=AOvVaw2ckrTdJhzVokjmAkz19ymM&opi=89978449
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH3REAPALDI_ARTGCOOPSPSIAMRE_11-3G-3STCOOPSP
https://library.municode.com/id/meridian/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT11UNDECO_CH6SURE_ARTCSUDEIMST_11-6C-3ST
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330721&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=330723&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331450&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331450&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity&cr=1
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331625&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=331878&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity
https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=333344&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 34  
  

H. BOISE PROJECT BOARD OF CONTROL 

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=333138&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity  

I. ADA COUNTY HIGHWAY DISTRICT (ACHD)  

Not yet received 

X. FINDINGS 

A. Annexation and/or Rezone (UDC 11-5B-3E) 

Required Findings: Upon recommendation from the commission, the council shall make a full 
investigation and shall, at the public hearing, review the application. In order to grant an annexation 
and/or rezone, the council shall make the following findings: 

1. The map amendment complies with the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan; 

Staff finds the Applicant’s request to annex the subject property with R-8 and R-15 zoning and develop 
with a mix of single-family attached, single-family detached and townhome dwellings on the site at the 
densities proposed is generally consistent with the Comprehensive Plan per the analysis in Section V.  

2. The map amendment complies with the regulations outlined for the proposed district, 
specifically the purpose statement; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment to the R-8 and R-15 zoning districts and development with 
a mix of housing types generally complies with the purpose statement of the residential districts in 
that it will contribute to the range of housing opportunities available in the City consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

3. The map amendment shall not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, and 
welfare; 

Staff finds the proposed map amendment should not be detrimental to the public health, safety and 
welfare as the proposed residential uses should be compatible with adjacent existing and future 
single-family residential homes/uses in the area. 

4. The map amendment shall not result in an adverse impact upon the delivery of services by any 
political subdivision providing public services within the city including, but not limited to, 
school districts; and 

Staff finds City services are available to be provided to this development. Comments were not 
received from WASD on this application.  

5. The annexation (as applicable) is in the best interest of city. 

Staff finds the proposed annexation is in the best interest of the city.  

151

https://weblink.meridiancity.org/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=333138&dbid=0&repo=MeridianCity


 

 Page 35  
  

B. Preliminary Plat (UDC 11-6B-6) 

In consideration of a preliminary plat, combined preliminary and final plat, or short plat, the decision-
making body shall make the following findings: (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, eff. 9-15-2005) 
1. The plat is in conformance with the comprehensive plan and is consistent with this unified 

development code; (Ord. 08-1372, 7-8-2008, eff. 7-8-2008) 

Staff finds the proposed plat is in conformance with the UDC and generally conforms with the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

2. Public services are available or can be made available and are adequate to accommodate the 
proposed development;   

Staff finds public services can be made available to the subject property and will be adequate to 
accommodate the proposed development. 

3. The plat is in conformance with scheduled public improvements in accord with the city's capital 
improvement program; 

Staff finds the proposed plat is in conformance with scheduled public improvements in accord with 
the City’s capital improvement program.  

4. There is public financial capability of supporting services for the proposed development; 

 Staff finds there is public financial capability of supporting services for the proposed development. 

5. The development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or general welfare; and 

  Staff finds the proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or general 
welfare. 

6. The development preserves significant natural, scenic or historic features. (Ord. 05-1170, 8-30-2005, 
eff. 9-15-2005) 

 Staff is unaware of any significant natural, scenic or historic features that need to be preserved 
with this development. 

  

152


	Top
	Item 1.	MIN PZ 2024-02-01
	Minutes

	Item 2.	FFCL H-2023-0068 WaFed
	Findings

	Item 3.	Commission Election
	Item 4.	PHPZ H-2023-0043 Blayden Subdivision
	Item 5.	PHPZ H-2023-0063 Kilgore
	Staff Report

	Item 6.	PHPZ H-2023-0045 Farmstone Crossing Subdivision
	Staff Report

	Item 7.	PHPZ H-2023-0050 Reveille Ridge Subdivision
	Staff Report

	Item 8.	COMMISSION TRAINING
	Bottom



